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COMPANY PROFILE A BN

Listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited in March 2014, Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) is the
leading developer and operator of theme parks in China. With
nearly 20 years of experience in animal breeding and conservation,
marine theme park development and operation, the Group has
consistently ranked as one of the top ten theme park operators
worldwide for consecutive years. The Group’s theme parks provide
a one-stop sightseeing, entertainment, leisure, dining and shopping
experience to its customers through both the in-park offerings
and complementary services offered by the ancillary commercial
properties adjacent to the theme parks. China’s theme park industry
possesses enormous growth potential, and the theme parks of the
Group has had over 110 million visitors since 2002. The Group
currently operates eight theme parks located in Dalian, Qingdao,
Tianjin, Yantai, Wuhan, Chengdu and Chongqging respectively,
including six ocean theme parks, one adventure theme park,
and one water world. Meanwhile, three major projects are under
construction in Shanghai, Sanya and Zhengzhou respectively. In
addition, the Group actively transferred its core competitive edges
into market productivity and expanded its innovative businesses
in the marine culture industry, such as the management service
business and cultural IP business, with great efforts after listing.
These businesses are set to become the new driving force for the
sustainable development of the Group in the future.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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HEAD OFFICE IN THE PRC
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REGISTERED OFFICE
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CAYMAN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093, Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman, KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22

Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKS

The Export-Import Bank of China, Liaoning Branch
China Construction Bank Corporation,

Dalian Zhongshan District Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Dalian Economic and Technological Development Zone Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Qingdao South 4th Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Wuhan East Lake District Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Chengdu Hi-tech Industrial Development Zone Branch
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,

Tianjin Economic Development Zone Branch
Bank of Dalian, First Central Branch
China Merchants Bank, Dalian Branch
China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited
BNP Paribas, Hong Kong Branch

STOCK CODE
2255

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.haichangoceanpark.com
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Revenue from Park Operations
(RMB Million)
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1,617.2

1,420.1 7y a

2016 2017
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operations (RMB Million)
PEFMFRBRA (ARBEET)

5%y 4345

359.6 0

' 9

2016 2017

Ticket Revenue (RMB Million)
MEWA (AR¥EET)

1,182.7

1,069.5 wﬁ“’» ‘

'3

2016 2017

Net Profit (RMB Million)
FAE (AR¥BEER)

=

. 291.5 .
n¥y
2179 - (2/@
pﬁf |

RV

2016 2017




20176 EHE BEBFARERERAF

B #5HZE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t—-HLEE

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000
“EBE-—=F ZE-NmNF ZT—RF T—XRF ZEB-—+tF
ANREFir AREFT AREFT AREFT AREFT
ey Results
WA Revenue 1,378,297 1,531,386 1,416,827 1,649,710 1,680,221
E=t 1] Gross profit 589,305 673,617 786,465 901,385 909,661
R A R Profit before tax 217,194 375,368 463,032 418,428 407,159
FriEmEx Income tax expenses (89,094) (163,893) (213,056) (200,501) (115,616)
FABRFIEFER  Profit after tax for the year 128,100 211,475 249,976 217,927 291,543
BEBR Attributable to:
BARIHEEA Owner of the parent 108,393 191,984 230,622 200,972 279,792
IR Non-controlling interests 19,707 19,491 19,354 16,955 11,751
EERERE Assets and liabilities
FERHEE Non-current assets 4,842,934 5,091,280 6,432,017 6,951,212 9,724,109
TEEE Current assets 3,350,623 3,342,737 1,919,207 2,247,910 2,407,732
REARE Current liabilities 3,139,934 2,271,818 1,710,789 2,271,096 3,670,148
ErRBaRE Non-current liabilities 3,391,655 2,434,197 2,645,254 2,709,192 4,038,759
R AER Shareholders’ equity 1,661,968 3,728,002 3,995,181 4,218,834 4,422,934







Dalian Haichang Discoveryland Theme Park 7.

AEBERRTALTENE

Dalian Laohutan Ocean Park

REZRABFAE

Yantai Haichang Whale Shark Aquarium
BEEBEMALE

Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park
ERBEEMMBEAR

Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park
RBEEMMEFNE

Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park

REBEBHBFAR

Wuhan Haichang Polar Ocean Park
BEEBEMMBFAR

Chongqging Haichang Caribbean Water Park
EEBEENHLEKER

Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park (under construction)

EeBg8BFL R (BRP)

. Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town (under construction)

=DRESBFEARE (BRP)

. Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park (under construction)

BNBEBFLAE (BRP)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT £E®RE

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”)
of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (“Haichang
Ocean Park” or the “Company”), | am pleased to
present the 2017 annual report of the Company.

In the 19th CPC National Congress Report, satisfying people’s ever-
growing needs for a better life has risen to the national strategic
level. Nowadays, spiritual and cultural consumption mainly in
the form of tourism and entertainment is gradually becoming
significant indicators of citizen’s pursuit of a better life. In 2017,
the consumption demand from tourism continued to increase and
market capacity continued to expand. The cultural and tourism
industry ushered in an unprecedented development opportunity.

During the period, the Group continued to forge ahead with
innovations and achieved breakthroughs in main business income,
management output and cultural IP landing. The total revenue
reached a new high, and exceeded its annual performance targets.
In 2017, pursuant to the established development strategy, the
Group continued to optimize and upgrade the existing projects
and expedite the research and development and implementation
of new entertainment products and new projects with the marine
culture theme.

During the period, revenue generated from the Group’'s park
operations segment increased by approximately 13.2% from
approximately RMB1,429.1 million for the year ended 31 December
2016 to approximately RMB1,617.2 million for the year ended 31
December 2017, park operations revenue structure continues to
optimize. Revenue generated from non-ticket business increased
by approximately 20.8% from approximately RMB359.6 million
in 2016 to approximately RMB434.5 million in 2017. During the
period, profit of the Group for the year increased by approximately
33.8% from approximately RMB217.9 million in 2016 to
approximately RMB291.5 million in 2017. During the same period,
profit attributable to equity holders of the parent increased by
approximately 39.2% from approximately RMB201.0 million in 2016
to approximately RMB279.8 million in 2017.
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During the year, the Group actively developed and upgraded a
number of interactive high-tech derivative entertainment projects
and organized various types of product strategy conferences
and partner conferences. The Group vigorously developed self-
owned brand building based on comprehensive integration of
OTA resources, and signed strategic cooperation with well-
known e-commerce platforms such as Meituan.com, JD.com and
Mafengwo.cn to effectively enhance the quality and attractiveness
of the theme park products, so as to help develop local projects into
regional tourism and leisure destination.

The innovative business of ocean culture has gradually become
the new profit growth point and business growth engine of the
Group. As of 31 December 2017, the Group successfully managed
29 export projects across the country, with a cumulative contract
value of RMB330 million. All the management service projects
under implementation were operating in good cooperation and
received high recognition from the market. In respect of the cultural
IP business, the Group formulated “Haichang's self-developed IP
medium and long term 369 development strategic plan”. Through
three years of market development, six years of rapid expansion and
nine years of enhanced development, we have gradually established
the Haichang Ocean Culture IP System from “incubation-product-
promotion-authorization”.

In 2017, preparations for the overall construction and operation
of the new projects had been advancing in an orderly manner. The
Group's Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park Project will be opened in
August this year. At the same time, Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town,
which is listed as a key project in the Hainan Province, is also in
progress and is scheduled to open in the fourth quarter. In addition,
the Group successfully obtained land use rights of Zhengzhou
Haichang Ocean Park in June 2017, laying out National Center
City in Central Plains Central Plains and improving the nationwide
network layout.
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Looking forward to 2018, the Group will actively implement the
established strategic development goals. In respect of the existing
projects, the Company will continue to promote the upgrade of the
existing projects in accordance with the goal of “creating regional
tourism destinations”. The Group will further consolidate the core
competitiveness of biological conservation, optimize its management
system, and expand its talent pool. We will comprehensively improve
the quality of operations and services, ensure the achievement of
annual operating indicators and promote brand upgrading. The
Group will also accelerate the development of commercial sites in
Wuhan, Chongging and Tianjin, and accelerate the realization of
existing assets to increase cash flow.

With respect to the marine culture innovation business, the Group
will strengthen the cooperation with relevant strategic partners and
optimize the cooperation model so as to achieve high-quality IP and
promote mutual benefits. We will also actively carry out innovative
urban entertainment and leisure activities — the layout of the Mozoo
Park products in the national commercial complex, and accelerate
the development of ocean theme cultural tourism business in the
third and fourth-tier cities and promote the implementation of
comprehensive cultural and tourism project of a new generation
of urban life. At the same time, we will actively implement the
national “One Belt and One Road” initiative and actively explore
business cooperation. We will strengthen the construction of
management service provider or exporter teams, improve relevant
qualifications and service quality to build the first brand of China’s
marine cultural industry management service provider or exporter.
Meanwhile, the Group will implement Haichang’s self-developed IP
medium and long term 369 development strategic plan and improve
the development of IP series products with Seven Guardians as the
core. We will use Shanghai Project as a platform to accelerate the
utilization and promotion of self-developed IP. In terms of projects
under construction, we will ensure that the Shanghai Project and
Sanya Project will successfully commence operations, ensure a
high standard of operation, outperform their goals and establish a
national brand reputation.

At the same time, the Group will also initiate the preparations for
the next phase of the “Five-year Strategic Development Plan” in the
second half of the year in order to achieve a higher vision.
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APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend our sincere gratitude
to the management and all the staff for their strenuous efforts,
and to express our appreciation to the shareholders and business
partners of the Company for their support and trust. The Group will
continue to build on our success and reward our shareholders with
even greater results in the coming year.

Qu Naijie
Chairman

26 March 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS BBz ia R o

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

In 2017, China’s GDP increased by 6.9% year-on-year, and the
growth rate increased by 0.2 percentage point. In particular, the
tourism industry, as an important component of the national
economy, still maintained steady growth. The comprehensive
contribution of tourism to the national economy reached 11.04%.

The steady rise of China‘s economy provided a sound foundation for
the development of the tourism industry, with number of tourists
hitting a new high. In 2017, the number of tourists reached 5
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 12.8% and the
travel volume per-capita reached 3.7 times, whilst domestic tourism
continues to show strong vitality. According to the estimation of
the China National Tourism Administration Information Center, by
2020, the total scale of China’s tourism market would reach 6.7
billion. It could be foreseen that in the medium and long term,
the tourism market of our country would continue to maintain the
growth momentum and the future development of the industry
would further accelerate.

As China’s disposable income per capita has been steadily rising,
the consumption power of Chinese population has increased.
Meanwhile, it has also led to a shift in the consumption structure
of citizens and a greater emphasis on the pursuit of spiritual life.
In the 19th CPC National Congress Report, satisfying people’s ever-
growing needs for a better life has risen to the national strategic
level. Nowadays, spiritual and cultural consumption mainly in
the form of tourism and entertainment is gradually becoming
significant indicators of citizen’s pursuit of a better life. To meet
such demand, “Tourism +" business, such as domestic holiday tours,
leisure trips and family tours, have been integrated in the market
in recent years, whilst new indoor entertainment products, cross-
border innovation businesses, family resort hotels and interactive
technology experiences have become the new favors. Supported by
the increase of household income, the normalization of family trips,
the growth of “second child” families and other factors, family tours
have become the major driving force for the growth of consumption
in the tourism industry and accounted for more than 60% of the
market share, with an average annual growth rate of more than
60%, and driven up the demand for the subdivided products such as
family entertainment centers, parent-child themed restaurants and
the parent-child holiday hotels. Driven by the favorable stimulation
of the economic environment, improvement of transport facilities
and technological progress, the respective tourism industry will
usher in the prime period of the development driven by the large-
scale family tour market.
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As the primary choice of family tour, theme parks have developed
rapidly in our country in recent years. According to the “Report on
the Development of China Theme Park 2017"” issued by the AECOM
of the United States, the overall number of visitors to the theme
parks in China would reach 221 million by 2020, and would exceed
that of the United States and China would become the world’s
largest theme park market. Under the context of the increasingly
fierce competition in the industry, the development of theme parks
also showcases new trends such as the increase in consumption,
expansion of light assets, integration of new VR technology, and
IP implantation. The integration of distinctive IP products and park
resources, and the creation and perfection of the diversified theme
types and entertainment products have become the mainstream
for theme parks in a bid to avoid homogeneous competition and
improve core competitiveness. Meanwhile, theme parks have also
begun to focus more on business development, improving the theme
culture industry chain and increasing in-park spending revenue ratio
apart from the ticket sales. As the most distinctive segment of the
theme park industry and with its marine culture theme and marine
animals features, marine theme parks have a diversified product
mix and wide coverage of consumer groups, making them one of
the most popular destinations for family tours and outskirts tours.

BUSINESS REVIEW

In 2017, the consumption demand from tourism continued to
increase and market capacity continued to expand. The industry
ushered in an unprecedented development opportunity. The
Group continued to forge ahead with innovations and achieved
breakthroughs in main business income, management output, and
cultural IP landing. The total revenue reached a new high, and
exceeded its annual performance targets. During the period under
review, the Group had primarily undertaken the following aspects
of work:

In 2017, the Group continued to increase its brand influence. Nearly
200 thematic events and more than 30 brand events were organized
throughout the year, gaining over 3 billion brand exposures. We
participated in 20 domestic and international professional exhibition
summits and won 55 honors and awards. We are the only executive
member of the travel industry of advertisers committee of the China
Advertising Association, and the leading position of our brand in
the industry was further highlighted. The Group collaborated with
the “Running Man China (ZE#0E172.28)" team and “Where Are We
Going, Dad? Season V (B& XMW ZE R ZF)" and cooperated with
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CCTV in “Big hands with small hands (KXFZ/)\F)"” and “Love Story
of Beluga”, taking the opportunity of participating in the “2017
Summer Davos Forum” to spread and increase brand influence.
The “2017 Haichang Little Explorer” large-scale charity pop-science
themed brand activity was carried out, and was reported by “News
Simulcast GFTEBEHE)” of CCTV.

The Group actively fulfilled its corporate social responsibility and
organized more than 10 social welfare activities throughout the
year. Among them, the social influence of “Autistic Children Month”
continued to increase, and the Haichang Ocean Park Autistic
Children Care Base was established during the period. Being the
National Aquatic Wildlife Animal Breeding and Popular Science
Education Base, the Group also had extensive cooperation with
the Institute of Hydrobiology, Chinese Academy of Sciences, the
National Laboratory for Marine, the Chinese Academy of Fishery
Sciences, the National Aquatic Wildlife Conservation Association,
and the Freshwater Fisheries Research Center of China Academy
of Fishery Sciences, etc., to implement the duties of ecological
protection and polar ocean science education, and to organize
the appraisal activity of “Haichang Award” regarding aquatic wild
animal protection nationwide to encourage the society to protect
aquatic wild animals. In the past five years, a total of 200 people
were awarded the “Haichang Technology Award” and “Haichang
Dedication Award”, etc.. The Group had been awarded the title
of “Aviculture Wildlife Protection Charity Public Welfare Enterprise
Award” by the Ministry of Agriculture for 5 consecutive years.
The Group has continued to focus on the protection of marine
life. We have carried out a series of activities with the Ministry
of Agriculture, the Chinese Academy of Fishery Sciences and the
Wildlife Conservation Association aimed at conserving of finless
porpoises which are in jeopardy of extinction.
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The Group continued to enhance its core competitiveness related to
animal conservation. During the year, the Group successfully bred 9
species, approximately 100 large marine and polar animals, making
the total animals conserved amounting to nearly 63,000, and also
blazed the first successful case in China to breed a grey seal through
artificial rearing. The Group continued to strengthen its technological
advantages and successfully developed a remote monitoring system
for biological environments to safeguard animal health. The Group’s
independently researched and developed nutritional compound
health products for rare polar marine life were put into use,
and the marketization application is launched to comprehensively
improve the nutritional benefits of feeding animals. The Group has
strengthened its knowledgeable workforce and now equipped with
a team of nearly 1,000 professionals for animals. During the period,
we published the only supplementary guidance series in the country
which is suitable for full-time university teaching and achieved
breakthroughs in teaching in the professional field. We continued
to promote school-industry joint education to cultivate professional
marine and biological technology personnel for the society. The
first batch of undergraduate graduates have already started their
career. During the period, we successfully organized domestic and
international technical exchanges and training events such as the
World Jellyfish Conference and the Aquarium Academic Annual
Conference with nearly 2,000 participants from the same industry
both domestic and abroad. The Group also carried out a number
of research collaborations with the Chinese Academy of Sciences,
the National Laboratory for Marine, and the China Academy of
Fishery Sciences and other scientific research institutions, such as
the research on bionics of polar marine animals, genetic engineering
and breeding genetics.

Upgrade and Enhancement of Existing Projects,
and Development of Regional Tourism Destination

Pursuant to the established development strategy, in 2017, the
Group continued to optimize and upgrade the existing projects and
expedite the research and development and implementation of new
entertainment products and new projects with the marine culture
theme. During the year, the Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park
("Tianjin Project”), Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park (“Qingdao
Project”), Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park (“Chengdu Project”),
Dalian Haichang Discovery Land Theme Park (“Discover Land”)
and Wuhan Haichang Polar Ocean Park (“Wuhan Project”) were
upgraded. The new product series include the jellyfish pavilion and
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family entertainment center. Among them, Haichang Interactive
Technology’s multimedia innovation technology application, the
“Jellyfish Fantasy” in jellyfish museum, has been further upgraded
and successfully introduced in the Tianjin Project, Chengdu Project
and Wuhan Project. A number of interactive high-tech derivative
entertainment projects were also added to the existing projects
to effectively enhance the quality and attractiveness of the theme
park products. In terms of performance management, we actively
researched and developed new storyline scenarios, and enhanced
the overall quality of stage elements in costumes, props, lighting
effects, etc., which achieved remarkable results and enhanced
visitors’ visual satisfaction. In terms of operational services, the
operation strategy plan was sorted out and implemented, and
the operation was stable. In terms of marketing, various types
of product strategy conferences and partner conferences were
organized to strengthen channel cooperation ties and to expand
our industry influence. The Group conformed to tourist’s online
shopping preference, vigorously developed self-operated platform
based on comprehensive integration of OTA resources, signed
strategic cooperation with well-known e-commerce platforms
such as Meituan.com, JD.com and Mafengwo.cn, and developed
customized products and upgraded online marketing capabilities.
During the “Double-Eleventh” period, large-scale promotion
activities were launched on the mainstream e-commerce platforms,
achieving the in the sales of annual cards in the industry, ranked
first in the store conversion rate, top three in terms of number of
buyers paid, and the top three in the industry for comprehensive
trading. In addition, the Group innovated and upgraded the parks’
derivative consumer products. During the period, we developed 110
proprietary IP themed products, introduced 3 premium specialty
store franchises, developed 220 new food and beverage products,
and set up a jellyfish theme restaurant. In respect of ancillary
commercial property, the Group consolidated the complementary
functions between different business segments, and successfully
introduced multicommercial activities during the period, such
as hot spring, comprehensively meeting the needs of tourists in
respect of “dining, lodging, transportation, travel, purchase and
entertainment”, so as to help develop local projects into regional

tourism and leisure destination.
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Accelerated development of marine cultural
innovation business, to assist the Group to
become the top brand of marine cultural industry
management service provider or exporter in China

In 2017, the innovative business of ocean culture has gradually
become the new profit growth point and business growth engine of
the Group. The management service of the Group has experienced
more than three years of exploration and development. Our
management service has established a good reputation in the
industry, and the business scale and service categories continued to
expand. As of 31 December, 2017, the Group successfully managed
29 export projects across the country, with a cumulative contract
value of RMB330 million. All the management service projects under
implementation were operating in good cooperation and received
high recognition from the market. During the period, the Group
further developed and actively expanded its business types and
gradually formed a “3+" full-coverage model, which was based on
in-depth exploration of the types of services for “large, medium and
small micro-tourism projects/products”. The Group also continued
to actively develop “Brand Authorization” and other multi-product
stacking service categories, and built multiple service channels,
covering the entire chain of project design service package, pre-
preparatory consultation, post-operation management and other
full-chain service models. The Group’s management service team
continued to penetrate the theme park market, optimize the
cooperation model, enrich team building to improve service quality,
and improve related qualifications to achieve integrated business
process protection. In respect of the cultural IP business, the Group
formulated “Haichang'’s self-developed IP medium and long term
369 development strategic plan”. Through three years of market
development, six years of rapid expansion, and nine years of
enhanced development, we have gradually established the Haichang
Ocean Culture IP System from “incubation-product-promotion-
authorization”. During the period, the establishment of the IP
product development system, world view, and story framework with
the core of the “Seven Guardians (-=B5[&)" was clearly defined, and
the characters of the Haichang IP Seven Guardians and its visual
system settings were completed. In terms of products, the Group
had initiated the development of excellent products, picture books,
animations, stage plays and other projects, and had also vigorously
promoted the use of IP in various areas of the parks, and had
attempted to carry out the Seven Guardians mission packaging at
the brand event of the Chengdu Ice and Snow Festival with good
response. We also planned for the launch of the Seven Guardians
Boutique Store in the Shanghai Project and the landmark sculpture
of Seven Guardians in the Wuhan Project in 2018. The Group had
already started to register related trademark and patent intellectual
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property, and also cooperated with well-known brands in the
IP industry, and made initial achievements, which also provided
effective support for the brand management and export business
cooperation.

Upcoming new projects to improve the nationwide
strategic layout

During the period, preparations for the overall construction and
operation of the new projects had been advancing in an orderly
manner. The Group’s Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park (“Shanghai
Project”) had entered the construction phase. In a bid to welcome
the opening of the project, the headquarters of the Group was
officially relocated to Shanghai. The project’s core management
team is already in place and trained by a team of international
professionals. In a bid to welcome the opening of the Shanghai
Project, a series of marketing activities were held, such as the
global launch, the naming of the park, and the release of the
logo of the park. The Group also received strong support from the
government, including transportation guides, car parking facilities
and special funds for the development of cultural and creative
industries. At the same time, the Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town
(“Sanya Project”), which is listed as a key project in the Hainan
Province, is also in progress. The project is a domestic immersive
marine recreation complex built with the theme of “maritime silk
road”, which integrates cultural tourism, leisure and vacation,
entertainment experience and innovative business. The project
features the first domestic zero-distance human-shark interaction,
ocean central theater show, water cruise, silk road themed flying
theater, ferris wheel, dolphin bay, whale shark museum, more
than 20 family-child themed entertainment projects, submarine
restaurants and diversified thematic cuisine. The structural works
of the Sanya Project have been fully completed. The exhibition
center of the Sanya Project was officially opened to the public.
The operation preparatory team is fully established to identify
operational strategies, promote marketing and other tasks in various
aspects such as catering, entertainment, leisure, and innovation.
In addition, the Group successfully obtained the right to use
the land of the Zhengzhou Haichang Ocean Park (“Zhengzhou
Project”) in June 2017, laying out the Central Plains and improving
the nationwide network layout. Located in Zhengzhou Zhongmu
County International Cultural and Creative Industry Park, Zhengzhou
Project is a regional national center city. It encompasses two
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major ocean and polar regions and integrates innovative and
interactive technological elements. It is positioned as the sole
flagship marine theme park and resort, and the Central Plains
city group international marine cultural tourism destination in the
Central Plains region. During the period, we have completed the
overall planning of the Zhengzhou Project and the design of all the
main stadiums and entered the detailed design stage.

Business Outlook

Looking ahead, the Group will actively implement the established
strategic development goals. In respect of the existing projects,
the Company will continue to promote the upgrade of the
existing projects in accordance with the goal of “creating regional
tourism destinations”. The Group will further consolidate the core
competitiveness of biological conservation, optimize its management
system, and expand its talent pool. We will comprehensively improve
the quality of operations and services, ensure the achievement of
annual operating indicators and promote brand upgrading. The
Group will also accelerate the development of commercial sites
in Wuhan, Chongging and Tianjin, and accelerate the realization
of existing assets to increase cash flow. With respect to the
marine culture innovation business, the Group will strengthen
the cooperation with relevant strategic partners and optimize the
cooperation model so as to achieve high-quality IP and promote
mutual benefits. We will also actively carry out innovative urban
entertainment and leisure activities — the layout of the Mozoo
Park products in the national commercial complex, and accelerate
the development of ocean theme cultural tourism business in the
third and fourth-tier cities and promote the implementation of
comprehensive cultural and tourism project of a new generation of
urban life. At the same time, we will actively implement the national
“One Belt and One Road” initiative and actively explore business
cooperation. We will strengthen the construction of management
service provider or exporter teams, improve relevant qualifications
and service quality to build the first brand of China’s marine cultural
industry management service provider or exporter. The Group will
implement Haichang's self-developed IP medium and long term 369
development strategic plan and improve the development of IP series
products with Seven Guardians as the core. We will use Shanghai
Project as a platform to accelerate the utilization and promotion of
self-developed IP. In terms of projects under construction, we will
ensure that the Shanghai Project and Sanya Project will successfully
commence operations in 2018, ensure a high standard of operation,
outperform their goals and establish a national brand reputation.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue generated from the Group’s park operations segment
increased by approximately 13.2% from approximately RMB1,429.1
million in 2016 to approximately RMB1,617.2 million in 2017,
primarily due to the increase in revenue from park tickets sales and
non-ticket business as compared to 2016. Revenue generated from
ticket business increased by 10.6% from approximately RMB1,069.5
million in 2016 to RMB1,182.7 in 2017. Revenue generated
from non-ticket business increased by approximately 20.8%
from approximately RMB359.6 million in 2016 to approximately
RMB434.5 million in 2017.

Revenue generated from the Group’s property development segment
decreased by approximately 71.4% from approximately RMB220.6
million in 2016 to approximately RMB63.0 million in 2017.

In conclusion, for the year ended 31 December 2017, turnover
of the Group increased by approximately 1.8% to approximately
RMB1,680.2 million (2016: approximately RMB1,649.7 million).

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales increased by approximately 3.0%
from approximately RMB748.3 million in 2016 to approximately
RMB770.6 million in 2017.

Gross Profit

The Group's overall gross profit increased by approximately 0.9%
to approximately RMB909.7 million (2016: approximately RMB901.4
million) and overall gross profit margin declined to approximately
54.1% (2016: approximately 54.6%).

Segment gross profit of the Group's park operations segment
increased by approximately 10.0% to approximately RMB878.7
million (2016: approximately RMB798.9 million) and segment gross
margin of the Group's park operations segment decreased from
approximately 55.9% in 2016 to approximately 54.3% in 2017,
primarily due to the change in the revenue structure of the park
and the increase in non-ticket revenue ratio, which led to a slight
decrease in the gross profit margin of the park operations segment.
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Segment gross profit of the Group’s property development segment
decreased by approximately 69.8% to approximately RMB31.0
million (2016: approximately RMB102.5 million). Segment gross
margin of the Group’s property sales was approximately 49.2%
(2016: approximately 46.5%). The decrease in gross margin of this
segment was mainly due to the difference in the types of properties
sold.

Other Income and Gains

The Group's other income and gains increased by approximately
46.3% from approximately RMB111.3 million in 2016 to
approximately RMB162.8 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase
in investment revenue and related subsidies in 2017.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

The Group’s selling and marketing expenses increased by
approximately 19.0% from approximately RMB119.7 million in
2016 to approximately RMB142.4 million in 2017, which was in
line with the increase in park operations revenue. The selling and
marketing expenses represented approximately 8.5% of the total
revenue (2016: approximately 7.3%).

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
16.9% from approximately RMB314.1 million in 2016 to
approximately RMB367.0 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase
in administrative expenses as a result of the progress of projects
in Shanghai and Sanya. The administrative expenses represented
approximately 21.8% of the total revenue (2016: approximately
19.0%).

Finance Costs

The Group's finance costs increased by approximately 2.4%
from approximately RMB145.6 million in 2016 to approximately
RMB149.1 million in 2017, mainly due to the increase in the Group's
total bank loans as a result of the progress of projects in Shanghai
and Sanya. The finance costs represented approximately 8.9% of
the total revenue (2016: approximately 8.8%).
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Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses decreased by approximately 42.3%
from approximately RMB200.5 million in 2016 to approximately
RMB115.6 million in 2017, mainly due to a decrease in land value-
added tax as a result of the decline in property sales revenue and
the decrease in the Company’s accrued dividend tax rate from 10%
10 5%.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the profit of the Group for the year
increased by approximately 33.8% from approximately RMB217.9
million in 2016 to approximately RMB291.5 million in 2017, and
the net profit margin increased from approximately 13.2% in
2016 to approximately 17.4% in 2017. During the same period,
the profit attributable to equity holders of the parent increased by
approximately 39.2% from approximately RMB201.0 million in 2016
to approximately RMB279.8 million in 2017.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had current assets of
approximately RMB2,407.7 million (2016: approximately RMB2,247.9
million). The Group had cash and bank deposits of approximately
RMB1,305.1 million (2016: approximately RMB873.5 million) and its
pledged bank balances amounted to approximately RMB1.1 million
(2016: approximately RMB6.5 million).

Total equity of the Group as at 31 December 2017 was approximately
RMB4,422.9 million (2016: approximately RMB4,218.8 million). The
increase in total equity was mainly due to an increase in the profit
after tax in 2017. As at 31 December 2017, the total interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings of the Group were approximately
RMB4,732.4 million (2016: approximately RMB2,901.6 million).
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As at 31 December 2017, the Group had a net gearing ratio of
approximately 77.8% (as at 31 December 2016: approximately
47.8%). The net liabilities of the Group included interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, amounts due to related companies, less
cash and cash equivalents and amounts due from related companies.
The increase in net gearing ratio as of 31 December 2017 was
mainly due to the increase in principal amounts of loans as a result
of the smooth progress of projects in Shanghai and Sanya in 2017.

As indicated by the above figures, the Group has maintained stable
financial resources to execute its future commitments and future
investments for expansion. The Board believes that the existing
financial resources will be sufficient to execute future expansion
plans and, if necessary, the Group will obtain additional financing
with favourable terms.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares for the
year ended 31 December 2017.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
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AREFTT AREFIT
Guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers of the Group’s RAERDEERER
properties* RIBREEH B R 15,423 76,556

* The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group’s completed
properties held for sale. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantee
arrangements, in case of default on mortgage payments by the
purchasers, the Group is responsible for repaying the outstanding
mortgage loans together with any accrued interest and penalty owed
by the defaulted purchasers to banks. The Group is then entitled
to take over the legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s
guarantee period commences from the date of grant of the relevant
mortgage loan and ends after the execution of individual purchaser’s
collateral agreement.
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The Group did not incur any material losses during the year (2016:
nil) in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to the purchasers of the Group's completed properties held
for sale. The Directors consider that in case of default on payments,
the net realisable value of the related properties can cover the
repayment of the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty, and therefore no provision has been
made in connection with the guarantees.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE RISK

The Group mainly operates in China. Other than bank deposits
denominated in foreign currency, the Group is not exposed to
material foreign exchange rate risk. The Directors expect that any
fluctuation in the exchange rate of RMB will not have material
adverse effect on the operation of the Group.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had capital
commitments of approximately RMB1,205.4 million (2016:
RMB1,505.4 million), which shall be funded through a variety of
means, including cash generated from operations, bank financing
etc..

STAFF POLICY

The Group had approximately 2,990 full-time employees (2016:
2,758 full-time employees) as at 31 December 2017. The Group
offers a comprehensive and competitive remuneration, retirement
schemes and benefit package to its employees. Discretionary bonus
is offered to the Group’s staff depending on their performance.
The Group and its employees are required to make contribution
to a social insurance scheme. The Group and its employees are
required to make contribution to fund the endowment insurance
and unemployment insurance at the rates specified in the relevant
laws and regulations.

The Group set its emolument policy with regard to the prevailing
market conditions and individual performance and experience.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group issued the first Environmental, Social and Governance
(ESG) report in 2017. This is the second ESG report issued by the
Group, approved by the Board of Directors and included in the
Group’s annual report. This report covers the ESG performance of
the Group from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2017, and some
of the content exceeds the timeframe. This report abides by the
“Comply or Explain” and “Recommended Disclosures” provisions in
the ESG Reporting Guide of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Unless
otherwise specified, the financial data cited in this report has been
obtained from the audited Annual Report of Haichang Ocean Park
Holdings Ltd.. Other data obtains from the Group’s internal official
documents and related statistics.

1. RESPONSIBILITY MANAGEMENT

The Group is endeavoring to build the first marine culture
tourism and leisure brand in China. Upholding social
responsibility and mission, the Group has been creating
economic value, at the same time working hand-in-hand with
stakeholders to complement each other and mutually share
resources. Pursuant to which, the Group spares no efforts to
solve the social and environmental problems faced by tourism
and leisure, marine animal care, ecological protection in the

Yangtze River basin, and children with autism.

1.1 Stakeholders Communications

Communicating with stakeholders and responding to
their needs forms an important part of the Group’s
responsibility management. We have built a close
relationship with our stakeholders through establishing
effective communication mechanism, thus nurturing
a harmonious and trusted partnership. Furthermore,
we took the initiative to collect the stakeholders’
expectations and appeals, hence the feedback was taken
into consideration in the Company’s decision-making
and operations.
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Stakeholders

Expectations and
requirements

Communication and
response pattern

MEAHEES BB EER BEEEERX
Customers Quality services Hotline
Personal safety Website complaint
Smooth communication channel Customer feedback
Satisfaction survey
BP BE RS BRES
AFLZE DS
GRmEBRE FEEREE
MEERE

Shareholders and
investors

RERMKEE

Earnings return
Compliance operation
Information disclosure

Yo 25 O] ¥
BREE
EERE

Convening general shareholders’ meeting

Annual report

Group announcement

Special report

Strengthening compliance and
internal control system

BRRRERE

FEmME

EEAE

BEMER

L& RAMAEER

Government and
supervision
organizations

Paying taxes according to law

Driving the local economic development
Promoting employment

Safe operation

LM

WEE LR

fRERE

ZERES

Initiative tax payment

Periodic report issuing

Providing employment opportunities
Periodic checking recreation facilities
THRH

MRS

PR 3 R s

ha by i

BT 0 85
Staff
8T

Legal interests
Occupational health
Salary and welfare
Career development
Humanistic care
BEERS
BEREE
A
BEER
AXE

Employees’ representative conference
Periodic physical examination
Professional training

Organizing staff activity
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Expectations and
requirements

HEEER

Communication and
response pattern

BEEDELX

Suppliers

HIERE

Openness and fairness
Honesty and trustworthiness
Contract enforcement
NHARIE

NETE

A RIEL

Open tendering
Equal consultation
Periodic evaluation

NGEGLES
FEwE
£ HFHE

Industry

Industrial guidance
Improving industrial management level

1T% 3|4
RITTREENRF

Formulation of industrial standard
Participation in industrial forum
Investigation and exchange visits
HETITRIRE

ST RIE

ERE

Environment

B
it

Wildlife protection
Energy saving
Waste disposal
Green office

FEIYIRE
ENAKIBETR
BEEYRE
REMRR

Salvation of wildlife

Propaganda of animal protection
Replacing energy-saving lightings
Installation of energy-saving equipment
BN EF = B

EEPYIRE

FHREREE A

LRAERE

Community

o

Supporting community public welfare
Caring for special groups
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Volunteer activities for staff
Charity donation

Caring for autistic children
BIERERY
HERE
BEBRERE
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1.2 ERMZEEER

1.2 Materiality assessment

30

The Group has assessed the relevant ESG issues from
2017 via studying information disclosed on material
issues of domestic and foreign peers; referring to the
Group's development strategic plans; adopting analysis
and suggestions of corporate management level of the
Company and internal and external experts as well as
attending frontier industrial meetings.

In 2017, the Group conducted a debut anonymous
questionnaire survey, inviting 468 stakeholders, including
government, clients, partners, suppliers, communities,
media, regulatory authorities, the public and staff to
complete questionnaires so as to assess the materiality
to stakeholders of 15 ESG issues in four major respects,
namely environment, labor, operations, and community.
On the other hand, 23 senior executives of the Group
also completed a Senior Management Questionnaire
to determine whether the 15 ESG issues are crucial to
the Group; thus, a preliminary major issue matrix was
formed. With the basis of the aforesaid, the Group
referred to the information disclosed on ESG issues
of domestic and foreign peers comprehensively, made
adjustments to the preliminary major issue matrix to
formulate this year’s material issue matrix and material
issues, and targeted the management methods and
performance related to material issues in the ESG report.

In 2017, in accordance with the results of the materiality
assessment, we highlighted 7 material issues, including
safe operations, customer service, animal protection,
occupational health, staff care, anti-corruption, and
training and development, as key disclosures in the
Annual Report, in response to the needs of stakeholders
and major principles of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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Screening process over environmental, social and governance issues

R -HERERBEGENRE

Source of issues
8 KR

— Suggestions of corporate management level
-~ ARIERER®
— Analysis and suggestions of internal and external experts
— NIMBERDHITIEZ
— Multi-media information analysis
- ZHRBEEON
— ESG Reporting Guide of Hong Kong Stock Exchange
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— Study on Domestic and foreign peer benchmark
— BEASNR ZEHRTT 7T
— Frontier industrial meeting
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— Contribution to sustainable development
— YR HEERNER
— General concern of stakeholders
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— Emphasis of social responsibility guidelines
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- Conforming to the Company’s development strategy
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SUSTAINABLE OPERATIONS

Tourism plays increasingly important roles in national economy.
In the 12th Five-Year Plan, China proposed that the culture
industry should be included in the national strategies emerging
industries and suggested that the culture industry should
be promoted as a pillar industry of the national economy.
For the first time, China has recorded the national tourism
development plan in the special programs of the 13th Five-Year
Plan and set a target that the scale of tourism market is
expected to reach 6.7 billion persons and total tourism revenue
reached RMB 7 trillion by 2020. Under such context, the local
authorities in China have successively introduced policies to
promote the development of the culture industry. The theme
park industry, as an important part of the culture industry, has
also come to the prime period with speeding up development
and is moving swiftly towards prosperity.

In our opinion, the core competitiveness of China’s theme
parks will focus on content and quality innovation. We
spare no efforts to understand the needs of consumers with
different ages and applying technologies such as virtual reality,
augmented reality and holographic lights, so as to improve the
service quality and provide tourists with a better interactive
experience. We will continue to develop skills in managing
animals, tourist safety, supply chain and other aspects, increase
industry exchanges, and promote industry development. We
look forward to working with all parties in the industry to build
a Chinese dream of ocean culture, and to convey dreams, love
and joy to millions of families with both adults and children.

Major honors

o The Group won the honorary title of “Caring and
Charitable Enterprise”

J The Group won the prize of “Best Strategic Partner” of
China Travel Reputation List

o The Group obtained the "IAl Travel Awards” — ROI
Awards and Content Marketing Awards
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The Group obtained the “China Amusement Industry
Ferris Award” — Outstanding Contribution Award for 30
Years of Development of China Amusement Industry

The Group ranked as one of the “Top 20 Chinese Tourism
Groups 2017"

The Group obtained the “Most Popular Theme Park
2017" at the Jinlv Conference 2017

The Group obtained the “Most Popular Ocean Theme
Park Award” issued by Shanghai World Travel Fair

The Group obtained the “Outstanding Ocean Theme
Park Leader Award” at the Theme Park and Attractions
Summit

The Group has obtained the “Caring and Charitable
Enterprise Award” issued by the National Aquatic
Wildlife Conservation Association under the Ministry of
Agriculture of China for 5 consecutive years

The Group obtained the “Highest Investment Potential
Listed Companies” award and the “Most Valuable Listed
Companies” award issued at the 7th China Securities
Golden Bauhinia Awards

The Group obtained the “China Advertising Great-wall
Awards 2017 - Advertiser Award”, Annual Brand
Building Case Award, Annual Creative Advertiser Award,
“’China Moutai’ Public Service Advertisement Grand
Prix 2017 — Excellence Award” and “China Advertising
Great-wall Awards 2017 - Excellence Award” at the
China International Advertising Festival
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2.1 BEHYERE

2.1 Strengthen animal management

34

The Group aims to advocate friendly and harmonious
relations with nature, support animal-related
environmental protection initiatives and implement
practical animal-friendly principles. In 2017, we continued
to standardize the management of animal introduction,
transfer, input and output so as to ensure all aspects
for animals undergone were legal and compliant. We
will continue to care for animals in terms of their living
environment, feeding and health care to improve animal
welfare. We firmly focus on animal conservation and
research, and try to inject new life into the Group.

Standardize animal management

Animals are precious assets to the Group. The Animal
Management Standards established by the Group include
feeding standards, feeding environment standards,
facility requirements, nutrition standards, animal health
standards, feeding operation procedures, disinfection
and epidemic prevention management standards, import
and export wildlife inspection and quarantine procedures
and other aspects, which is a comprehensive guide to
the animal management.

The Group has been planning, designing, constructing
and operating various projects in accordance with the
high standards of the international and national tourism
industry, and scientifically managing its subsidiaries.
In terms of standardization, Dalian Laohutan Pole
Aquarium, Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park and
Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park passed the ISO9000
Quality Management System Certification in 2004, 2008
and 2013, respectively.
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The BERMS (Biological Environment Remote Monitoring
System) pilot program was launched on mobile and PC
terminals in mid-January 2017 for the informationalized
management of marine animals. The BERMS takes 7
key environmental indicators in the biological feeding
area as the test target, and has realized 24-hour
multi-dimensional remote monitoring and abnormal
indicator alarm within 1 second. It also conducts analysis
and testings via using several other simulated inventory
item indicators, so as to support the monitoring and
analysis of biological feeding area conditions. Meanwhile,
it reserves the interface for the remote automatic control
of the life support system, allowing remote switching
operation by starting up the major equipment when it
is necessary to improve the innovative and technological
content of biological environment management.

In 2017, the Group is committed to supervising and
coordinating branches of the Group to ensure the
safety of animals. We conducted comprehensive
health assessment of animals before major holidays
and high-temperature periods and supervised the
timely rectification of various safety hazards to ensure
animal health and safety. We have established and
implemented the regulations on foreign cooperation
projects concerning biological resources, and further
improved the biological safety management in the
process of foreign cooperation. Besides, we have carried
out comprehensive improvement of animal health and
display image, as well as formulated and issued the
Management Measures of Public Sentiment of Animals
to avoid unpleasant sentimental events.
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Animal care

As a leader with overall capabilities of feeding, welfare
and veterinary care for marine and polar animals in
China, the Group attaches great importance to the
welfare of animals under artificial feeding conditions.
It cares for animals by offering appropriate feeding
environment, population size and gender ratio, and
reasonable nutrition combinations, which can maximize
the animals’ happiness index and improve their physical
and mental health.

The Group has reconstructed the feeding environment
to improve overall living conditions of animals and
provide them with sufficient feeding space. We monitor
the indicators (such as water temperature, room
temperature and water quality) of the living environment
of the animals in real time. We have configured a
quality life support system to simulate the natural
living environment, which is appropriate for setting
population size and gender ratio, and provides animals
with reasonable community combinations and pleasant
living environment. In addition, we have developed
a perfect system and working procedures for animal
feeding to monitor the entire feeding process from feed
purchasing, inspection, storage, processing to feeding,
to ensure abundant nutrients for animals. Moreover,
we have been working on detailed disease prevention
measures for animals, and will increase our investment
in veterinary medical technology and medical facilities to
promptly treat sick animals.

In 2017, we cooperated with universities and
pharmaceutical companies in the independent R&D
of composite nutrition additives of marine animals to
improve the health status of animals. Each year, we
invite domestic and foreign experts to visit the Group
for exchange and discussion on issues such as health,
medical treatment and welfare of animals, so as to
improve the animal welfare level.
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Case: Provide penguins with all-round welfare and care

RO REBRHERSENEFMEAE

Energy reserve stage
during breeding period

FIEPRERRERR

Oestrus and mating stage

BB ER

Egg laying and hatching stage
EEBLER

Little penguin breeding stage
NEFEHTR

EABRRR

The stage when little penguins
live independently and
emperor penguins molt their feathers
PNEIRBIETE

BERBERER

Normal life stage
EFREFERE

Animal nursing and research

The Group greatly promotes animal nursing to
introduce more new animals and inject vitality to the
Group, protect endangered animals and contribute to
the biodiversity. The Group believes that it will be
conducive to deepening the public’s understanding of
animals and nature and improving tourists’ awareness of
environmental protection and animal nursing by sharing
our expertise and experience, actively participating in
animal nursing and research activities, providing tourists
with short distance interactions with animals, educational
demonstrations and innovative performances.
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In terms of animal nursing talents, we have a skilled
feeding and scientific research team with more than
600 professional technicians and feeders. The Group has
carried out a number of biological breeding programs,
established breeding centers for cetaceans, pinnipeds
and penguins, and polar bear artificial breeding centers,
and successfully bred more than 10 species of marine
animals, 5 species of large sharks, rockhopper penguins
and false killer whales. We have established animal
nursing partnerships with several well-known research
institutes, such as Chinese Academy of Sciences and
aquarium operators. We have also cooperated with
domestic and foreign animal nursing agencies in the
development of species exchange programs in a bid to
jointly protect the diversity of marine animals and build
an excellent marine animal breeding system. We support
nationwide marine and polar biological research and
protection activities. For instance, we sponsored the
National Aquatic Wildlife Conservation Association for
initiating the “Aquatic Wildlife Conservation Haichang
Technology Award and Selections” across the country,
to build a society with good atmosphere of caring
for aquatic wildlife and water aquatic ecosystems by
promotion and recognition of advanced figures and
outstanding achievements in the aquatic wildlife
conservation.

In 2017, the Group identified penguin gender to provide
the basis for subsequent rational allocation of penguin
breeding population. For the pre-artificial insemination
training on cetaceans, the Group required each company
to choose well-trained cetaceans for the training on
insemination and male fertilization and continuously
monitored the physiological indicators of the trained
female animals to obtain their best time of conception.
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Major scientific and
technological
cooperation

The Group worked with the National Oceanic Laboratory on the
"Cooperation of Marine Mammal Protection and Bionics Application
Research” to establish an offshore breeding and protection base for
marine mammals and thus delving into the role of typical marine
mammals in marine ecosystem and the application of bionics in science
education and product display.
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Academic communication

In September 2017, the 2nd International Jellyfish Conference &
Chinese Association of Natural Science Museums Aquarium Special
Committee 2017 Academic Conference was held. More than 70
overseas jellyfish experts and scholars from the United States, Europe,
Japan, South Korea and Australia, and nearly 600 representatives of
domestic industry experts and exhibitors of aquariums and aquarium
supply were invited to participate in the academic conference. During
the meeting, the industry experts from home and abroad exchanged
their opinions in feeding and breeding of jellyfish, marine creatures
nursing and exhibition, and shared their achievements in scientific
research, genetic evolution, etc. Besides, they specially talked about
and discussed “construction and development of public aquariums”,
“research and breeding of rare jellyfish species”, “impact of such
environmental factors as air, water quality and noise on marine
creatures”, “treatment and cure of marine animals”, etc.
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In March 2017, the Group participated in the research of neophocaena
phocaenoides resources and ex-situ conservation, a project of the
Ministry of Agriculture. Furthermore, it provided technical support
for the physical examination, temporary raising, transportation
of neophocaena phocaenoides in the Poyang Lake during the ex-
situ conservation, which is initiated by the Yangtze River Fisheries
Administration, Ministry of Agriculture.

Popular science and
On 19 July 2017, the Group contracted a cooperation agreement

on species conservation and science education of neophocaena

public welfare

activities
phocaenoides project in Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park with

National Aquatic Wildlife Conservation Association and Freshwater
Fisheries Research Centre, CAFS. As the first company representative,
the Group participated in conservation and rescue program of
neophocaena phocaenoides, and contributed to national aquatic
wildlife conservation, aquatic ecosystem protection, scientific research
and publicity.
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Case: The first artificially-bred gray seal was born in Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park

R BREAIEENSNBRESTRBEREEBFAE

In April 2017, a lovely gray seal was successfully born
in Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park, and it was the
first gray seal fed by human in China under artificial
feeding conditions. However, the mother seal was
unable to feed the baby seal. To save the baby seal’s

life, the park staff decided to adopt artificial feeding "Seal princess’==.Jhe first gray seal fedsy
human in China

mixing milk powder with different proportions of fish 2E 2 BIA TS EHOR 50 [ 2]

pastes to make the taste close to breast milk and
ensure the survival of the baby seal. In order to help
the baby seal to have a better life, the feeders stayed with her for 24 hours, feeding her six times,
weighing and taking temperature twice a day. Moreover, they played games with her and tidied her
house. With the assistance of the feeders, the baby seal has learned to jump into the water and
actively ate some common fish.

The gray seal is one of the major species in the seal family. They are mainly found in the coasts of
the North Atlantic, so they are really rare in China. However, Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park
boasts the most advanced marine animal breeding technology in the country, therefore, many marine
animals are born there every year. The success of artificial feeding of the gray seal marked a pioneer
work in China.
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2.2 Guarantee operation safety 22 REEERR

42

Safety is the foundation of all operation activities and
work. The Group regards the safety management of
park operation as the key of its work, as well as an
important guarantee for improving economic efficiency
and enhancing the Group’s brand. Meanwhile, the
Group adheres to the principles of “implementing
safety management throughout the whole work”,
“decomposing safety responsibility step by step” and
“Process & Standardization”. Besides, it formulates
Operation Safety Management System of Haichang
Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. to standardize the management
of amusement facilities in the park, and Emergency
Plan of Park Operation Safety to take precautions
to emergencies. The Group regulates itself and its
operating companies with the safety management of
park operation, so as to normalize, institutionalize and
standardize the work, enhances the safety management
level and efficiency of park operations and provides
tourists with safety protection. In 2017, no material
accidents in relation to safety occurred in the Group.

Enhance park safety

The Group has strengthened safety management in the
park by a variety of means including system construction,
safety supervision and inspection, operation safety
training and pre-project drills.

System construction is the basis of safety work. The
renewal and improvement of management systems
and standard templates help guide staff at all levels
to clarify their own responsibilities and work contents,
standardize work processes, and properly implement
work in relation to safety. In 2017, the Group ordered
its basic management system and formed templates
to complete the Management Methods of Special
Equipment, Management Methods of Normal Equipment
& Facilities, Record of Recreation Facilities, Record of
General Assets, Record of Special Operations Personnel,
Monthly Report of Energy (Project Version), Monthly
Report of Energy (Group Version), List of Energy Sources
and Control Measures, and List of Spare Parts for Major
Equipment.
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Safety supervision and inspection are important means
for the Group to keep abreast of corporate safety
management work and to supervise the implementation
of safety management responsibilities at all levels. Based
on its inspections and self-inspection by subsidiaries, the
Group conducts on-site safety inspections of the park,
discovers problems, rectifies them in a timely manner,
and tracks the rectification plan so as to achieve prior
management and eliminate potential safety hazards.
In 2017, 1,611 safety hazards are discovered by each
company, and the Group detected 176 hidden hazards
and completed rectifications on 1,687 hazards.

In order to ensure that all staff are proficient in basic
safety knowledge and the status of dangerous sources
at work, each year, the Group requires each operating
company to organize all serving and newly recruited
personnel to accept special training in fire safety, public
order safety, traffic safety, personnel safety and property
safety, hazard sources management, and job safety. The
Company organizes at least one safety training for all
staff every year; and each operating company organizes
at least one safety knowledge training every quarter
within the Company. The implementation of safety
training should be supervised and checked by the Park
Operations Department of the Group. Furthermore, the
Group also requires each operating company to organize
at least two fire simulation drills with all staff and under
the participation and guidance of local fire departments,
after then, all the problems arising out during the
drills should be rectified within a limited period. The
implementation of fire drills will be supervised and
spot-checked by the Park Operations Department of the
Group, as well as the rectifications. In 2017, the Group
carried out 109 safety training with 7,546 participants;
conducted 66 safety drills with 6,260 participants.
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Guarantee tourists safety RIFpFE 22
The Group has formulated the Safety Management and AEBFT(AREZLEE
Control Standards for Park Operations (Safety Measures ZRE (ERLEREREE))
for Tourists) and Emergency Plan of Park Operation MARAEE LR ESTER) -
Safety to ensure the personal safety of tourists in the REEEEEREAMNAGR
park and provide visitors with safe and comfortable 2 RBEERHZZEENN
travel experience. In 2017, the Group received 8,809,243 Eggm e —T—+F AEEH
tourists, and no material personal injury accidents 5 ®8,809,243 A8 0 &
occurred during the year. FREEEABETEAFER
a& o

Case: Adding police office in Dalian Laohutan Pole Aquarium for building a safe scenic area

RO REERESFLEBHELERERE  2HITEFRRE

Dalian Laohutan Pole Aquarium has set up a police
office at the main entrance of the Polar Aquarium,
which is a police institution of local police station.
The civil police will carry out public security and mass
work, and keep abreast of safety actuality in the
park, moreover, they will organize safety precautions,
maintain security order and implement emergency

assistance services in the park, to innovate the
“tourism + police” operation mechanism, realize “full-
time attendance, timely rescues and whole-heart services”, and strive to build a safe scenic area.
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Guarantee food safety

In order to guarantee the food safety, all the joining
businesses are required to have all the necessary
certificates and all the self-catering foods are required to
go centralized purchasing. In 2017, the Group complied
Process Management Manual of Food and Beverage
Department of the Park, Development Plan of Food and
Beverage, Research and Development Management and
Plan of Cooking Competition, which provided theoretical
support and standardized reference for the development
and operation of food and beverage of the Group.
The Group set up standardization system of food and
beverage by combining the communication opportunity
of the annual summary meeting of business management
center. By the end of 2017, two business standardization
systems, operation service process and food production,
had been completed. In the future, the Group will set
up other standardization systems such as operation
management, training, research and development so
as to gradually realize the unity of the operation and
management system of the Group’s food and beverage,
and maximize the brand culture and benefits.

Improve services quality

The Group advocates “Innovation, Health and Honest” as
the brand personality and “Dream, Love and Happiness”
as the brand allegation, and provides the tourists with a
world-class one-stop integrated service experience with
sightseeing, catering, shopping and accommodation.
The Group compiles Operation Service Standard of
Haichang Ocean Park, which provides the tourists with
comprehensive tourism products with high quality,
globalization and diversification.

2.3
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With regard to innovation of commodity and business
as well as dissemination, the Group developed an image
which was not the IP marine animal of Haichang in 2017.
The products, with special materials, special sizes, special
techniques and special functions, differed from the existing
IP commodities, and enriched the commodity categories.
With the industry advantage of Tmall platform, the Group
expanded the channel layout of Haichang Ocean Park,
fully promoted and disseminated Haichang brand and IP
image to accelerate the growth of IP theme products.
The Group's first children’s story book, Love of Greenland,
was put on sale in January 2017. Love of Greenland is
the first copyrighted work of the first series of marine
themed pictorial books based on the marine culture under
the framework of the Group’s own IP. With the little
polar bear’s journey of fantasy and love as the main clue,
it compiles a heart-warming story about dreams, love,
companionship, treasure and courage. Written for children
aged between 3 and 12, this is a storybook for children to
read with parents. Each episode features an independent
story unit, which shows a polar ocean world with mystery
and fantasy, inspires children to learn about sea animals
and develops their emotional skills.

With regard to the innovation and development of the
food and beverage business, the Group opened the first
jellyfish aquarium-Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park
on 1 January 2017. As a new business, a restaurant
was firstly opened in the individual agquarium. Based on
the full investigation of the sales of food and beverage
products, the Group, combining with the concept of
healthy eating among young people, launched a series of
meal products featuring “Ocean Flavor” and a variety of
light meals like salads. Meanwhile, the Group launched
a series of convenient fruit tea beverages featuring fast
production, beautiful appearance, and good taste, based
on the consumption demand of young people and the
matching of tourists in the park.
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With regard to improving the tourist experience and
service quality, the Group introduces the concept of
“The first accountability system of service” and “Service
Coach”, asking staff to focus on tourists and take their
service request seriously. Through training, the Group
encourages them to be service coach and enhance their
service concept to help the tourists to meet various needs
with patience and enthusiasm. The Group establishes
a working group, which is composed of responsible
person and department director who are responsible
for rectification and reporting of online comment,
standardizes the timeliness and effective follow-up
reported from the online comment and rectification,
and continuously improves the quality of operation
services. In 2017, the average satisfaction of tourists to
the Group’s projects exceeded 80%.
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Case: Chongqing Haichang Caribbean Water Park improved the interaction between staff

and tourists

R EESEMBLSKERMNEE TREZES

To improve the quality of service, Chongging
Haichang Caribbean Water Park came up with
a slogan of “More Initiative and Interactive”.
When there are few tourists, the employees
of Chongging Haichang Caribbean Water Park
will actively help the tourists to get flotation
devices, and the staff who take a rest will
accompany the tourists to ride the recreation
facility. For safety, the accompanying employees
will teach the tourists the safe gliding posture
and constantly remind them to maintain the
correct safe posture during the glide.
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Case: Dalian Laohutan Pole Aquarium Four Dimensional Cinema Co., Ltd. cares about special tourists

R REZERENEXEARAABERHRETSHE

Dalian Laochutan Pole Aquarium Four Dimensional Cinema Co., Ltd. provides temporary break places

for the elder, children, and special groups who cannot bear long queues. When a family is preparing
to enter the movie, the staff will check the tourists resting in temporary break places according to
their hand cards and let the family member join in his family through shortcut, so that the family can
watch the same movie together.
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Case: Dalian Haichang Discoveryland Theme Park relieves tourists’ queuing pressure by many ways

RO AEBERRIBTELAESKABRETHHRED

During holiday and tourist peak seasons, in

the event that the tourists want to ride the
recreation facilities, they have to queue up for
a long time, which seriously affects their moods.
In order to relieve the pressure on queuing,
Dalian Haichang Discoveryland Theme Park
provides simple and casual toys for the tourists
in the line. An interaction service called “playing
the dice and gaining the prizes” is set up in the

queuing area of the several recreation facilities
so as to help the tourists to pass the waiting
time, relieve their anxiety and make them happy during waiting in line.
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2.4 Promote industrial communications 2.4 HEENTRI
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The Group believes that industrial communication
can not only enrich the management experience and
expertise of the Group and its peers, but also help to
gather industry strengths, raise people’s awareness of
caring for animals as well as deepen their understanding
of the nature, environment protection and society issues
so as to promote the society to protect the nature and
improve the living environment of animals.
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In 2017, the Group promoted and supported industry T —tF AEEEERA
communication and development by organizing the ABE AR ES®2MNEEH
technical experts to participate the technical seminars INERERFHREMATE - 4
hosted by foreign experts, organizing technical personnel BEARREITA B2 MBI YiE
to participate in animal case seminars, participating in BT e - REZESITE - £
the formulation of the standard and holding training PIBIIMELE R - HEA
classes etc. TR MAER -

Case: Jointly hold the International Special Business Training Class

RO - BEEMBERSREBEIN

In May 2017, the Group organized, with Chinese Association of Natural Science Museums Aquarium
Special Committee, three-day “2017 Haichang International Aquaculture and Breeding Training Class”
for 120 aquarium management personnel and excellent breeders from across the country. The Group
invited famous domestic and foreign experts and scholars to give academic speeches, including Mr.
Tadao Sakiyama from Enoshima Aquarium of Japan, Ms. JIANG Sushan, the executive director of
Animals and Education of Ocean Park Hong Kong, Dr. ZHANG Ying, the manager of Environment Lab
and Chris Warner, the director of Aquarium Environmental Systems of AALSO. The training class also
conducted in-depth discussions on issues such as “changes in views of the public on aquarium and
animal welfare, method and theoretical basis for aquarium water quality monitoring and regulation,
and roads leading to the design of modern aquatic aquaculture systems”.

Now, this is the Fourth International Special Business Training Class since it was jointly held, under
the guidance of Chinese Association of Natural Science Museums Aquarium Special Committee, by
Haichang Ocean Park in 2014. Its scale, academic field and the quality of the scientific research have
been constantly expanded and deepened.
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Case: Yantai Haichang Fisherman’s Wharf hosted “2017 International Aquaculture and Breeding

Training Class”

P EEBERABEREIN —F—tEBKKREAEESIEIIZ]

From 23 to 25 May 2017, Yantai Haichang Fisherman’s Wharf successfully hosted three-day “2017

International Aquaculture and Breeding Training Class”, providing training and skills interaction for
more than 120 professional technicians in the same industry in China. And the aquarium invited
domestic and foreign famous experts and scholars to give academic speeches including the experts
and scholars from Japanese Association of Zoos and Aquariums, Aquatic Animal Life Support Operators
and Ocean Park Hong Kong. As the “National Marine Awareness Education Base"”, the aquarium held
a special report named Exploration of Whale Shark’s Artificial Feeding Conditions. Based on years of
experience, the breeders of the aquarium actively explored the whale shark’s feeding environment,
nutrition guarantee, ecological behavior and disease prevention.
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Case: Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park published a number of academic papers

P REBEBMSFLAEARRSREMMX

From 18 to 20 September 2017, Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park successfully held the Second

International Jellyfish Conference & Chinese Association of Natural Science Museums Aquarium Special
Committee and published 5 academic papers at the conference, namely, Reproduction of Cassiopeia
Andromeda, Impact of Environmental Factors on Feeding Rate and Aberration Rate of Acetabulum of
Moon Jelly, Research on Seaweed'’s Absorption of Nutritive Salt and Its Application in Aquarium, Two
Fracture Fixations to Heal Fox Fracture and A Case of Keratomycosis of False Killer Whale.

On 1 November 2017, Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park attended the Second Term Aquarium
Development Forum, publishing 2 academic papers, namely, Breeding Techniques of Small Polyped
Scleractinian Corals and Preliminary Study on Berlin System and Two Fracture Fixations to Heal Fox
Fracture at the forum.
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Case: Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park attended the “Second Term China Aquarium

Development Forum”

P ERBEBMEFAES N[5 =& EIKIKERREWE ]

From 17 to 19 October 2017, the “Second Term China Aquarium Development Forum”, sponsored
by National Aquatic Wildlife Conservation Association and organized by Shandong Quancheng Polar
Ocean World, was held at Shandong Quancheng Polar Ocean World. The general manager and
deputy general manager of Qingdao Haichang Polar Ocean Park, together with fishery administrative
authorities at all levels, experts and scholars, elites in aquarium industry, and supplier representatives
who contribute to the development of aquarium industry gathered in Quancheng to discuss 7 related
topics covering the function of aquariums to popularize scientific knowledge and protection of
aquatic creatures in the new situation, and exchange technical achievements in artificial breeding and
population protection of aquatic mammals in aquariums at home and abroad, epidemic prevention,
water resources and environmental protection.
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2.5 Strengthen supply chain management
The Group has prepared the Requirements of Bid

52

Invitation for Supplier, Approval Process of Bid Invitation
to standardize the supply management. The Group also
stresses the social responsibility of suppliers and requires
suppliers to provide documents at three aspects, namely,
quality, environment and occupational health during the
bid invitation.

The Group has signed Anti-corruption Agreement with
its suppliers to restrain suppliers’ behavior, prevent
corruption cases in bid invitation and procurement, and
eliminate the acts of seeking illegal interests such as the
demand or acceptance of kickbacks, cash gifts, valuable
securities, valuables and rewards for go-between and
thanks fees in project progress.
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The Group has compiled Supplier Evaluation Criterion
and Supplier Evaluation Form to evaluate suppliers
on a regular basis. The Group and its subsidiaries will
respectively score the suppliers, and evaluate suppliers
in terms of engineering quality, engineering progress,
safety and civilization and other aspects. It gradually
promotes the cooperation degree with suppliers so
that the probationary suppliers will become available
suppliers, excellent suppliers as well as strategic
suppliers, achieving a win-win cooperation.

In 2017, the Group has 791 domestic suppliers and 51
foreign suppliers. No corruption cases occurred.

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group strictly abides by the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China and other laws and
regulations, uses natural resources rationally, increases
investment in environmental protection, and minimizes the
impact of its operation on ecological environment. In addition,
the Group also devotes itself to the promotion and education
on marine environmental protection and wildlife protection to
enhance the public’s awareness of environmental protection.

3.1 Advocate marine protection

Ocean is our common home and it is our duty to
protect it. With its understanding of ocean and marine
animals, the Group actively provides education about
marine culture, disseminates knowledge about marine
culture and stimulates the public’'s awareness of marine
protection.
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3.2

Education for students

We attach importance to the activities to provide
scientific knowledge to the youth so that more primary
and secondary students can understand marine
knowledge, love marine culture, and have the awareness
about animal protection and marine environmental
protection. Yantai Haichang Fisherman’s Wharf has been
holding “Blue whale spirit-science popularization class”
in schools since 2011, giving classes to popularize
scientific knowledge in primary and secondary schools

and kindergartens.

Education for the public

On each World Ocean Day and China Ocean Day,
the Group organizes activities to disseminate marine
culture and marine protection. In June 2017, Qingdao
Haichang Polar Ocean Park held an activity to collect
signatures of 10,000 people for “Man and Ocean in
Harmony”, displayed marine pictures drawn by primary
and middle school students of the city, and popularize
Ocean Theme Plaza to promote marine protection. On
the World Ocean Day, marine creatures were set free.
More than 400 people, including citizens, tourists, and
student representatives from primary and secondary
schools, jointly set free more than 1,500,000 units
or 900,000,000 high-quality juveniles of Chinese
prawns, Japanese shrimps, olive flounders and horse
crabs. This activity can restore marine fishery resources
and effectively raise the public's awareness of marine
protection.

Protect marine animals

Protecting biodiversity is important in environmental
protection. As a leading marine park in China, the Group
actively cooperates with top universities and scientific
research institutions in China by conducting research
on artificial breeding of rare and endangered polar
marine mammals and carrying out animal conservation
and rescue to constantly enhance the Group’s core
competitiveness in animal population and conservation.
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Case: Signing at conference on saving endangered marine animals

P ZRARBIDYEREE

On 5 May 2017, the Group and the Institute
of Hydrobiology, Chinese Academy of Sciences
formally signed the Research and Cooperation
Agreement on Artificial Breeding Technique for
Chinese Feeding and Endangered Cetaceans
in Wuhan. To carry out research cooperation
on artificial insemination and breeding of
cetaceans, research on artificial breeding of rare
and endangered polar marine mammals, and
conservation and rescue of national endangered
cetaceans, both parties rely on their scientific

- BE AT BRINED - BIATTERRKT -

research, funds, professionals and technological advantages to enhance the overall level of the industry.
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Meanwhile, the Group has disseminated the idea of
animal protection and given full play to its role to rescue
marine animals together with the general public. This
is a way to protect biodiversity and to raise the public’s
awareness of animal protection.

Intensify environmental management

Respecting environment is a prerequisite for our
good operation. The Group improves environmental
management system, establishes an environmental
management team, and tightens environmental
supervision and inspection. It also operates in an
energy-saving, low-carbon and environmentally friendly
manner to ensure that wastes and pollutants can be
treated effectively and discharged, thus minimizing the

impact of its operation on the ecological environment.
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Save energy consumption

To manage the use of energy, the Group has set up
Equipment Energy Department, formulated and revised
the Equipment Energy Management System and Energy
Conservation Management System to improve the use of
energy. The Group also developed specific management
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system for energy conservation of different types of

Conservation Management System.
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The Group consumes energy, including electricity, natural
gas, gasoline, and diesel during operation. We constantly
improve our ability to manage energy, standardize
the management and operation of equipment and
facilities and continuously reduce energy consumption
by upgrading equipment. We have established a

management system on energy conservation objectives BYTHRERERRBR &
to make energy conservation objectives clearer and the ENBEfEFE B IR G - B E
rectification more effective. B

ZE—tF AEBFEEER
BREENRBIBTER &
consumption per income was around 646 kWh/Ten BEHARATRE &l
Thousand Yuan. A e

In 2017, the total energy consumption of the Group
was around 100 million kWh, and the total energy

Energy consumption in 2017

2017 E BRI HEN

Gasoline Diesel
bt L3

2% N\ 4%

BGasoline  MDiesel MNatural gas @ Electricity
o TSRS T

56




2017FERE BESFAEERERAA

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT B8 « 2R EBHRE

Case: Upgrading equipment in Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park

P EEEE R ETFAERBEERE

Measure one: LED lamps are adopted in the park

|

LED fiber-optic lamps. As the maintenance and upgrading offthié park gontindes, weHave replaced the high-po
and incandescent lamps with a large number of LED ener@y#8avingtlamps, and replaced the decorative lamp
LED Iam stnps R
B : HETE ; ‘ <5 fDEX&F‘EﬁLEDﬁ;% Eild Wl

Measure two: cooling by cooling tower

White whale should be bred at a temperature of 17+1TC. The white whale pond in Chengdu Haichang
Polar Ocean Park is an indoor pond, and in Chengdu, the room temperature is higher than outdoor
temperature in winter, so it is necessary to cool the white whale pond in winter. The white whale pond in
Chengdu Haichang Polar Ocean Park has been reconstructed by drawing water in the cooling tower and
the water in white whale pond to the plate type
heat exchanger respectively to cool the water in
the cooling tower. According to the actual testing,
when the temperature is lower than 15°C, the
cooling tower only operates at 0:00-7:00 am,
and it can control the temperature of white
whale pond within the required temperatures.
The power of the refrigeration host is 349 KW, —
and 2,443 kW/h of power will be saved every day The Cofj"”g tower

by using the cooling tower. The use of equipment R

in combination with temperature differences

between water temperature and air temperature to save energy conservation is a new idea for energy
conservation.
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Water resources management

The Group's operations rely on seawater and tap water.
The Group has always put great emphasis on the water
conservation and the recycling of water resources, and
has formulated the Water Conservation Management
System to effectively manage water resources. On the
one hand, through the technological innovation and
transformation, the recycling of water resources is
continuously enhanced. For example, the water resources
of the Group’s aquariums are all recycled. On the other
hand, we enhance supervision and inspection of water
resources so as to eliminate the risk of water dribbling
and leaking. In addition, we educate our employees
through publicizing posters, organizing activities
and other ways to integrate the concept of water
conservation into every aspect of our production and
office life. In 2017, the annual water consumption of
the Group was 1.5 million tons, around 9 ton per ten
thousand yuan.
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Case: Recycling of water resources of Wuhan Haichang Polar Ocean Park

=6 REBEBMSEFLIEKERBERIA

In Wuhan Haichang Polar Ocean Park Aquarium, as for water used by animals, first it should make
sure the water quality index of fish and finless porpoise. The water received from the replacement of
water for fish and finless porpoise is reused for sea beasts after filtration, back flushing, sterilization
and disinfection. Then, the water received from the replacement of water for sea beasts is reused by
storage pond animals after filtration, back flushing, sterilization and disinfection and dilution. Last, the
water in storage pond will be replaced every day and discharged to municipal sewage pipe network
after the same treatment of filtration, sterilization and disinfection.

RS EBMEF AEEFE - BYMAKEREREEMIFENKERR  ZREEMIK
BN REK > BER - =T - REESEARGSEEIDMER - BER T RAKEEER -
Rk BEHES HEBRERABYER  EROAKERBEESR  FELEBE  REH
SREFMBITBOSKER -

Emissions management

The disposal of waste water, waste gas and wastes of the
Group complies with the requirements of the national
laws and regulations so as to ensure zero accident,
such as leakage of pollutants and other environmental
incidents. The Group has set up an environmental
management team to be responsible for organizing
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the Group’s internal environmental monitoring,
supervising and inspecting “three wastes” treatment,
putting forward suggestions and requirements about
environment protection in projects of construction,
reconstruction and expansion, as well as supervising the
execution of requirements for environmental protection.

Discharge and treatment of wastewater

The Group discharges waste water in compliance with
the level-lll standard in Integrated Wastewater Discharge
Standard. In order to guarantee that the discharge of
wastewater meets the standard, we have strict work
procedures and norms in the Company. In addition,
we strengthen the treatment and monitoring of the
domestic and production sewage to reduce their effects
on the environment. The total amount of discharge of
wastewater during the reporting period was around 0.96
million tons.

Discharge and disposal of solid wastes

The Group attaches great emphasis on the safe disposal
of solid wastes. For general solid wastes, we advocate
recycling and improve the efficiency of resource use. For
hazardous wastes, we hold the temporary storage as
required and hand it over to third-party units that have
the appropriate processing qualification so that the solid
wastes can be disposed of by 100% of standardization.

Types of solid wastes
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Production quantity

EREEYESE E4XE
General wastes (ton) 6,027
—MeEEZEY) (W)
Waste machine oil (ton) 0.67
Hazardous wastes Ink cartridge (unit) 613
Selenium drum (unit) 253

EH R (1)
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59



HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT B8 - 2R EAQHME

Emission of greenhouse gas SR BRI
The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions mainly come from NEFEEZRESEKREEK
indirect emissions of energy and direct emissions of the BREERBEZEHERAER A
use of gasoline, diesel and natural gas. The main energy R RRREENER
consumed in the operation is electricity and natural gas. HEp B RRRER FERERH
Petrol and diesel are mainly used in vehicles and boilers. HEERAEEN  RAKE A
MM EZ AN EEH R
&E o
Energy types of Carbon dioxide
Types of greenhouse gas emission sources emissions (tons):
emission (unit) equivalent
BERORIREERERE “EtRHEREER
AERBHRER (Bfx) (mg)
Indirect emission of energy Operating and office electricity (kw/h) 71,773
BE IR A1 HE AR BENMARE (TREE)
Gasoline (L) 591
Direct emission of energy Diesel (L) 1,056
Natural gas (m?) 6,795
ol (1)
BEREZHE ged (71)

RAR, (ALTTK)

Total 80,215
/_\é-l-
= A

Carbon dioxide emissions of per
ten thousand yuan output value 0.48

BETWRAZSLHREERE

4. EMPLOYEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES 4. ETEF
The Group always regards its employees as the foundation REBEBRKBEIRALEEED
of its development. The Group emphasizes the protection of Eft e AEBTEERRES TH#
employees’ benefits and welfare and strives to build healthy mAER - BHT MABE T EER
and safe working environment for employees. In addition, we R 20 TIERE - R - 118
pay attention to employees’ individual development and career FEIMEAZR BEZER - A
development, therefore, with the sustainable growth of the ETIRHERAE ZHENBELRER
Company, we will provide specific and multiple channels for B ECEREKRENRE - B

employees to help them realize their individual value. ,%I BEREAEE -



20176 EHE BEBFARERERAF

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT B » 2R EBHRE

4.1 Guarantee employees’ benefits

Ensure legal benefits and equal opportunities

The Group places emphasis on legal employment,
fair opportunities and comprehensive protection of
employees’ legitimate benefits. We strictly abide by
the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor
Contract Law, Trade Union Law and other relevant laws
and regulations and have formulated the Company’s
Recruitment Management System to standardize
recruitment. Besides, we hope through systematic
recruitment management to ensure the quality of the
Company’s recruitment so as to select outstanding and
qualified talents for the Company.

The Group will sign formal labor contracts or labor
agreements with the employees to avoid child labor
and forced labor fundamentally and abide by labor
norms strictly. Meanwhile, we ensure to provide
fair opportunities and guarantee that employment,
employees’ remuneration, training and promotion will
not be affected by gender, age, nationality, religion
and region and etc., so as to create a fair development
environment for employees.

By the end of 2017, the total number of employees in
the Group was 2,990, including 1,767 male employees
and 1,223 female employees.

The number of employees
classified by gender

BUERETNETAR

= Male =Female

Bt i

41 RIEEETRR

ERE ZBR AT ERS
AEEERAAEM - RF#
& ZTEREBEIAEERS -
HPIERER (P EARKM
B 8E) (BEERIE)
(IT&ZF) FRBERERR
E - BIERR(REEEHE)
MEHRE TE  BERFCH
BEBRBARBEIES
B RARERHES A1
HIAT e

AEMERAEMAE TIH%R]
EXNSBHE RSB HH -
AR AR At 48 1R (A 2E T 254 )
BT OEEESTEL R
- WPIEERLFHE  RE
KEETRMB BIFE BT
FIBEASTEARMR - F
R Rk Z¥ HREY
£ RETEERATHERR
3 o

BEZZT—LFR A5EZ2
BRBEAEB2990A  EF
FHmE1767TA 0 XIEREE
1,223A »

The number of employees
classified by age
RFRBINETAH

=30 and below

30 RIAT

=311t050
31-503%

=51 and above
51 R IA
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Guarantee employees’ safety and health

Safety is the foundation of all operating activities and
work. The Group emphasizes employees’ health and
safety and has formulated the Group Safety Management
System and Emergency Plan of Park Operation Safety in
accordance with laws and regulations, such as Safe
Production Law of the People’s Republic of China, Fire
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Special Equipment
Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China, Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China and Emergency
Response Act of the People’s Republic of China. From
the aspects of project construction, cost input, intrinsic
safety of equipment and facilities, implementation of
responsibility system, safety inspection, rectification of
potential dangers, operation of environmental protection
facilities and etc., work was carried out in accordance
with the requirements of laws and standards.

The Group vigorously carries out the construction of the
safety training system and improves the safety awareness
of all employees by posting safety tips. In addition,
we actively carry out fire drills, emergency evacuation
drills and other safety drills to enhance the employees’
emergency response capabilities. In 2017, the Group
conducted a total of 66 drills.

The Group regards the health and safety of its
employees as a top priority so it regularly arranges
physical examinations for employees at the physical
examination centers. For the workers undertaking special
types of work, in accordance with the relevant national
laws and regulations, the Group provides them with
labor protection supplies, such as work clothes, safety
helmets, rubber boots, gloves, and masks and etc., to
do well in health protection work. In addition, we pay
attention to the heat stroke and cooling in the hot
season, so we implement the job rotation system under
high-temperature conditions and distribute cool drinks to
employees to prevent excessive fatigue and heat stroke.
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In order to guarantee the health of employees, the Group
conducts health inspections and special inspections
from time to time to keep employees’ working
environment clean, hygienic and free from infectious
disease sources. The Group strictly enforces the laws,
regulations and standards related to the occupational
health of employees. All employees have to receive
pre-post training before taking up their posts, such as
the occupational protection training for feeders, diving
supervision system training, and various types of first-aid
method training. And safety rules and regulations are
strictly complied with.

Facilitate employees’ development
Formulate comprehensive training system

The Group focuses on systematic and professional
training of employees. In order to help employees grow
and realize their own values, the Group has formulated
various systems, including Training Management System
of the Group, Induction Training Courses and Training
Guarantee etc.; we hope that through systematic and
professional training so that employees can grasp the
Company’s article of association, their job responsibilities,
work essentials and business operation procedures and
so on. We have established a learning organization and
a channel for maintaining employees’ career so as to
improve employees’ quality and ability and promote the
common development of the Company and its talents. In
addition, the Group has established an internal lecturer
system and has formulated management systems, such
as the Internal Lecturer Management System of the
Group and Training System Implementation Plan of the
Group, to implement the Company’s various training
tasks with high quality, high efficiency and low costs.

In 2017, four categories of training were conducted in
the Group: induction training, management personnel
training, senior management course, and team
communication activities. In the reporting period, the
Group provided training for a total of about 20 thousand
participants from its employees, with the total training

time of about 30 thousand hours.

4.2
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Case: Senior management course

20 BERE

In order to give full play to resource advantages of the senior management and build an interactive
platform for sharing and two-way communication, the Group offered a senior management course on
the themes of “Leader’s Time” and “Micro Salon”. Traditional approaches such as seminars, deliberations
and discussions as well as multimedia approaches such as live interactive classrooms and mini consulting
and sharing rooms were taken to build a barrier-free communication environment to encourage
diversified thoughts, so as to create an efficient and excellent training system for the senior management.

REBESEEREY BRAZTRERAXREY T AFERY [RHERHE ]+ 205 ] XF
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Case: Management personnel training — a training camp for new managers

A EBATEIN - HEKBAIRE

The Group set up a training camp for
new managers to help them adapt to
the new roles soon, providing them
with short-term intensive training to
standardize their thinking and awareness
and to make them master the basic
managerial skills of their new positions.
In June 2017, the Group completed
the special training of the international
copyright course — "EBL Leadership ==}
Sandbox”, which was provided for
newly promoted senior managers.

ARG 2 MR AR IR A AR 1

|

special training for néwly _p.romoted: managers i
& BB E SRS
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Smooth career development channel

The Group offers employees clear and diversified
channels to career development. It has established
the Employee Promotion Management System and
Professional Sequence Management System to ensure
the clear promotion channels for employees and the
career development space that professionals are due
for. In addition, in order to meet the needs of talent
development, the Group has also established the Job
Rotation Management Measures (Tentative), Framework
Program for Reserve Talents Cultivation System and
Measures for Implementation of Mentor Mechanism
and adopted the scientific and systematic mechanism
and process for talent development and cultivation,
which were integrated with “selection, employment,
cultivation and retention”. And in order to make the
career development channels of employees unimpeded,
the Group is committed to building a high-quality,
high-skilled and comprehensive talent team, which
includes managers and professionals, so it provides
comprehensive training and professional training
synchronously and tracks and evaluates the process and
results of training in an all-round way.
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In order to promote the all-round growth of reserve BlREEEBASRRE2EK
talents, in 2017, the Group implemented a series of R ZZ—+F AEEFHE
HCEB AR BERINE) &
— R EEHES - RIFWES
AWEEREERGR - AER
BhERsTE  REBEMRE -

management mechanisms such as the Measures for
Implementation of Mentor Mechanism, which meant
drawing up development plans for employees to be
mentored according to their characteristics and
development directions and making mentoring rules.

Implement the
mechanism

BB

Select mentors

EmEE

Adjustments

BET

Form mentor-
ing groups
AL

The Human Resources and Administration Department starts the selection of mentors after
the annual/semi-annual review of reserve talents.

ANTTHER R EAS FERE, L FRURRDEHREEARE T

The employee to be mentored selects one of his/her immediate supervisors in the company
as his/her mentor, according to his/her development direction and personal interests, and
reports to the Human Resources and Administration Department for review and approval.
WEGARBEFERTALMEATAERARANBEERE U I —REBEREACH
BEA - WA NITHHERZ

The Human Resources and Administration Department makes adjustments according to
employees’ selection, their development directions, mentors’ strong points, allocation ratios
and other factors, and consults with mentors and employees to be mentored.
ANTTHHBRBEEER  ERBPIEGAERESM  BEAERR - REHIFHES B
T WEIEE A RIKIEE AT BR

After an agreement is reached, mentoring groups are formed and the mentoring period
begins.
EIRER B ERBEA T AR - EREAEZEY

Note: Process for Implementation of Mentor Mechanism

i IS ARBIERRR
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4.3 Give attention to employee care

The Group continuously implements the idea of people as
the basis, providing convenience and care for employees
and normalizing the care for them, so as to make
employees feel warm and happy at work. It provides
employees with benefits such as birthday gift certificates,
wedding cash gifts and maternity cash gifts. Moreover,
its subsidiary companies also prepare gifts including cash
gifts for their employees in celebration of festivals based
on local conditions.

The Group gives attention to the protection of female
employees’ rights and interests and shows special care
for them according to law. During the pregnancy period,
maternity period, and breastfeeding period of female
employees, the Group not only guarantees that they
enjoy the breastfeeding leave, prenatal checkup leave
and similar leave, but also makes appropriate reductions
in their work and gives them reasonable rest time. During
the festivals, such as the Women's Day, the Group also
prepares gifts for female employees.

Besides, the Group attaches importance to the living
environment of its employees. Its subsidiary companies
also renovate staff quarters according to the local
conditions and replace daily necessities for employees.
In order to show care for employees, the Group's
trade union organizes activities to warm hearts of the
employees who are badly off, sending necessaries of life
such as rice, noodles and oil to them, and visits sick and
hospitalized employees.
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5. PASSIONATE IN PUBLIC WELFARE

The Group is committed to giving back to the community
and spares no effort to promote community care and public
welfare activities. It hopes to bring positive and healthy energy
to society with its own advantages and influences, so as to
reflect its value to society. In 2017, the Group spent a total of
more than RMB 1 million on the community and social welfare
undertakings.

5.1 Passionate in public welfare undertakings

The Group makes a point of giving back to the
community and making contributions to society. It helps
the poor, cares for the elderly and children, and does its
best to provide convenience for special groups. Besides,
it attaches importance to environmental protection and
endeavors to give back to the community in a happy and
heart-warming way.

Case: Help the poor
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Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town has
always been adhering to Haichang’s
spirit of “Dream, Love and Joy” and
actively devoted to public welfare
activities. It had not only provided
employment opportunities for poor
households at Hongwei Group, Yalin
Village, Yucai Ecological Zone, Sanya
City, but also renovated their houses a

and given them complete sets of

furniture, including a big wardrobe,
three beds and a set of sofa.
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Case: Protect intangible cultural heritage and advocate Chinese ancient civilization

R REFVWEXLEE REEZR

Wuhan Haichang Polar Ocean Park attaches importance to the protection and inheritance of intangible
cultural heritage and strongly advocates Chinese ancient civilization. During the Spring Festival in
2017, the Park held the “Park Folk Artists Exhibition”, inviting folk artists to interact with tourists, so
that participants knew and treasured intangible cultural heritage. Moreover, the Park also held the
first parents-child competition about Chinese ancient civilization, which upheld the idea of “inheriting
traditions, loving life, improving quality, and nurturing personality” and proposed inheriting excellent
Chinese traditional culture.

REBSERMEF AR IEFRVELEENRERE S - WANREEABE - —T—+FF
R REEERMEFAEENR [ERRAZBAR]  SHRABARERES  FL2HE
MW BRIFFWELEE - I AEERR TE - EHRTEBLE N [ABER  BAEL
m o RITERR  BEAR] RED  REEATEEFERXL -

The “Park Folk Artists Exhibifi@n dL'TrTﬁg the 'Sprir]g ‘ The first parents-child competltlon abou{C ]
Festival in 2017 1 ancient civilization
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Case: "Mengdong, we are coming” - an all-people environmental protection program

R0l : [#HBweX | T ARRE

Dalian Laohutan Pole Aquarium carried out the “Mengdong, we are coming” — an all-people
environmental protection program. 30 industry leaders in Dalian were invited and organized into five
environmental protection teams. Team members invited hundreds of people to join their own teams
and formed a flash mob among their circles of friends, in the form of taking photos with polar animals.
This activity was held to make the flash mob spread rapidly on the Internet, so as to raise the public’s
awareness of protection of public interests and environment.

RNEZFHEF ARG EEN [HHwek ] T ARRIAR - B30 ABEAMITEERM KL
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5.2 Care for special groups

The Group has carried out various activities for special
groups including children with autism and orphaned
and disabled children for many years in a row. It invited
them to enter the park for free so as to transmit joy and
dreams to them. At the same time, the Group hoped
that the activities could appeal to the public to pay more
attention and give more help and care to special groups.

5.2 EERSHRER
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Case: “Theme Month of Children with Autism”

RO TMBEREXEA |

Since 2016, the Group had set every April as the “Theme Month of Children with Autism in Haichang

Ocean Park”. All ocean parks under the Group are open to children with autism worldwide and their
family members for free from 1 to 30 April every year. The Group carries out such public welfare
activities with the aim of giving children with autism the opportunities to enjoy the nature and find
bosom friends, and appealing to the society to pay more attention and show more understanding
and respect to them.

AEEE T R"FEREFNUARS BEEFF EMBERETEA] - 8FHA—H —
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Case: Charity run organized by United Nations Children’s Fund

R BEBRREESEEEN

The Group actively participates in activities organized
by international charities. In 2017, by invitation, it
participated in a charity run organized by the United
Nations Children’s Fund in Hong Kong, to support the
public welfare project of prevention and treatment of
mother-to-child transmitted HIV. Four office employees
in Hong Kong participated in the event. The Group
donated HK$68,880 to provide a better life for 32
children with HIV.

AREBEBEGL2EBBASABERNES —F—
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Case: Care for children of migrant workers

P BEMRBEIFR

The Group loves children of migrant workers. On 23 January, Tianjin Haichang Polar Ocean Park and

CCTV Children’s Channel launched a series of public welfare activities named Big Hands with Small
Hands and provided the children of migrant workers and their parents with free tickets for entering
the polar ocean park. The hosts of CCTV Children’s Channel, Ju Ping, Hong Guoguo and Lv Paopao
were present in person and they led the children of migrant workers to visit the jellyfish pavilion, had
marine science classes for them and sang the public-welfare song of Haichang Ocean Park together.
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Case: Help special children realize their ocean dreams

Rp| ERHERERFE

On 8 November, the “Love

Bus for Month of Benefiting
People”, which was filled
with more than 60 persons,
including the disabled children
and their accompanying
teachers, set out from Special
Education Center of Jiaozhou
City to Qingdao Haichang
Polar Ocean Park. In the polar
animal pavilion, the children
saw the charmingly naive
penguins, cute and adorable

polar bears; and in the marine The dlsabled children visited angdao Halchang PoIar Ocean Parl{..f!bﬂ;&!(!_
animal pavilion, children had a EARERRGHESEEEEFAE ;
close contact with the colorful
marine creatures. Under the guidance of the polar park volunteers, children enjoyed the same joy
as ordinary ones. The Group hopes that the attitude of happiness and good life will be passed on
through more public welfare and community projects. In addition, we hope further awaken the entire

society’s understanding and care for the special groups, such as the disabled.

T—ANR  [BERAZLCEL | RBMHERHEEROLE  RERKRZENGEZMFC0MH
A BRABTEEERMEFLE - EERMBYER - ZFMEDTEEAIRNDGE ZHAEN
IERER  EEFPYE - ERENENSFEYMETT —OOERRERRE - EESRENS
BT BFMEXEME BT R - K’El*ﬁ%zﬁlﬁk%lﬁméﬁi%ﬂi/ﬁﬁiﬂ; BEZ
N AEEERIMEE - RARNE - TRERETSHRAASHRERNIERNEE -
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AN OVERVIEW OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The Board currently consists of nine Directors, three of whom are
independent non-executive Directors. The Directors were appointed
by the Board. According to the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”), not less than one-third
of the Directors must retire from office by rotation at the annual
general meeting provided that every Director is subject to retirement
by rotation at least once every three years and any Director
appointed by the Board either to fill a casual vacancy or as an
addition to the Board will hold office until the next following general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.

The Board is responsible and has general powers for the management
and conduct of the Company’s business. The following table sets
out certain information concerning the Directors as at the date of
this annual report:

EENSREEENE

EEeRRERNEES  EP =824
BYUFWTES - SESFHAHEFTEZ
F-REARAZEBERRMAA (R
AMAD - APR=DZ —EFENER
BEXRe LWERT HEEREFHA
B=FRIWERE—R MEEES
RENEHBREERAER/FMEESTS
FENENESZEHEEHERER
ARRFBITTF—RBRRAGRIE

EZgREARAIEKRZEELRAR
WL EA2MEESN - TRFINAEF
BAPBHEEENETER :

Job Responsibilities and

Date of Relationship with
Name Age Position/Title appointment(s) other Directors
HE Fie WAL B EZEBH BEREAGWESHER
Executive Directors HI{TESE
Wang Xuguang 49 Executive Director 19 July 2012 Primarily responsible for the overall
FhEHx and Chief Executive —E——F management of the Group. He
Officer +tA+AR also serves as a member of the
HITESER remuneration committee.
TR AR FTEAEAEENTEERIE-
RITRFMEEGKE -
Qu Cheng 30 Executive Director 25 May 2016 Mainly participating in the
iz BITES —T—RF discussion of corporate
AA=-+HA development strategies and

project investment.
He is the son of Mr. Qu Naijie.
FELEPEBRRRBKIR
EEREFHEER -
RAMDREENTZF -
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Job Responsibilities and

Date of Relationship with
Name Age Position/Title appointment(s) other Directors
HE FEe BB BZERH BEREAMEEWEEF
Gao Jie 45 Executive Director and 25 May 2016 Primarily responsible for business
(SE Executive President —T—RF development and daily
HITESER HAZ+HA operations management.
MITHRE TEREXRBERM

Non-executive Directors JEEITESE

Qu Naijie 57 Non-executive Director
7R and Chairman

FMITEERER
Makoto Inoue 65 Non-executive Director
HE= EMITES

21 November 2011
—E——4F
+—A=+—H

19 July 2012
T 4F

tHA+NA

AEESEETIIE-

Primarily responsible for the overall
strategic planning and
overseeing the general corporate,
financial and compliance affairs
of the Group. He also serves
as a member of the nomination
committee.

He is the father of Mr. Qu Cheng.

TEAEREBRBRINEE
REBE—REE  HBR
BHREE  BIAIRS

R AR R -

Primarily responsible for the
strategic planning for and
overseeing of the general
corporate, financial and
compliance affairs of the Group.

FTEEERBREANEEAEE
—REE  MBLREREE -
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Job Responsibilities and

Date of Relationship with
Name Age Position/Title appointment(s) other Directors
HH FEe BB BZEERH BEREAMESWEEF
Yuan Bing 49 Non-executive Director 24 August 2012 Primarily responsible for the
=E EMITES T F strategic planning for and
ANAZ+MH overseeing of the general

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITES

Chen Guohui 62 25 January 2017
ok 5 pE8 —T—+F
—A-+EH

Independent Non-
executive Director

BUIRAITES

corporate, financial and
compliance affairs of the Group.
He also serves as the chairman of
the risk management and
corporate governance committee.

I2EERBRINEELAEE

—RE BBRARER -
BT AR E IR &
CEERZBEETRE -

Serving as the chairman of the

audit committees and a member
of the remuneration, risk
management and corporate
governance and independent
board committees; primarily
responsible for supervising and
providing independent judgment
to the Board.

BREGZZEGIR LM -

Rk EEMERERR
BUEEZEEKE
IZREEBEARAEEENR

ARELIR B H T o
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Job Responsibilities and

Date of Relationship with
Name Age Position/Title appointment(s) other Directors
HE FEe BB BZERH BEREAMEEWEEF
Sun Jianyi 65 Independent Non- 23 February 2014  Serving as the chairman of the
BiE— executive Director —T—MmF remuneration and independent
BAEMITES —A=-+=8 board committees and a member

of the audit and nomination
committees; primarily responsible
for supervising and providing
independent judgment to the
Board.

RAFHMEBIEEEZESFER
EZMRREZEGNE
TEABEEEARRESS
MR EARMIB T HIE -

Zhang Meng 54 Independent Non- 25 January 2017 Serving as a member of the audit,
RE executive Director —T—+F nomination, risk management
BYIENITES —A-+HEB and corporate governance and

independent board committees;
primarily responsible for
supervising and providing
independent judgment to the
Board.

BAEZ  RE  RREER
TrEEBRBYESEZES
KB FEBEEEARRAR

ExehREREHE A -
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Wang Xuguang, aged 49, was appointed to the Board on 19
July 2012 and designated as an executive Director on 23 February
2014. Mr. Wang is also the Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
primarily responsible for the overall management of the Group. Mr.
Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics and investment
management at Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (81t
B €K E8) in Dalian in July 1990. He was awarded a master’s degree
in international laws by Dalian Maritime University (A& /525 A £)
in April 2002.

After graduation from university, Mr. Wang worked in the Dalian
Branch of the China Construction Bank for more than 16 years until
he became the deputy branch manager, during which he developed
his extensive knowledge and experience in real estate financing.
Mr. Wang then joined Dalian Haichang (Group) Co., Ltd (“Haichang
Group Co") in February 2007 as a director and the president. He
was further appointed as a director and the general manager of
Dalian Haichang Corporation Development Co., Ltd. (“Haichang
Corporation Development”) in February 2010. From October 2010
to February 2012, he also served as the president of Dalian Haichang
Real Estate Group Co., Ltd. (“Haichang Real Estate”). Mr. Wang was
appointed as a director of Haichang (China) Co., Ltd. (“Haichang
China”) in October 2011 and was promoted to the chairman of the
Board in July 2012 and President of the Company in April 2013.
In July 2012, he was also appointed as a director of Haichang
Holdings (Asia) Ltd. (“Haichang Asia BVI”) and Haichang Holdings
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Haichang Holdings HK"). Currently, he is
also serving as a non-executive director of Haichang Group Co and
Haichang Corporation Development. Mr. Wang is the vice president
of the Chamber of Commerce in Dalian (AEFAREE) and a
representative of the People’s Congress of Dalian Municipality (X

ETARKEKRAR).

HITES

EFBX 49 R-TE——FLtATh
FEZEREFEXRE IR _F—NO
F_AZT=BHREBR/ATESF - £
EETR/ARRARITRAR  TE2BEXRN
SENEZEEEIFE - R -NANEF
TAERBEBSRIEMERERELHE
EREXRETEMN 2R R _FT
“FNABRESERERTEEREE
BRBETMFRERM -

REBEEE  TRAECTHERBRERRIT
KEDITIEEI6F  BEEETHTE
TR EWHBE TLEEESTEBE
MESTHEHMBZANEREH 2% £
HER—_ZEZ+FEF_AMAKRBEESE
BERAR (BEEERRA])  EEE
EHRBH YR _FT—ZFTF_A E—
TEZEEEARESECEBREERA
A(BECXER]) EFHEKE - =
T-TF+AE-_FT——F - AHHE -
tWEEXESERMELEEARR QT
(BERME]) EEFBH—B - x4
RZE——F+AEZEAEE (FH)
ERAR (BEFH]) £F - RZFT—
—FE+TRAEARESEEF UR_ZF
—=—FMOABEABRARRBE - —_F—
ZFEA TRAEEWRETATARABELER
(M) BRAE (HgEMBVI]) f)E
BER (BE) BRAR(EEERSE
B WEE - BRI A RBESER
ARBECEERNIENTES - T%&
AR RRNETEEGREGR  UERKE
MARRERREREK -
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Qu Cheng, aged 30, was appointed to the Board and designated
as an executive Director on 25 May 2016. Mr. Qu Cheng is the
son of Mr. Qu Naijie, a non-executive Director and Chairman of
the Board. Mr. Qu obtained a bachelor’s degree in geography from
King’s College the University of London in July 2010, and he is
fluent in Chinese, English, French and Latin. While in college, Mr. Qu
had internships at a number of well-known international financial
institutions. From December 2012 to October 2013, he served at the
headquarters of the Global Commercial and Alternative Investment
of Orix Group, mainly responsible for fund management, fund
investment, strategic and financial investment, project financing
and financial consultancy, etc.. From November 2013, he started
to familiarize himself with the business segments of the Company
and its subsidiaries, and mainly participated in discussions about
corporate development strategy and project investment.

Gao Jie, aged 45, has been appointed as an executive director since
May 2016. He is also the executive president of the Company. He
is primarily responsible for business development and management
of daily operations. Mr. Gao obtained a bachelor’s degree in
management information system from Dalian Maritime University
(KEBFEAS) in Dalian in July 1995 and a master's degree in
industrial economics from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics (ALETAE A Z2) in Dalian in November 1999.

Mr. Gao has over 21 years of experience in finance, banking and
investment. Mr. Gao was appointed as general manager of the
investment strategy department of Dalian Haichang (Group) Co.,
Ltd. and Dalian Haichang Corporation Development Co., Ltd. in
November 2007 and March 2010, respectively, and his main duties
ranged from strategy development, analysis of the investment
market, maintenance of relationships with financial institutions
and investors to exploration of new areas for investment. From
April 2013 to November 2015, he served as the chief investment
officer of the Company and concurrently the general manager of
the corporation development department, responsible for strategy
formation, investment management, investor relations and legal and
internal control compliance. In November 2015, he was appointed
as the executive president and chief strategy officer of the Company,
responsible for the business development and daily operations
management of the Company.

B 30 RZE—A"FRA=-+H
HEZTAZEETENE U LW TS AR
TESE HELERARFENTES
FREFBMDOAEENT T BEERZ
T-TF+AERERAXNEZETER
EiSwEBEBE L8N WHRFP -« %
ERBRAT X o KSR hhEEE D
MEERZREBANGSREE K=
T ——_F+AE-ZT—=F+A b
RBABNTEE2REERDERE
BwE o FTAEEHSER EEKRE
REEERMEEE - HERE  MBE
MEXK - BT —=F+— A8 b
FRE2EAAERDARENBARET
BEBRR FELHECEBERRES
W HERESETEER -

BAC4ASE BT AFRHAELRE
BRITEE - BMABRRDRRITEE -
HEZEEXEREENMAREZERET
EemEtER—NMNAFLtAEREE
BREBEALETEEERGELE
- TR—AWANF+—REREEE
REILEFERE  BEEXLSESEL
By o

BEAETESR  RIOTKKREER T EE
BRNFNER - R_ETLF+—H
FZE-—ZTF=F "rtESREERME
ARESEERERARRNEFE D
XERARAANKREBB I BLE -
TEZEEE2HEMABREHE . 2MKRET
5 HFHCREBRREENRE -
UERAEFHNREERDS R —=F
WAZz-_Z—RF+—AHHE T
NERERE  URFLEZRRILL
B BERKEHE REER KEE
ARERMEERANEERETE N2 —
AF+—AEADARRARIRITHATIE
BREEEE AEAREBERNAE
BEEBIE-
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Qu Naijie, aged 57, was appointed to the Board on 21 November
2011 and designated as a non-executive Director on 23 February
2014. Qu Naijie is the father of Mr. Qu Cheng, an executive Director
of the Company. Qu Naijie is the founder of the Group, Chairman
of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the Company. He is
primarily responsible for the overall strategic planning, the general
corporate and financial and compliance affairs of the Group. Qu
Naijie obtained a bachelor’s degree in Chinese Language from
Liaoning University ((BZAXZ) in Shenyang in December 1992
and completed a research master’s degree program in enterprise
management at Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (&
1B #E R E) in Dalian in July 1998.

Qu Naijie has over 20 years of experience in corporation management
and operations. Qu Naijie commenced oil trading business in 1993
and in order to get involved in the real estate development industry
and he established Haichang Group Co in 1998. From November
1996 to July 2012, Qu Naijie had been serving as the chairman of
the board of directors of Haichang China and has been a director
since then. In December 2000, he was appointed as a director of
Dalian Laohutan. In 2002, Haichang Group Co and Hutan Park
through Dalian Laohutan together developed Dalian Laohutan Polar
Aquarium, which was rated as a 5A tourist attraction by CNTA in
June 2007 and drove the development of the tourist attractions
development industry in Dalian. Following the success of the Dalian
Laohutan Polar Aquarium, from 2002 to 2012, Qu Naijie further led
the development of seven different theme parks across the PRC.
He was appointed as a director of Haichang Asia BVI and Haichang
Holdings HK in 2011 and the chairman of the boards of directors of
both companies in September 2013. Qu Naijie is also serving as an
executive director of Haichang Group Co and Haichang Corporation
Development, as well as a director of most of our operating
subsidiaries, including Yantai Fishermen’s Wharf Investment Co.,
Ltd. (“Yantai Fishermen”), Tianjin Polar Tourism Co., Ltd. (“Tianjin
Polar”), Wuhan Polar and Chengdu Polar.

FHITES
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Makoto Inoue, aged 65, was appointed to the Board on 19 July
2012 and designated as a non-executive Director on 23 February
2014. He is primarily responsible for the strategic planning for and
overseeing of the general corporate, financial and compliance affairs
of the Group. Mr. Inoue obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from
the Faculty of Law of Chuo University in Japan in March 1975.

Mr. Inoue has over 41 years of experience in leasing and finance,
investment banking, and alternative investment in a global context.
He joined ORIX Corporation (formerly known as “Orient Leasing
Co., Ltd.”) in April 1975 and is currently a director, representative
executive officer and president of ORIX Corporation, a company
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange
and New York Stock Exchange. Mr. Inoue had been serving as a
director of Lanka ORIX Leasing Company PLC, a company listed
on the Colombo Stock Exchange, Sri Lanka, from 2009 to 2011
and he had also been serving as a director of EnTie Commercial
Bank Co. Ltd.,
Corporation, from 2007 to 2012; during his appointments, he took

a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange

part in the overall strategic management and planning of both
companies. In January 2010, Mr. Inoue was appointed as a director
of Haichang Corporation Development. Currently, he is also serving
as a non-executive director of China Water Affairs Group Limited
(Stock Code: 0855), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange.

Yuan Bing, aged 49, was appointed to the Board on 24 August
2012 and designated as a non-executive Director on 23 February
2014. He is primarily responsible for the strategic planning for
and overseeing of the general corporate, financial and compliance
affairs of the Group. Mr. Yuan graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in English from Nanjing University (F 5 A2) in July 1990. In June
1993 and October 1998, Mr. Yuan obtained a master’s degree in
international relations and a doctorate degree in law from Yale
University in the United States, respectively.

HEZ 65 RZE——F+HA+Ah
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Mr. Yuan has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment banking. Mr. Yuan joined Credit Suisse First Boston
(Hong Kong) Limited in September 2001 as a vice president of
its investment banking division. From April 2004 to June 2006,
Mr. Yuan worked at Morgan Stanley Asia Limited. He rejoined the
company in October 2006 and stayed until February 2009, where
he served as a managing director in the fixed income division. Mr.
Yuan joined the Hong Kong office of Hony Capital Limited in April
2009 as a director and has been serving as a managing director
since January 2010, in charge of cross-border transactions as well as
direct investments in financial services and environmental protection
sectors in Hong Kong. He is a non-executive director and a member
of the audit committee of Hydoo International Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1396) and was a non-executive director of Hospital
Corporation of China Limited (Stock Code: 3869) from December
2015 to May 2017, both companies are listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange. Currently, Mr. Yuan is also serving as a director
of Haichang Asia BVI, Haichang Holdings HK and Haichang China.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Chen Guohui, aged 62, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2017. He is mainly responsible
for supervising and providing independent judgment to the Board.
He is currently the principal of Dalian University of Finance and
Economics of China, as well as a professor and a doctoral supervisor
of the School of Accounting of Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics of China. He is entitled to the special government
allowances of the State Council of China. Prof. Chen has been
working in Dongbei University of Finance and Economics for more
than 31 years since he started his career in 1982. He was the deputy
director of the Department of Accounting of Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics from 1988 to 1995, and the director of the
Dean’s Office of the same school from 1995 to 2001. From 2001
to 2013, he was the secretary and dean of the Jingiao Commercial
College of Dongbei University of Finance & Economics. From 2013
until now, he has been the principal of Dalian University of Finance
and Economics. Prof. Chen has been principally engaged in the
teaching and administration of accounting for years and made a
series of achievements in teaching and scientific research. He has
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published more than 100 academic essays on journals such as
Accounting Research, Research on Financial and Economic Issues,
and Finance & Accounting and has published 4 master works. He
also published certain textbooks, led and completed certain research
programs at the provincial level, and participated in and completed
three major programs including National Natural Science Foundation
of China and National Social Science Foundation of China as a
main participant. In recent years, he won certain provincial prizes
and was awarded as the outstanding educator for several times.
In 2003, Basic Accountancy, a course launched by Prof. Chen, was
recognized as the first batch of national essential courses by the
Ministry of Education of China, and became a model for a number
of universities and colleges in China.

Sun Jianyi, aged 65, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 23 February 2014. He is primarily
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to the Board. Mr. Sun obtained a diploma in finance at Zhongnan
University of Economics and Law (F & BF & AKX E) in December
1975. He was recognised as a senior economist by the Guangdong
Province (EHR& AEEE) in July 1999. Mr. Sun is currently senior
vice chairman and deputy general manager of Ping An Insurance
(Group) Company of China, Ltd (F Bl 2R (£E) B ER A F)
(Stock Code: 2318.HK and 601318.SH), a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange and Shanghai Stock Exchange.
Mr. Sun was a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd (&
BHEZER M AR R A]) (Stock Code: 2202.HK and 000002.52) from
June 1995 to June 2017, a company listed on the Stock Exchange
and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Furthermore, since June 2008,
Mr. Sun has been serving as a council member of the Association
for Relations Across the Taiwan Straits (UK R = BEHS).
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Zhang Meng, aged 54, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 25 January 2017. She is mainly
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgment
to the Board of Directors. Prof. Zhang is a doctor, a professor and
a doctoral supervisor of economics, and the dean of the Research
Institute of Tourism Management of the Southwestern University of
Finance and Economics of China. She currently acts as a member
of the Consultative Committee for the Tourism Management
Profession under the Ministry of Education of China, an academic
and technology leader of the Sichuan Province of China. Prof.
Zhang obtained a bachelor of science degree from the Physics
Faculty of Southwest China Normal University in 1986 and obtained
a master's degree and a doctor's degree of economics from the
School of Economics (the Faculty of Economics) of the Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics of China in 1997 and 2005
respectively. From 1998 to present, she has been principally engaged
in the teaching and research of tourism management and has
produced a series of influential research results in fields such as
the competitiveness of the regional tourism industry, the behaviors
of tourism consumers and the intercultural comparison of tourism,
thereby winning wide recognition in the domestic academic industry.
Currently, she leads certain scientific researches such as a (general)
programme of National Natural Science Foundation of China,
a project of the Humanities and Social Sciences Planning Fund
under the Ministry of Education of China, a project of the Soft
Science Fund of the Department of Science of Sichuan of China, a
project of the Fund of Philosophy and Social Sciences of Sichuan of
China. Prof. Zhang is devoted to the construction of the platform
for high-level decision and consultation of tourism management,
including being responsible for construction of the tourism research
bases such as universities and colleges and tourism bureaus in
Sichuan, China and their respective teams. She has completed
certain research reports for the governmental departments and
enterprises such as the tourism bureaus in the cities in Sichuan,
China and has been actively providing policy recommendations and
decision consultations for local governments and enterprises.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The senior management is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the business. The following table sets out certain
information concerning the senior management:

SREEE
= 4 EEEEEF%E\/\_j%;I%E"] HEERE-
TRV EESLEREEBENETER

Name Age Position/Title
mA FiR LAV 4]
Li Xin 45 Chief Financial Officer
=3 BEMKE
Liu Jiabin 48 Chief Operation Officer, Senior Project Manager and
2508 Senior Business Management Director
ERELERIEEESMAENEXEESREE
Tan Guangyuan 45 Senior Director of Operation Center
BT BEERLOSREE
Zheng Fang 40 Senior Director of Marketing Center
Loy BT OB R E
Li Changxia 37 Senior Director of Product Center
28 EmPOeRias
Zhang Xueyi 54 Senior Director of Engineering Center
REE ITRRPLRTEE
Li Jun 36 Senior Director of Enterprise Development Center
FE TEZERPOEREE

Li Xin, aged 45, had been serving as the financial controller
since April 2013, and was appointed as the chief financial officer
in November 2015. He is primarily responsible for financial
management. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in industrial
economics from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (4t
B €K E8) in Dalian in July 1995. He also obtained a master's degree
in law from Jilin University (F#A£2) in Jilin in July 2003.
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Mr. Li has over 21 years of experience in finance and taxation. Mr.
Li had been serving as an officer in the first investigation bureau of
the Dalian Municipal Local Taxation Bureau between August 1995
and August 2002, where he was responsible for the investigation
and examination works. In June 2002, Mr. Li became the general
manager of the planning and finance department of Haichang
Group Co. His responsibilities include, financial management system
development, budget formation, assets management, investment
and financial reporting and management. In March 2010, Mr. Li
was appointed as the general manager of the planning and finance
department of Haichang Corporation Development, where he also
started to serve as the chief financial officer in December 2010.
In April 2013, he was appointed as the chief financial officer and
the general manager of the planning and finance department of
Haichang China.

Liu Jiabin, aged 48, had been serving as the project construction
director since April 2013 and was appointed as the chief operation
officer, senior project manager and senior business management
director in November 2015. He is primarily responsible for the
daily development and construction and operation management
of the direct value-added business of the Company, and also
responsible for the overall management of the Company’s goods,
restaurants, hotels, secondary development of entertainment
project management and commercial rental management as well
as staff management of the center. Mr. Liu completed Executive
Master in Business Administration at Dongbei University of Finance
and Economics (B4LBF4EKE2) in Dalian in December 2014, and
obtained a master’s degree.
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Mr. Liu has over 11 years of experience in property development
and management. Mr. Liu joined Haichang Group Co in September
2002 as the deputy manager of the resources department and he
was responsible for establishing the supply chain for the company.
He subsequently served as the general manager of Jiamusi Haixin
Housing Development Co., Ltd. (FE/RHT ST EE M BR A 7)) from
June 2004 to May 2006 and he was responsible for the overall
management of the company. From May 2006 to April 2007,
he served as general manager of Tianjin Polar and the general
manager of tourism development and management department
of Haichang Group Co in April 2007, from November 2007 to
July 2009, he served as the general manager of Chengdu Polar,
where he was responsible for establishing the strategic goals and
operation model for the company. From March 2010 to February
2013, Mr. Liu served as the general manager of Dalian Fisherman’s
Wharf Development and Construction Co., Ltd. (K& B K EBR2
ERARAD

Since May 2012, Mr. Liu has been serving as the vice president

|]), a project company owned by Haichang Real Estate.

of Haichang Real Estate and he is responsible for overseeing the
management of bidding, purchasing, property and commercial
operation department. Since April 2013, he has been serving as
the project construction director and the general manager of the
engineering management department of Haichang China.

Tan Guangyuan, aged 45, served as the technical director
since April 2013 and was appointed as the senior operation
director in November 2015. He is primarily responsible for the
overall management of the Company’s existing project operation,
commercial street properties, animal husbandry and performing &
arts management as well as staff management of the operation
centre. Mr. Tan obtained a bachelor’s degree in thermal turbine from
the Dalian University of Technology (KiEIZT REZ) in July 1993.
He later completed a PhD course in law at the China University of
Political Science and Law (FF BIBUE R ER) in May 2009 and a research
Master in Public Administration (MPA) program at the Party School
of Liaoning Provincial Party Committee of the Communist Party of
China (FEIEEEZER) in December 2009. In 2006 and 2013,
Mr. Tan attended the training courses in the job duties of general
manager and senior management organized by CNTA. He was
awarded the professional training certificates by CNTA in August
2006 and August 2013 respectively.
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Mr. Tan has over 17 years of experience in the tourism industry.
From 1993 to 1999, Mr. Tan worked as a technician at the Dalian
City Construction and Management Bureau (KB mEREHE
/&) and from 1999 to 2000, he worked as an office manager of
the reconstruction headquarters at the Laohutan Bay in Dalian
where he was responsible for coordinating the daily works of the
reconstruction office. Mr. Tan joined Hutan Park in January 2000 as
an office manager and was then appointed as the deputy general
manager of Dalian Laohutan as a representative of Hutan Park
in March 2003 to oversee the operation and administration of
Dalian Laohutan Polar Aquarium, facilities engineering and animal
management. He was later promoted as the general manager in
March 2008 and was responsible for the overall management of the
company. Meanwhile, he also became a director of Dalian Laohutan
and has been involved in making strategic decisions for the company
since then. From 2011 to 2013, Mr. Tan had been serving as the
vice president of Haichang Travel and he was responsible for making
strategic decisions and managing the human resources, strategic
planning and procurement departments. Since April 2013, Mr. Tan
served as the technical director of Haichang China. Mr. Tan became
the vice group leader of the aquarium standards development
leading small group of the National Aquatic Wildlife Conservation
Association (EBIKAFEEHYRESDZ) in March 2010, the vice
president of the same Association in April 2011 and a guest member
of the European Union of Acquisition Curators in October 2011.
He also serves as an advisor to the Japanese Cetaceans Center (H

ARG,

Zheng Fang, aged 40, had been serving as the marketing director
since April 2013 and was appointed as the senior director of
marketing center in November 2015. She is primarily responsible
for the management of the sales and marketing centre. Ms. Zheng
obtained a bachelor’s degree in investment economics from Liaoning
University (2 K &) in Shenyang in July 1999.
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Ms. Zheng has over 16 years of experience in investment, corporate
finance and management. Ms. Zheng joined Haichang Group Co
in June 2000 as the finance manager of the capital department,
where she served until March 2006 and was responsible for
the coordination, control and tracing of cash, development and
implementation of financing plans, development and enhancement
of financing channels and provision of supporting skills. In March
2006, she joined Dalian Laohutan as the deputy general manager.
She had then become a director of Dalian Laohutan since March
2008 and was promoted as the general manager in April 2011.
During her employment, her duties were to develop and implement
the annual operation plan and to promote our Company to the
market. Since April 2013, she has been appointed as the marketing
director of Haichang China. In August 2011, she was appointed as a
director of the Liaoning Province Wildlife Conservation Association
EELHLEDVRERS)

was appointed as a committee member of the 9th Committee of

. Furthermore, in December 2012, she

the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference of Zhongshan
District, Dalian City.

Li Changxia, aged 37, was appointed as senior director of
product center since November 2016. She is mainly responsible
for the transformation and upgrading and strategic research of the
Company'’s stock project and investment feasibility study, positioning
planning and planning and design of various reserve projects and
new projects, which mainly including development of tourism
and leisure products, cultural IP products, interactive technology
products, and is responsible for the overall management of the
product center (Culture and Tourism Institute). Ms. Li received a
bachelor's degree of economic geography from the Urban and
Regional Economics Department of East China Normal University
in 2003, and subsequently obtained a master degree of human
geography from the Urban and Regional Planning Department of
Peking University in 2006. She won the ASLA International Award
in 2015, the AECOM Annual Design Award in 2009 and the Youth
Award of the Global Academic Conference of Chinese Geographers
and she has published 13 professional papers on the core journals
in China.
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Ms. Li joined the Company in February 2016 and was appointed as
director of the Institute of Cultural Tourism. Ms. Li has more than
11 years of work experience in one of the world’s top-class planning
and design consultancy companies, in which she has participated
and led dozens of urban planning and tourism development
planning projects. She is proficient at market analysis and evaluation
on economic feasibility, function and operating status positioning,
product design, finance/profitability of tourist resort and theme
park development projects of different scales, and has accumulated
abundant team management experience.

Zhang Xueyi, aged 54, has been the design director of the
engineering center since April 2017 and the senior director of the
engineering center since December 2017 and is mainly responsible
for the overall management of the engineering center. Mr. Zhang
obtained a master’s degree in structural engineering from Dalian
University of Technology in December 1987 and a master’s degree
in business administration from Dongbei University of Finance and
Economics in June 2003.

Mr. Zhang has more than 20 years of real estate development
management experience. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Zhang served
as the deputy general manager of Dalian Yuanda Group Company
(KiERAERBAF), and presided over the development and
construction of Yuanda Building. From 2000 to 2002, he served as
deputy general manager of Dalian Haichang Housing Development
Company (REBFEFEEMRZER
and cost management, and participated in the development and
construction of Haichangxincheng Project (8EXKIEE); from
2002 to 2010, he served as the deputy general manager of

Al), in charge of engineering, design

Dalian Friendship Hesheng Real Estate Development Company (&
EEARHERER
management, and participated in the development and construction
of the Yipin Xinghai Project (EmZ/83EH). Since October 2010,
Mr. Zhang started to serve as the vice president of Dalian Haichang

R]), in charge of engineering, design and cost

Real Estate Group Company, in charge of engineering, design and
cost management.
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Li Jun, aged 36, has been appointed as senior director of corporate
development center since December 2017 and is responsible for the
company’s project development, investment and capital markets,
legal affairs, investor relations and overall job management of
its internal staff. Mr. Li obtained a bachelor’s degree in law from
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics in 2003 and a master’s
degree in business administration from the same university in 2013.
Mr. Li holds a PRC legal professional qualification certificate.

Mr. Lee has over 14 years of legal, investment and capital operation
experience. Mr. Li joined Haichang Group as investment manager in
investment strategy department in April 2007 and a senior manager
in investment strategy department of Dalian Haichang Corporation
Development Co., Ltd. since February 2010, and served as the
deputy general manager and general manager of the Company’s
corporate development department from April 2013 to 2016. Since
December 2016, Mr. Lee serves as the corporate development
director of the Company’s corporate development center and
presides over the center’s work. Mr. Li participated in the planning
and implementation of a number of significant investments in the
Company, restructuring of major shareholding structures, equity
financing and listing.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Liu Chao, aged 37, has been appointed as the company secretary
(the "Company Secretary”) and the authorised representative of the
Company with effect from 29 October 2017.

Mr. Liu joined the Group in 2011 and currently serves as the finance
and investor relations manager of the Company. He is primarily
responsible for corporate governance, compliance, information
disclosure, investor relations management and other aspects of
the listed companies. He is a member of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the International Association of
Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr. Liu obtains a master’s degree in business (banking
and finance) from Monash University in Australia.
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The Directors are pleased to present their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2017.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in development and operation of
theme parks and ancillary commercial properties in the PRC. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the principal activities
of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2017
are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2017 and a discussion on the Group's future business development
are provided in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 10 to 13 and
the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 14 to 26 of this
annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the reporting period
using key financial performance indicators is provided in the Financial
Highlights on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. A discussion on
the Company’s environmental policies and performance is set out
in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 27 to
73 of this annual report. A discussion on the Company’s compliance
with the relevant laws and regulation is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report or pages 124 to 149 of this annual report.

The discussions referred to above form part of this Directors’ Report.

HUSBANDRY AND CARE OF ANIMALS

1. International and domestic standards serving
as the basis for the purchase of animals

In the process of importing animals from abroad, the Group
has fully complied with relevant laws and regulations of the
PRC and the animal exporting countries (regions) in strict
accordance with the procedures as required by the competent
authorities.
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The following table shows the procedures to be followed and
the qualification documents to be obtained in the course of

importing animals.

Animal importing
procedures

BYEORE

Name of document

XtH&H
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TRETHEASEEESYIES
BRRMERNREMSGARGHE
B fF e

Institution to review and approve

Efte

Obtaining import and
export permits

Obtaining import
quarantine certificate

BS# DR RF B S

Provincial or national
approvals

B AR K AR XX

“CITES Permit” or
“Certificate for
Non-regulated Species”

CGEOCITES) sk {WiEE
D)

“Certificate for Animal
Quarantine Premises”
(PRBEZHEHLER)

“Import Quarantine

Certificate”
O T Al 8 )

Reporting to the national department in charge of
forestry and fishery for administrative review and
approval upon review and approval by the provincial
department in charge of forestry and fishery
EARERMESRREEFBPIFILR FRBRME
SRR EE BPIETITRELL
The Endangered Species Import and Export
Management Office or jurisdictional office to issue
the certificates

BIZ R Y OB IR

2K
L=

RERERIPFERIZE

Municipal animal quarantine departments to verify,
review and approve post-entry animal quarantine

premises
mARREBPIEB Y ERRRSMETRERL
Upon review and approval by the provincial

department in charge of animal quarantine, reporting
to the General Administration of Quality Supervision,
Inspection and Quarantine for review and approval
and, when approved, the provincial department in
charge of animal quarantine to issue certificates

RAALRBYRRMPERLR LREREEEER
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Animal importing

procedures Name of document
BYEORE XHEB EHHAE

Institution to review and approve

Obtaining tax exemption  “Tax Exemption

Reporting to the Endangered Species Import and
Export Management Office for review and approval

upon review and approval by the provincial

department in charge of forestry and fishery

certificate Certificate”
NERHERE (RTER)

RHERMESCRR T EBFIERR EREZRER

WREEL O EBRAEETEL

“Tax Exemption Certificate Territorial customs office to issue the certificates

for Goods”

(EMRBBERE)

Obtaining customs “Customs Clearance”

BB RRHEZE T R &R

The owner to submit a bill of entry when the goods are

clearance imported and the inspection and customs department

to issue customs clearance upon inspection

RS EaEE (CBHEE)

EYEAR

BT RRMEE - LR NER AR

RRRZRBRER

International and domestic standards serving
as the basis for the rearing of animals

In terms of animal rearing administration, the Group has
formulated the Haichang Animal Management Standards
("HASM"), taking reference to some sections in the regulations
of the U.S. Department of Agriculture (USDA) concerning
the administration of marine mammals, and based on the
requirements of the industry standards such as rearing facilities
and water quality of aquatic mammals issued by the Chinese
Ministry of Agriculture. This standard include environment
standard, water quality standard, facility standard, feeds and
additives standard, body indicator standard, as well as conduct
standards such as feeding, training and medical care for animal
rearing, setting out regulations on every aspect involved in
animal rearing from protection system and service system.
HAMS is the existing management standard of the Group in
animal rearing management.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 are
set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 163
of this annual report.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend payment of any dividend in respect
of the year ended 31 December 2017.

FIVE YEAR'S FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out in the section headed
“Financial Highlights” in this annual report.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The net proceeds from the listing (the “Listing”) of the Shares of
the Company on the Stock Exchange, after deducting underwriting
fees and related expenses, amounted to approximately HK$2,374.4
million and they were applied in the manner disclosed in the
prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of the Company dated 28 February
2014.

The balance of the unutilised proceeds, deposited in normal
interest bearing saving accounts, is expected to be applied by the
Company as stated in the section headed “Future Plans and Use
of Proceeds” of the Prospectus. Based on the current progress of
Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park and Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town
projects, including site selection, land grant, planning and design,
and construction works, the Company has used part of the proceeds
to pay part of the land transferring fees and construction costs for
Shanghai Haichang Ocean Park and Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town
projects. In addition, the Directors will consider utilising the unused
portion of proceeds from the Listing to repay the Company’s existing
bank loans and other borrowings and interests accrued thereon if
they are of the view that it is commercially desirable and in the
interests of the shareholders as a whole for the Company to do so.
The Company has obtained the facility arrangements provided by
the related banks to ensure sufficient financial support for Shanghai
Haichang Ocean Park and Sanya Haichang Fantasy Town projects.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the percentage of
purchases attributable to the Group’s major suppliers are as follows:

- the largest supplier: 2.8%
- five largest suppliers in aggregate: 9.2%

The percentages of sales for the year attributable to the Group’s
major customers are as follows:

- the largest customer: 5.8%
- five largest customers in aggregate: 20.6%

As far as the Company is aware, none of the Directors nor his
connected persons and none of the shareholders possessing over
5% of the interest in the capital of the Company possessed any
interest in the abovementioned suppliers and customers.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Company and the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017
are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme by
the written resolutions of the shareholders of the Company on
23 February 2014 (the “Share Option Scheme”). Pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme, the Directors may, at its absolute discretion,
invite any eligible person to take up options to subscribe for Shares
subject to the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme.
The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to grant options to
selected participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the Company.
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The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
adopted by the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the
share capital of the Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of the Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of all options (excluding, for this purpose, options
which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company) to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
scheme of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 2% of the
Shares in issue on the date of the Listing, being 80,000,000 Shares
("General Scheme Limit").

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon the exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company
(including both exercised or outstanding options) to each grantee
in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share
capital of the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit").
Any further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such further grant
must be separately approved by the Shareholders in general meeting
of the Company with such grantee and his close associates (or his
associates if he is a connected person) abstaining from voting.

The subscription price for the Shares under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall not be less
than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for trade in one or more
board lots of the Shares on the date of the offer for the grant, which
must be a business day; (ii) the average closing price of Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer for the
grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a Share.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years commencing on the date on which the Share Option Scheme
is adopted.
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An option may be accepted by a participant within 21 days from the
date of the offer of grant of the option. An option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any
time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors
to each grantee, which period may commence from the date of the
offer for the grant of options is made, but shall end in any event
not later than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject
to the provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise
determined by the Directors and stated in the offer for the grant of
options to a grantee, there is no minimum period required under
the Share Option Scheme for the holding of an option before it can
be exercised. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an option.

No share options were granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under
the Share Option Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2017
and no expenses were recognised by the Group for 2017 (2016: nil).

MANAGEMENT TRUST

Mr. Qu Naijie set up a management trust (the “Management Trust”)
in January 2014. The Management Trust is a revocable discretionary
trust settled by Mr. Qu Naijie as settlor with Cantrust (Far East)
Limited as trustee for the purposes of recognising and rewarding
the contributions of certain eligible persons (the “Beneficiaries”).
Speedy Journey Investment Limited is holding the Shares as nominee
for Cantrust (Far East) Limited as trustee of the Management Trust
and Speedy Journey Investment Limited is 100% owned by Cantrust
(Far East) Limited as trustee of the Management Trust. As at 31
December 2017, Speedy Journey Investment Limited is interested
in 127,756,000 Shares, representing approximately 3.19% of the
issued share capital of the Company.
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It is the intention of Mr. Qu Naijie and the trustee that the
Beneficiaries of the Management Trust to include Mr. Qu Naijie
himself and a group of eligible persons who had contributed or
will contribute to the development and operations of the Group.
The group of eligible persons comprises persons who are currently
employees of the Group and any such persons who have contributed
or will contribute to the operations and development of the Group,
and these Beneficiaries may hold up to approximately 3.19% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Cantrust (Far East) Limited as
trustee has the discretionary powers to, among others, allocate all
or a portion of the trust fund of the Management Trust (including
the Shares held by Speedy Journey Investment Limited), but Mr. Qu
Naijie, as settlor of the Management Trust, may request Cantrust
(Far East) Limited as trustee to make distributions of such Shares to
one or more Beneficiaries, including himself. For the year ended 31
December 2017, no decision had been made by Mr. Qu Naijie or
the trustee with respect to any such distribution.

RESERVES

Details of movement in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of this annual report
and in note 35 and note 45 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December
2017, calculated under the Companies Law, amounted to
RMB2,732,154,000 representing share premium and capital
reserves of RMB2,800,122,000, setting off by accumulated losses
of RMB67,968,000.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and
the Group as at 31 December 2017 are set out in note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in office during the financial year and up to the date
of this annual report were as follows:

Executive Directors

Wang Xuguang (Chief Executive Officer)
Qu Cheng
Gao Jie (Executive President)

Non-executive Directors

Qu Naijie (Chairman)
Makoto Inoue
Yuan Bing

Independent Non-executive Directors

Chen Guohui

(appointed on 25 January 2017)
Sun Jianyi
Zhang Meng

(appointed on 25 January 2017)
Fang Hongxing

(resigned on 25 January 2017)
Xie Yanjun

(resigned on 25 January 2017)

In accordance with article 16.18 of the Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or if their number is
not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and shall be eligible to
offer themselves for re-election. Mr. Gao Jie, Mr. Qu Naijie and
Mr. Makoto Inoue will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual
general meeting to be held on 16 May 2018.

BOARD OF
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR

Group are set out on pages 74 to 91 of this annual report.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received the annual confirmation of each of the
independent non-executive Directors of his or her independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive Directors to be independent
in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Articles of Association provide that every Director shall be
entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company
against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a
Director in defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal,
in which judgment is given in his or her favour, or in which he
or she is acquitted, and against any loss in respect of his or her
personal liability for the payment of any sum primarily due from
the Company.

The Company has arranged liability insurance for the Directors and
senior management of the Company to protect them from any
possible litigations.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

None of the Directors has any unexpired service contracts which
is not determinable by the Company or its subsidiaries within
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

DIRECTORS" INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transaction, arrangement
or contract of significance in relation to the Group's business to
which the Company, or its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its
parent companies were a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end
of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, Mr. Qu Naijie and Haichang
Group Limited (collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) do
not have any material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any
contract of significance to the Group’s business to which the
Company, any of its subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries or its parent
companies were a party subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year ended 31 December 2017.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December 2017.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2017, the interests and short positions of
the Directors and chief executive of the Company in the Shares,
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), which (a) were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO); or (b) were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein;
or (c) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code"), were as follows:
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Approximate

Percentage
of Total
Number Issued Shares
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of Interest of Shares (Note 3)
HERT
RAEEH
BHES
EEnE B/ EmiHE RBEA (Pig5E3)
Mr. Qu Naijie (Note 1) Beneficiary of a trust and founder of a trust 1,811,848,524 (L) 45.30%
AR EE (M) FAXBEARETEZA
Mr. Qu Cheng (Note 2) Beneficiary of a trust 1,684,092,524 (L) 42.10%
HAREAE (Ffe2) FEXmA
Beneficial owner 11,761,063 (L) 0.29%
ERBEA
Mr. Wang Xuguang Beneficial owner 8,000,000 (L) 0.20%
FrakEE ERBEA
Mr. Gao Jie Beneficial owner 4,295,000 (L) 0.11%
BALAE ERBEA
Notes: B 5
1. (@)  Mr. Qu Naijie is the protector of a discretionary family trust 1. (@) AR EdEAE—TERNBERIEE

(the “Family Trust”) under which BNP Paribas Singapore Trust
Corporation Limited (“BNP Trustee”) is the trustee. Manmount
Limited is wholly and beneficially owned by BNP Paribas
Corporate Services Pte. Ltd. (“BNP Corporate Services”), which
is the nominee for the Family Trust and a sole director of
Manmount Limited. BNP Corporate Services is wholly and
beneficially owned by BNP Trustee. The trust properties of the
Family Trust mainly includes, the entire issued share capital of
Haichang Group Limited, which beneficially owns 1,684,092,524
Shares, representing approximately 42.10% of the total issued
share capital of the Company. Haichang Group Limited is wholly
owned by Manmount Limited.
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L

Mr. Qu Naijie is the settlor and a beneficiary of the Management
Trust (as defined below). Cantrust (Far East) Limited is the
trustee of the Management Trust and wholly owns the entire
equity interest of Speedy Journey Investment Limited. Speedy
Journey Investment Limited beneficially owns 127,756,000
Shares, representing approximately 3.19% of the total issued
share capital of the Company.

Therefore, Mr. Qu Naijie is deemed to be interested in (i) the
1,684,092,524 Shares held and interested by Haichang Group
Limited as disclosed in Note 1(a) and (ii) the 127,756,000
Shares held by Speedy Journey Investment Limited in the
Company as disclosed in Note 1(b) above, together representing
approximately 45.30% of the total issued share capital of the
Company.

Mr. Qu Cheng is a beneficiary of the Family Trust. Accordingly, Mr.
Qu Cheng is deemed to be interested in 1,684,092,524 Shares as
disclosed in Note 1(a) above.

This percentage has been compiled based on 4,000,000,000 Shares

in issue as at 31 December 2017.

denotes a long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations, within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO, which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they
are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded
in the register referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND

UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2017, so far as was known to the Directors or
chief executive of the Company, the following persons (not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short
positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section

336 of the SFO:

INTERESTS
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Approximate

Percentage
of Total
Number of Issued Shares
Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares (Note 5)
HERITROAH
BN B D
=1 B EEEE RGEE (BFEES)
BNP Paribas Singapore Trust Interest in a controlled 1,684,092,524(L) 42.10%
Corporation Limited corporation
(Note 1) (F¥5E1)
Sz NI
BNP Paribas Corporate Services Interest in a controlled 1,684,092,524(L) 42.10%
Pte. Ltd. (Note 1) (Fff&E1) corporation
R LR R
Manmount Limited (Note 1) (Ff5E1)  Interest in a controlled 1,684,092,524(L) 42.10%
corporation
R LR R
Haichang Group Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 1,684,092,524(L) 42.10%
BEEBARALARA (1) EnEEA
ORIX Corporation (Note 2) Interest in a controlled 593,384,000 (L) 14.83%
BTk git (FFE2) corporation 200,000,000(S) 5.00%
R EE R
ORIX (China) Investment Company Interest in a controlled 393,384,000(L) 9.83%
Limited (Note 2) corporation
Bihd (hE) REBRAR (MiF2) SIEAE#EZR
Oriental Camellia Investment Limited Beneficial owner 393,384,000(L) 9.83%

(Note 2)
RAMENLRERBRAR (FizE2)

EmBEEA
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Approximate

Percentage

of Total

Number of Issued Shares

Name Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares (Note 5)

HERITROAH

WA BE D

£ Bin REEME RGEE (BF5ES)

ORIX Asia Capital Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 200,000,000(L) 5.00%

MOt ERBRAE (H7E2) EREAA 200,000,000(S) 5.00%

Zhao John Huan (Note 3) (Ff#3E£3) Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
corporation
R EE R

Exponential Fortune Group Limited Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
(Note 3) (F¥FE3) corporation
R EE R

Hony Managing Partners Limited Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
(Note 3) (F¥FE3) corporation
R EE R

Hony Group Management Limited Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
(Note 3) (F¥FE3) corporation
R EE R

Hony Capital Fund V GP Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
Limited (Note 3) (Fff5£3) corporation
R EE R

Hony Capital Fund V GP, L.P. Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
(Note 3) (F¥FE3) corporation
R EE R

Hony Capital Fund V L.P. Interest in a controlled 400,444,000(L) 10.01%
(Note 3) (F¥5E3) corporation
R EE R

Time Dynasty Limited (Note 3) Beneficial owner 400,444,000(L) 10.01%

RrEARAR (HEE3) EnEEA

Adam Gregory Leitzes Interest in a controlled 210,367,000 5.26%
(Note 4) (Mtz£4) corporation
R EE R

Karst Peak Capital Limited Investment manager 210,367,000 5.26%

(Note 4) (Fffz¥4)

BEKE



Notes:

BNP Trustee is the trustee of the Family Trust. Manmount Limited is
wholly and beneficially owned by BNP Corporate Services, which is
the nominee for the Family Trust and a sole director of Manmount
Limited. BNP Corporate Services is wholly and beneficially owned
by BNP Trustee. The trust properties of the Family Trust mainly
included, the entire issued share capital of Haichang Group Limited,
which beneficially owned and was interested in 1,684,092,524
Shares, representing approximately 42.10% of the total issued share
capital of the Company. Haichang Group Limited is wholly owned
by Manmount Limited. Accordingly, BNP Trustee, BNP Corporate
Services and Manmount Limited are deemed to be interested in the
1,684,092,524 Shares held and interested by Haichang Group Limited.

The number of shares disclosed was based on the latest disclosure of
interest form filed on 28 January 2016 (the date of relevant event be
26 January 2016) received from ORIX Corporation. According to the
filed form:

(a) Oriental Camellia Investment Limited holds 393,384,000 Shares.
Oriental Camellia Investment Limited is wholly-owned by ORIX
(China) Investment Company Limited, which is in turn wholly
owned by ORIX Corporation.

(b)  ORIX Asia Capital Limited is wholly owned by ORIX Corporation.
ORIX Asia Capital Limited was granted a put option to require
Haichang Group Limited to purchase from it and granted
Haichang Group Limited a call option to purchase from it
200,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 5.00% of the
total issued share capital of the Company, which was lapsed on
1 February 2017.

Accordingly, based on the above disclosure, ORIX Corporation is
deemed to be interested in the 393,384,000 Shares held by Oriental
Camellia Investment Limited and the call option and put option in
relation to 200,000,000 Shares held by ORIX Asia Capital Limited.

By
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Manmount Limited@E@BNP Corporate
Services® & & & #m % A MBNP
Corporate ServicesB R IE 5t B A
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HHEA  RGEANGIVETEZERREE
EXEERATNEHEHITRE - ZA
B E = % 5 1,684,092,524 % & A 7] B 15
RERER  GBERRFAEHEHETREL
47.10% ° 82 £ B H R 2 & EManmount
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3. These 400,444,000 Shares are held by Time Dynasty Limited. The
entire issued share capital of Time Dynasty Limited is wholly-owned
by Hony Capital Fund V, L.P,, which in turn is controlled by its sole
general partner, Hony Capital Fund V GP, L.P.. Hony Capital Fund V
GP, L.P is wholly-owned by Hony Capital Fund V GP Limited, which
is wholly owned by Hony Group Management Limited. Hony Group
Management Limited is controlled as to approximately 80.00%
by Hony Managing Partners Limited, which is wholly-owned by
Exponential Fortune Group Limited. Exponential Fortune Group Limited
is 49.00% controlled by Mr. Zhao John Huan. Accordingly, Mr. Zhao
John Huan, Exponential Fortune Group Limited, Hony Managing
Partners Limited, Hony Group Management Limited, Hony Capital
Fund V GP Limited, Hony Capital Fund V GP, L.P. and Hony Capital
Fund V, L.P. are deemed to be interested in the 400,444,000 Shares
were held by Time Dynasty Limited.

4. The number of shares disclosed was based on the latest disclosure of
interest forms filed on 16 March 2018 (the date of relevant event be
16 January 2017) received from Karst Peak Capital Limited and Adam
Gregory Leitzes. According to the filed forms, Karst Peak Asia Master
Fund, Karst Peak Select Master Fund and Karst Peak Vermilion Partners
Master Fund (collectively, the “Controlled Entities”) held 117,166,000
Shares, 42,823,000 Shares and 50,378,000 Shares, respectively.
Karst Peak Capital Limited is noted as the controlling person (with
100% control) of each Controlled Entity as it is the sole discretionary
manager of each such Controlled Entity. Adam Gregory Leitzes is a
director of, and shareholder and Chief Investment Officer of, Karst
Peak Capital Limited. Accordingly, Karst Peak Capital Limited and
Adam Gregory Leitzesare deemed to be interested in the 210,367,000
Shares held by the Controlled Entities aggregately.

5. This percentage has been compiled based on 4,000,000,000 Shares
in issue as at 31 December 2017.

(L)  denotes a long position in the Shares.
(S)  denotes a short position in the Shares.

Other than as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the
Directors had not been notified by any person (not being the
Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had interests or
short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares as recorded in the
register required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

3. #400,444,0000% B 17 B R B A R L A
FE HEERAFTNMPEHITRA
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige
the Company to offer new Shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION FROM THE
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the Controlling Shareholders has confirmed to the Company
of his/its compliance with the non-competition undertakings
provided to the Company under a deed of non-competition (the
“Deed of Non-competition”) in favour of the Company entered into
on 27 February 2014. Details of the Deed of Non-competition were
disclosed in the Prospectus under the section headed “Relationship
with our Controlling Shareholders”.

An independent board committee (the “Independent Board
Committee”) consisting exclusively of independent non-executive
Directors was set up to monitor the execution and the
performance of obligations of the Deed of Non-competition by the
Controlling Shareholders. For the year ended 31 December 2017,
the Independent Board Committee has reviewed the status of
compliance, and none of the Controlling Shareholders, nor any of
its subsidiaries or associates were found by the Group contravening
the non-competition undertakings during the reporting period.

DIRECTORS’
BUSINESS

Save as described in the Prospectus and this annual report, during

INTERESTS IN COMPETING

the year ended 31 December 2017, none of the Directors or their
respective associates had engaged in or had any interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete with the businesses
of the Group and which is required to be disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Among the related party transactions disclosed in note 41 to
the consolidated financial statements, the following transactions
constitute continuing connected transactions for the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are required to be
disclosed in this annual report in accordance with Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group had entered
into or had in existence the following continuing connected
transactions which are required to be disclosed in this annual report
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(1) Property Management Agreements

On 19 September 2014, the Group entered into the five
management agreements (the “Property Management
Agreements”) with Dalian Haichang Property Management
Co., Ltd. (R:EBEEWEEEAR A (“Dalian Property
Management”), Tianjin Haichang Polar Property Management
Co., Ltd. (RKEFEBYEEERFR A A]) (“Tianjin Property
Management”), Wuhan Haichang Property Management
Co., Ltd. (B HEMEEIEARAF) ("Wuhan Property
Management”) and Yantai Haichang Property Management
Co., Ltd. (ERBEWXEE AR AT (“Yantai Property
Management”) (collectively, the “Management Companies”),
pursuant to which the Management Companies agreed
to provide property management services to some of the
subsidiaries of the Group in relation to certain unsold or
unleased ancillary commercial properties owned by the Group
in Dalian, Tianjin, Wuhan and Yantai of the PRC for a term of
three years commencing from 19 September 2014.

As at 19 September 2014, Mr. Qu Naijie, the Controlling
Shareholder and a Director, held 60% equity interests in
Haichang Group Co. Hence, Haichang Group Co is an associate
of Mr. Qu Naijie and a connected person of the Company.
As Dalian Property Management is a direct subsidiary of
Haichang Group Co and Tianjin Property Management, Wuhan
Property Management and Yantai Property Management are
indirect subsidiaries of Haichang Group Co, each of the
Management Companies is an associate of Mr. Qu Naijie
and a connected person of the Company. Accordingly, the
transactions contemplated under the Property Management
Agreements constitute continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules.
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The major terms of the Property Management Agreements

are as follows:

(iii)

Management Company: Dalian Property
Management.
Property being managed: the ancillary

commercial properties owned by the Group
in Haichang Xincheng, Dalian. The property
management services to be provided include (i)
facilities maintenance and fire and public safety
management; (ii) road traffic and car park
management; (iii) daily hygiene maintenance and
regular cleaning and (iv) greening and gardening
of the areas.

Management fee: The management fee is calculated
by reference to the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold ancillary commercial properties
and Haichang China shall pay a management fee
of RMB2.5 per square metre per month. As at 21
September 2014, the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold ancillary commercial properties
in Haichang Xincheng is approximately 12,392.03
square metres and the management fee payable
by Haichang China is approximately RMB371,761
(approximately HK$468,419) per year.

Management Company: Dalian Property
Management.

Property being managed: the ancillary commercial
properties owned by the Group in Dalian
Laohutan Fishermen’s Wharf, Dalian. The property
management services to be provided include (i)
facilities maintenance and fire and public safety
management; (ii) road traffic and car park
management; (iii) daily hygiene maintenance and
regular cleaning and (iv) greening and gardening

of the areas.
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(iii)  Management fee: The management fee is calculated
by reference to the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold ancillary commercial properties
and Haichang China shall pay a management fee
of RMB3.9 per square metre per month. As at
21 September 2014, the total gross floor area
of the unleased or unsold ancillary commercial
properties in Dalian Laohutan Fishermen’s Wharf
is approximately 5,825.87 square metres and
the management fee payable by Haichang China

is approximately RMB272,651
HK$343,540) per year.

¢ () Management Company: Tianjin

Management.

(i)  Property being managed: the unsold or unleased
ancillary commercial properties
the Group in Tianjin. The ancillary commercial
properties in Tianjin comprise commercial street
properties, commercial properties beneath serviced
apartments and serviced apartments. The property
management services to be provided include
(i) repairing, maintenance and management of
common areas and public facilities; (i) maintenance
of hygiene and cleanliness of common areas,
rubbish collection and rain water and sewage pipes
clearance; (iii) maintenance and management of
public greening; (iv) vehicles parking management;
(v) maintenance and management of public safety
and security; (vi) decoration and refurbishment
management and (vii) management of documents

in connection with the properties.
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(iii)

Management fee: The management fee is calculated
by reference to the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold ancillary commercial properties
and Tianjin Polar shall pay a management fee of
(i) RMB2.23 per square metre per month in respect
of commercial street properties and commercial
properties beneath serviced apartments; (ii)
RMB2.73 per square metre per month in respect
of unsold serviced apartments and (iii) RMB1.46
per square metre per month in respect of sold
serviced apartments (as subsidies to purchasers of
serviced apartments). As at 21 September 2014,
the total gross floor area of the unleased and
unsold commercial street properties, unleased and
unsold commercial properties beneath serviced
apartments, unsold serviced apartments and sold
serviced apartments are approximately 18,517
square metres, 1,232 square metres, 957 square
metres and 11,768 square metres, respectively.
As such, the management fee payable by Tianjin
Polar is approximately RMB766,010 (approximately
HK$965,173) per year. In addition, a property
management activation fee of RMB15 per square
metre is agreed to be paid by Tianjin Polar with
respect to the properties with a total gross floor
area of approximately 66,552.06 square metres.
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d) () Management Company: Wuhan

Management.

(i) Property being managed: the unsold or unleased
commercial street properties owned by the Group
in the commercial street (phase 1) in Wuhan. The
property management services to be provided
include (i) repairing, management and maintenance
of public ground structures and their ancillary
facilities; (i) operation, management, maintenance
and repairing of public facilities; (iii) automated
systems maintenance and management; (iv) fire
and public safety management; (v) road traffic
and car park management; (vi) daily hygiene
maintenance and regular cleaning; (vii) greening
and gardening of the areas; (viii) development of
good communication with tenants of the properties
and (ix) maintenance of documents in connection
with the properties and development of tenants

records.

(i) Management fee: The management fee
calculated by reference to the total gross floor
area of the unleased or unsold commercial
street properties and Wuhan Polar shall pay a
management fee of RMB2.5 per square metre per
month. As at 21 September 2014, the total gross
floor area of the unleased or unsold commercial
street properties in the commercial street (phase 1)
in Wuhan is approximately 33,700 square metres
and the management fee payable by Wuhan Polar
is approximately RMB1,011,000 (approximately
HK$1,273,860) per year. If commercial street
properties are sold or leased during the term of
this Management Agreement, the management
fee shall be adjusted in accordance with the above
monthly rate per square metre with reference to
the actual time of the sale or leasing.

(iv)  On 1 January 2017, the Group has early terminated
the above property management agreement with

Wuhan Property Management.

(iii)

(iv)
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(iii)

Management Company: Yantai Property
Management.

Property being managed: the unsold or unleased
commercial street properties owned by the
Group in Yantai Fishermen’s Wharf. The property
management services to be provided include
(i) repairing, maintenance and management of
common areas and public facilities; (ii) maintenance
of hygiene and cleanliness of common areas,
rubbish collection and rain water and sewage pipes
clearance; (iii) maintenance and management of
public greening; (iv) vehicles parking management;
(v) maintenance and management of public safety
and security; (vi) decoration and refurbishment
management and (vii) management of documents

in connection with the properties.

Management fee: The management fee is calculated
by reference to the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold commercial street properties
and Yantai Fishermen shall pay a management fee
of RMB1.5 per square metre per month. As at 21
September 2014, the total gross floor area of the
unleased or unsold commercial street properties in
Yantai Fishermen’s Wharf is approximately 4,406
square metres and the management fee payable
by Yantai Fishermen is approximately RMB79,308
(approximately HK$99,928) per year. If commercial
street properties are sold or leased during the term
of this Management Agreement, the management
fee shall be adjusted in accordance with the above
monthly rate per square metre with reference to
the actual time of the sale or leasing.

Further details of the above continuing connected transactions

are disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 21
September 2014.
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(2) Property Leasing Agreements (2) YIEHEERZ

116

On 14 October 2014, the Group entered into the five property
leasing agreements (the “Property Leasing Agreements”) with
Dalian Shibo Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (KBt EE it
EFE AR 2AF]) (“Shibo Real Estate”), Tianjin Polar Tourism
Co., Ltd. (REMmMKFEEPRAF]) (“Tianjin Real Estate”),
Wuhan Chuangfu Real Estate Development Co., Ltd. (F &
BlE B ERMEE AR AT (“Wuhan Real Estate”) and Yantai
Fishermen's Wharf Investment Co., Ltd. (B&BABEERE
BBR AR (“Yantai Tourism Development”) (collectively, the
“Connected Counterparties”), pursuant to which certain
vacant ancillary commercial properties owned by the Group
in Dalian, Tianjin, Wuhan and Yantai of the PRC are leased by
the Group to the Connected Counterparties for a term of three
years commencing from 19 September 2014.

As at 14 October 2014, Mr. Qu Naijie, the Controlling
Shareholder and a Director, held approximately 62.27% and
60% equity interests in Haichang Corporation Development
and Haichang Group Co, respectively. As Shibo Real Estate,
Tianjin Real Estate and Wuhan Real Estate were indirect
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Haichang Corporation
Development and Yantai Tourism Development was a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Haichang Group Co, each of the
Connected Counterparties was an associate of Mr. Qu Naijie
and thus a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the transactions contemplated under the Property Leasing
Agreements constituted continuing connected transactions of
the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

On 15 September 2015, the Group, Shibo Real Estate and
Dalian East Water City Development Limited (A3 757K
WEERAMRAR]) (“Dalian East Water City”) entered into a
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) to
the relevant Property Leasing Agreement dated 14 October
2014. Pursuant to Supplemental Agreement, Dalian East
Water City replaced Shibo Real Estate as the lessee of the
relevant Property Leasing Agreement. From the date of the
Supplemental Agreement, Shibo Real Estate has ceased to
enjoy any rights and have any obligations and Dalian East
Water City has inherited such rights and obligations for
the rest of the term under the relevant Property Leasing
Agreement.
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As at 15 September 2015, Mr. Qu Naijie, the Controlling
Shareholder and a Director, held approximately 62.27% equity
interests in Haichang Corporation Development. As Dalian East
Water City was indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Haichang
Corporation Development, Dalian East Water City was an
associate of Mr. Qu Naijie and thus a connected person of
the Company. Accordingly, the transactions contemplated
under the Supplemental Agreement fell within the continuing
connected transaction contemplated under the relevant
Property Leasing Agreement of the Company under Rule
14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

On 19 September 2015, the Group entered into a supplemental
agreement with Tianjin Real Estate to amend certain terms
of one of these agreement and Tianjin Real Estate, had
prematurely terminated such lease agreement since 18
September 2016. On 18 December 2016, Wuhan Real Estate
early terminated another lease agreement with the Group.

On 28 November 2017 and 22 September 2017, the Group
entered into two property lease agreements with Dalian East
Water City and Yantai Tourism Development, pursuant to
which the Group rented its certain vacant ancillary commercial
properties in Dalian and Yantai, the PRC to connected parties
with a term from 19 September 2017 to 18 September 2018
and 19 September 2017 to 18 September 2020, respectively.

As at 22 September 2017, Mr. Qu Naijie, the controlling
shareholder and the director, held approximately 60% interests
in Haichang Group Company. As Yantai Tourism Development
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Haichang Group Company,
Yantai Tourism Development was an associate of Mr. Qu Naijie
and thus a connected person of the Company.

As at 28 November 2017, Mr. Qu Naijie, the controlling
shareholder and the director, held approximately 62.27%
interests in Haichang Corporation Development. As Dalian
East Water City was an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
Haichang Corporation Development and Dalian East Water City
was a wholly-owned subsidiary of Haichang Group Company,
each of the connected party is an associate of Mr. Qu and
therefore a connected person of the Company. Accordingly,
the transaction contemplated under the property leasing
agreement constitutes a continuing connected transaction of
the Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules.
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The major terms of the Property Leasing Agreements are as

follows:

Connected
Counterparty:

BERSH

Leased property:

BEMR

Usage:

A&

118

Shibo Real Estate/
Dalian East Water
City (Note 1)
tHEREE /
NER AR
(zE1)

Shop No.701 in
Dalian Laohutan
Fishermen's Wharf,
with a gross floor
area of approximately
1,717.25 square

metres
REBERERAEL
BIORES B2
'R 717.25%A
¥

Office

Tianjin Real Estate
(Note 2)

FEEE
CGEZ)

Shops No. 25-2,
25-3, 25-4 and 25-5
of Building No.25

in the commercial
streets adjacent to
Tianjin Polar Ocean
World, with a total
gross floor area

of approximately
1,830.61 square
metres

KRG FHR
EEERNR
25-225-3 254
R255% & &
1830617k

Office

>
fistt

Wuhan Real Estate
(Note 3)

RERE
CGES)

Shop No.301 in the
commercial streets
(phase 1) adjacent
to Wuhan Polar
Ocean World, with
a gross floor area
of approximately
4,920.00 square
metres

REGIGFt R
— M EHR3015%
HE BERRED
54,920, 00F 773

Office

Wuhan Real Estate
(Note 4)

REEE
GED)

Units No.01 and

02 of Shop No.409
in the commercial
streets (phase 1)
adjacent to Wuhan
Polar Ocean World,
with a total gross
floor area of
approximately 470.40
square metres

REGIGFt R
— B} 7% % 17 19409
5 9 2012025 &
e BRERREY
B470.40F 773K

Office or other usages
to be agreed between
the Group and
Wuhan Real Estate
BREFAEEE
REFEHERTH
HiwfRiz

MEHEBENOTZEFAT

Yantai Tourism
Development
(Note 5)
EamEER
(Bifs)

Shop No.14 (eastern
section) in Yantai
Fishermen's Wharf,
Yantai, with a

gross floor area

of approximately
1,373.58 square
metres

BamEaRAB
SE145% 75 48 3R I &
- BEEENA
137358 /%K

Office

£
>
Hoi
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Rental: RMB4.2 per square  RMB3 per square RMB1.8 per square  RMB1.8 per square ~ RMB2.89 per square
metre per day meter per day metre per day metre per day metre per day
(exclusive of property (exclusive of property  (exclusive of property  (exclusive of property  (exclusive of property
management fee and management fee and management fee and management fee and management fee and
utilities), subject to  utilities) in 2014 and  utilities), subject to  utilities), subject to utilities), subject to
a 5% increment for  subject to monthly ~ a 5% increment for  a 5% increment for  a 5% increment for
every twelve-month  rental charge of every twelve-month  every twelve-month  every twelve-month
period. Accordingly, ~ RMB122,423 from 1 period. Accordingly,  period. Accordingly,  period. Accordingly,
the monthly January 2015t0 31 the monthly rentals  the monthly rentals  the monthly rentals
rentals payable December 2016 payable in the first,  payable in the first,  payable in the first,
is approximately second and third year second and third year second and third year
RMB230,347.6 are approximately are approximately are approximately
RMB269,370, RMB25,754, RMB120,743,
RMB282,839 and RMB27,042 and RMB127,010 and
RMB296,981, RMB28,394, RMB133,277,
respectively respectively respectively
Be: AR B2t/ F RZZT-NEAR ARBISTL/T ARBIST/T ARMB289T/T
AR/ RABE AREN/TH AR/ REEE AR/ XAEE X/ XTBHE
MEERBRKE K/ X(TREN NEEREBRKE NEERERKE NEEREBERKE
B) Bt_fAAL XEREBRKE B) BT_EAL B) §T_@AL B) BT_EAL
5% At B B) MEZZ-0 RS%- Al £— R%c Bt F— %Al £
ABENARARE F-RA-BEZEZ % F_FRE= F F_ERF= F F_FRkE=
230,347.67C T-AEtZA= FEAAEENHN FRNAEEDH FENSAEE D
T-HEBENA HRARY9370 HAARBL4 HAEAREN0743
BeRIAARE 7T AR¥282839 71 ARB27042 7 AE¥127010
122,4237L TRARHK29981 TRAR¥2839% TRARK3277
T T T
Notes: BT
1. Before the date of the first supplemental agreement, i.e. 1. RE—HExEHEAH (B-Z—1
15 September 2015, the connected counterparty had been FNATHRB) 281 - BEXSHH B
Shibo Real Estate. Since the date of the first supplemental HEEHE MBS —HETHE

agreement, the connected counterparty had been Dalian East
Water City. Pursuant to the second supplement agreement
dated 28 November 2017, the term had been extended from
19 September 2017 to 18 September 2018.

HHRR BER S HF RRERG K
e REBBMAE-ZT—tHF+—A8
ZtHNENE -GS - HR
E-Z—+tFNLATALBEEREZZ
T—NFALATNB -

2. This agreement was terminated in advance on 18 September 2. WHERZET-RFEALATN\RRE
2016. BIAXLE ©
3. This agreement was terminated in advance on 18 December 3. WHERZE-—RFE+ATNH
2016. RATAZIE ©
4. This agreement expired on 18 September 2016. 4. ZBERZFT—R"FALATNBE
H o
5. Pursuant to the supplemental agreement dated 22 September 5. WBEHBMAE-Z—tFhLA=Z+=
2017, the terms had been extended from 19 September 2017 Hevmxm=Z - HRE 22—+ %
to 18 September 2020. nA 'T'jLEILﬁjE; TTFNA
+B -

Further details of the abovementioned continuing connected
transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcements
dated 14 October 2014, 15 September 2015 and 28 November
2017.

BRI LSEHERSNE—THE
HFNRARABERR T —MOF+AT
mE - —T-hAFAA+HEBERC
—tF+—AZt/\BNRE -
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(3) Office Lease

On 18 April 2016, Haichang China, as landlord, entered
into a lease (the “Office Lease"”) with Haichang Corporation
Development, as tenant, pursuant to which, Haichang
Corporation Development agreed to lease from Haichang
China (i) No.137 Huale Street, Zhongshan District, Dalian City
for office use for a term commencing from 1 January 2016
to 31 March 2017 and (ii) No.151 Huale Street, Zhongshan
District, Dalian City for office use for a term commencing
from 1 April 2017 to 31 December 2018, respectively. As at
31 December 2017, Mr. Qu Naijie, the Controlling Shareholder
and a Director, held approximately 62.27% of the equity
interests of Haichang Corporation Development indirectly. As
such, Haichang Corporation Development is an associate of
Mr. Qu Naijie and a connected person of the Company for the
purpose of the Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the transactions contemplated under the Office
Lease constituted continuing connected transactions for the
Company under Rule 14A.31 of the Listing Rules.

The monthly rent under the Office Lease is in an amount
of RMB400,000 and was determined by Haichang China in
consultation with the property valuer based on the prevailing
market rent. The annual caps for the Office Lease for each
of the year ended 31 December 2017 and the year ending
31 December 2018 are RMB4,800,000 and RMB4,800,000
respectively. During the year ended 31 December 2017, the
rental income from Haichang Corporation Development was
RMB4,571,000 and the annual cap for the Office Lease has
not been exceeded.

Further details of the above continuing connected transaction
were fully disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated
18 April 2016.

A summary of the related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2017 is
contained in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements
in this annual report.

(3) MLAEHEL
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The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) have reviewed the continuing connected transactions
as contemplated under the Office Lease, the Property Leasing
Agreements and the Property Management Agreements as
described above and confirmed that during the year ended
31 December 2017, such transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and

(iii) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

The auditors of the Company have confirmed in a letter to the
Board that, with respect to the aforesaid continuing connected
transactions:

(i)  nothing has come to their attention that causes the
auditors to believe that the disclosed continuing
connected transactions have not been approved by the
Board;

(i) for transactions involving the provision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to their attention
that causes them to believe that the transactions were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the
pricing policies of the Company;

(iii)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to believe that the transactions were not entered into,
in all material respects, in accordance with the relevant
agreements governing such transactions; and
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(iv) with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
continuing connected transactions, nothing has come
to their attention that causes them to believe that
the disclosed continuing connected transactions have
exceeded the maximum aggregate annual value disclosed
in the Prospectus and the relevant announcements of the
Company in respect of each of the disclosed continuing
connected transactions.

The Company has complied with the disclosure requirements,
to the extent they had not been waived by the Stock
Exchange, in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules
with respect to the connected transactions and continuing
connected transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS

Please see the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” in this annual report for a summary of the major events
in relation to the Company that have occurred since the balance
sheet date.

DONATION

Details of the charitable and other donations made by the Group
are set out in the Environmental, Social and Governance Report on
pages 27 to 73 of this annual report.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 have been audited by Ernst & Young, the
auditors of the Company.

During the preceding three years, there has been no change in the
Company’s auditors.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

As at the date of this annual report, the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”) of the Company comprises three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Guohui, Mr. Sun Jianyi
and Ms. Zhang Meng, all of whom were independent non-executive
Directors. Mr. Chen Guohui was the chairman of the Audit
Committee.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed together with the Directors and
the Company's external auditor the audited annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2017.

PURCHASES, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2017.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 December
2017 and up to the date of this annual report, the Company had
maintained sufficient public float as required under the Listing Rules.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Xuguang
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

26 March 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to
enhance corporate value and accountability. The Company has
adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as its own code of
corporate governance.

The Company has been in compliance with the CG code provisions
of the CG Code during the year ended 31 December 2017 except
as disclosed below.

Under code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code, all non-executive
Directors are recommended to attend general meetings of the
Company. Ms. Zhang Meng, independent non-executive Director of
the Company attended the annual general meeting of the Company
held on 23 June 2017 (the “AGM"). The remaining non-executive
Directors of the Company (including the independent non-executive
Directors) were absent from the annual general meeting of the
Company due to pre-arranged business commitments.

Under code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the chairman of the
Board should attend annual general meetings of the Company and
invite the chairmen of the audit, remuneration, nomination and any
other committees (as appropriate) of the Company to attend. Mr. Qu
Naijie, being the chairman of the Board, was absent from the AGM
due to a pre-arranged business commitment. The chairmen of all the
board committees of the Company were also absent from the AGM
due to pre-arranged business commitments. Mr. Wang Xuguang,
an executive Director, the Chief Executive Officer and a member
of the remuneration committee of the Company, was chosen as
the chairman of the AGM. Mr. Qu Cheng, an executive Director,
as the duly appointed delegate of the chairman of the Board, also
attended the AGM. Both Mr. Wang Xuguang and Mr. Qu Cheng
were available to answer questions at the AGM.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the
Company are outlined later in this annual report.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for the overall leadership of the Group,
oversees the Group’s strategic decisions and monitors business
and performance. The Board has delegated the authority and
responsibility for day-to-day management and operation of the
Group to the senior management of the Group.

To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established five Board committees, namely the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee and the
Independent Board Committee (together, the “Board Committees”).
The Board has delegated to the Board Committees responsibilities
as set out in their respective terms of reference.

Board composition

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised nine
members, consisted of three executive Directors, three non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors, whose
information is set out in the following table.

EFg

BE

”%@EEﬁElm%%% CEEA
EENRHRARREEEBRRIR - &
EEEAALESRERFETABA
EEARERREEFENOEN RBE -

REBARAEFNEE I E EF8
EWiﬁﬂ%%é%@*W%V%;
g ¥HMZEe REZEE ARE
E&E%E/égﬁ&ﬁj%$§ﬁa
(RBE=ZZBE]) ESECEAES
ZEERENSEARBEEMHE B

D]ﬂE

HU

EEEEM
RAFHAY EFem 2K EHAE
Ko BRER-ZZRTES ZZFATE
EN=ZFBBIUFATES - TRHIE
EENER -

Date of first appointment
to the Board

Date of last

Name of Director Position BHREZR re-election as Director
BEEnsg Bfu MAEZEMNAE RIEEERAEZMNAN
Wang Xuguang Executive Director and 19 July 2012 23 June 2017

Ik Chief Executive officer “E—-%+tA+NH “E—+FRAZ+=H

HITESERITHRES

Qu Cheng Executive Director 25 May 2016 27 June 2016

ghi2 WITES —E-XFRAZ-THH —E-REXAZ1+tH
Gao Jie Executive Director 25 May 2016 27 June 2016

2 WITES —E-XFRAZ-THH —E-REXAZ1+tH
Qu Naijie Chairman and 21 November 2011 27 June 2016

PR Non-executive Director “E——F+—fF=+-H ZE-RFERA-ttH

ETREFRTES
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Date of first appointment
to the Board

Date of last

Name of Director Position HREZRE re-election as Director

EEng B MAESEHWAH BROBERRESNEN

Makoto Inoue Non-executive Director 19 July 2012 27 June 2016

Eilint) FHITER —T-—FtAt+NhH —T-R"ERAZttH

Yuan Bing Non-executive Director 24 August 2012 23 June 2017

rE FHITER -5/ \RZ+WMA T+ AZ+=H

Chen Guohui Independent 25 January 2017 23 June 2017

BBl Non-executive Director —T—+tF-RA=+HH —E—tFRRAZT=H
BUFHNTES

Sun Jianyi Independent 23 February 2014 23 June 2017

BE— Non-executive Director —Z-ME-A-+=H —E—tFRAZT=H
BIFMTES

Zhang Meng Independent 25 January 2017 23 June 2017

RE Non-executive Director —Z—tF5—-A=+AA —Z—+FR A=Z+=H

BIUFTES

The biographical information of the Directors are set out in the
section headed "Directors and Senior Management” on pages 74
to 91 of this annual report. The relationships between the members
of the Board are also disclosed under that section.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent
non-executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable
business experience, knowledge and professionalism to the
Board for its efficient and effective functioning. Independent
non-executive Directors are invited to serve on the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination Committee, the
Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee and the
Independent Board Committee.
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INDUCTION AND CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all director should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills.

The Directors have been provided with the relevant training to
ensure that they have a proper understanding of the business
and operations of the Group and that they are fully aware of
their responsibilities and obligations as a director of a listed

Bk SFESERER

RBEEERERT E‘J Z 5T AR XX SEA6.5
kR 2REZERSHBEFEXERNE
E&&E%ﬁﬁ%ﬂ&&&a% o

E=CERMMAMAEI - ABREFE
& TﬁtFK%I%J%L LA&}E@%? £l
BEER/RLETARNESTNBEREETIN
&iﬁ%ﬁﬂ'llﬁTmAiﬁ\?1ﬁﬂ AVNEIR

company as well as the compliance practice under the Listing Rules. MAESEE M REEEZEEIME > I
The Company from time to time updates and provides written FHEEMNBRE MBS E R EmR

training materials to the Directors, and organises seminars on Bl - @AEE - ZHREMBENSZTEE
the latest development of the Listing Rules, applicable laws, rules Bt e  EFRBEESESIIF

and regulations relating to directors’ duties and responsibilities.
The Directors may request the Company, pursuant to the policy
for Directors to seek independent professional advice, to provide
independent professional advice at the expense of the Company to
discharge their respective duties to the Company.

According to records provided by the Directors, a summary of
training attended by the Directors during the year ended 31
December 2017 is as follows:

EXERHNBREBRARARIBELE
XER UBTESHARRNEE
BRI R ARRF A

RIEFEFRHEMNTE EFRXA_F—
TtFE+T A=t -HRIENFELHFEE
FIEVREERAT

Directors Attendance

= HFE

Wang Xuguang April 2017

ESE —F—tHmA

Qu Cheng April 2017

iz —E—+FW1A

Gao Jie April 2017

B —ZE—+tFmA

Qu Naijie Nil

:::DEFN g

Makoto Inoue February 2017

HLE= “Z—+tF"A
Yuan Bing February 2017

R —T—+F_-H
Chen Guohui January and April 2017
PR B 12 —E—t+F—-AKMA
Sun Jianyi February 2017

Fz— —T—+F-A
Zhang Meng January and April 2017
RE —E—t+F-AKMA
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As required by code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate and
performed by different individuals. The chairman of the Board
and the chief executive officer of the Company are currently
two separate positions held by Mr. Qu Naijie and Mr. Wang
Xuguang, respectively, in order to reinforce their independence
and accountability. There are clear demarcations of responsibility
and authority between the chairman of the Board and the chief
executive officer of the Company which ensure an appropriate
balance of power, increased accountability and greater capacity of
the Board for independent decision-making.

The chairman of the Board is responsible for overall strategic
planning and overseeing the general corporate, financial and
compliance affairs of the Group. The chief executive officer of the
Company is primarily responsible for the strategic decision making
and the management of the Group.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS -
APPOINTMENT

None of the non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific

TERM OF

term of longer than three years.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the Company was in
compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2)
of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent
non-executive director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company was also in compliance with the requirement of
Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
independent non-executive directors representing at least one-third
of the Board.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
of the independent non-executive Directors on his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company
considers each of them to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

None of the Directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has any service agreement
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

The rules and procedures governing the appointment, retirement,
re-election and removal of Directors are set out in the Articles
of Association. The Nomination Committee is responsible for
reviewing the Board structure, size and composition and
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and

re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

NOMINATION, APPOINTMENT, RETIREMENT
AND RE-ELECTION

In accordance with the Articles of Association, at least one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or
a multiple of three, then the number nearest to, but not less than,
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation and shall be eligible
for re-election and re-appointment at every annual general meeting
provided that each Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and any new Director appointed to
fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the next general
meeting after appointment.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board intends to hold Board meetings regularly at least four
times a year at approximately quarterly intervals which are normally
scheduled in the fourth quarter of the preceding year. Notices of not
less than fourteen days will be given for all regular Board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include
matters in the agenda for regular Board meetings. The Board will
also hold meeting on other occasions when a board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. Reasonable notice will generally
be given.
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During the year ended 31 December 2017, four Board meetings and
one general meeting had been held. The attendance records of the

Directors at these meetings are set out below:

UNW—_FE—+F+-_A=+—HAILWF
B BRouRkEEgea L —ABRE
T NRBTREENLEEESER

B R AR -

No. of Board
meetings attended/
No. of Board meetings
eligible to attend

No. of general
meeting(s) attended/
No. of general
meeting(s)

eligible to attend

HEESEEERY  HEREASREH

Directors s HTEEEERNE BIREAERE
Executive Directors HITEE
Wang Xuguang ek 4/4 1”7
Qu Cheng 2 4/4 11
Gao Jie A 4/4 0/1
Non-executive Directors HHTEE
Qu Naijie i DEF 474 0/1
Makoto Inoue piliat 3/4 01
Yuan Bing = 4/4 0/1
Independent Non-executive Directors BV FHTEE
Chen Guohui BRENE (R=F—+F

(appointed on 25 January 2017) — A1 HAEZE) 4/4 0/1
Sun Jianyi Be— 4/4 0/1
Zhang Meng RE (RZF—+F

(appointed on 25 January 2017) —A=+HAEZE) 474 11
Fang Hongxing FHUE (R-ZF—+F

(resigned on 25 January 2017) —H =+ HAFT) 0/0 0/0
Xie Yanjun HEER (R-ZFE—+F

(resigned on 25 January 2017) —HZ1THHFE) 0/0 0/0
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, the Company confirmed that the
Directors have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year of 2017.

DELEGATION BY THE BOARD

The Board reserves for its decision all major matters of the Company,
including: approval and monitoring of all policy matters, overall
strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those that may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of Directors
and other significant financial and operational matters. Directors
could have recourse to seek independent professional advice
in performing their duties at the Company’s expense and are
encouraged to access and to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently.

The daily management, administration and operation of the
Group are delegated to the senior management. The delegated
functions and responsibilities are periodically reviewed by the Board.
Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions entered into by the management.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board recognises that corporate governance should be the
collective responsibility of the Directors. During the year ended 31
December 2017, the Board has delegated the corporate governance
duties to the Board Committees as disclosed under the following
sections.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 23 February 2014.
The Nomination Committee comprises the chairman of the Board
and two independent non-executive Directors. The primary duties
of the Nomination Committee are to make recommendations to
our Board on the appointment and removal of Directors of our
Company.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a meeting of the
Nomination Committee was held in March 2017 to review the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board. The
composition of the Nomination Committee and the attendance
record of each member at the Nomination Committee meeting are

set out below:—

Name of members

REZEBEN_ZE-—WA-A-+=H
K - REBLREEBREFTEEELM

BB RITET  RELZTEEHTE
BEAMARAEENZELEREME
EoREEE -

BE-_ZT—tHF+-_A=t—HLF

B RAZRBEN_FT—LtF=ZAE
—REFH UBRTEZTENRE R

Bk kZ Tt REEZEEMNANX
EERBHFREZZESEHBMNCEH
pan

No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings eligible to attend

of the Nomination Committee REZEERERSF HESENE BTEERE
Qu Naijie (Chairman) B (FE) 171
Sun lianyi RiE— 171

Zhang Meng (appointed with effect
form 25 January 2017)

Xie Yanjun (ceased to act as a member
with effect form 25 January 2017)

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include the
following:

. to review, at least once a year, the structure, size and
composition (including the skills, knowledge and experience)
of the Board and to make recommendation on any proposed
changes to the Board due to the implementation of the
corporate strategies of the Company;

o to identify individual who has the suitable qualifications to
become a Director and to nominate such person to act as a
Director or to provide recommendation to the Board in relation
to this;
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o to assess the independence of independent non-executive
Directors;

o to make recommendation to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and the succession plan of
Directors (particularly, the chairman of the Board and the
President of the Group/chief executive officer of the Company);

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management; and

o to formulate a policy concerning the diversity of Board
members and to disclose such policy or a summary of such in
the corporate governance report.

The written terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The Company believes that the increasing diversity at the Board level
is one of the essential elements in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. Therefore, the
Company has adopted a Board diversity policy in accordance with
the requirement set out in the CG Code. Diversity of Board members
can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background
and ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All Board
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be
considered against appropriate criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE HNEES

The Remuneration Committee was established on 23 February TMEEeRN _E—NWFEF_A-_+=H
2014. The Remuneration Committee comprises two independent — F{ 37 o ¥iBZE E &€ B 1M L I8 T IEH 1T
non-executive Directors and one executive Director. EERN—BHITES -

During the year ended 31 December 2017, a meeting of the Hz_Z2—+F+_A=+—HI#®F

GHEBGR T LF= A8
@3 URH AR TG HWEE R

ZESSRMNREHINNT

Remuneration Committee was held in March 2017 to review the =

remuneration policy and structure of the Company. The composition — R

of the Remuneration Committee and the attendance record of 28 - HFZEeWERNEKE L F
each member at the Remuneration Committee meeting are set out el

below:—

Name of members

No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings eligible to attend

of the Remuneration Committee FHESSRERE HEEBAE 27832

Sun Jianyi (Chairman) BiE— (£E) 171

Wang Xuguang Tk 171

Chen Guohui (appointed with effect REl)E (B-—F—+F 171
form 25 January 2017) — A=t HAEEZF)

Fang Hongxing (ceased to act as a member with FHUE (RZF—+F 0/0
effect form 25 January 2017) — A=+ HAFIHEFAAR)

The principal duties of the Remuneration Committee include the FMEZESeNTERERENATIE :

following:

o to consult the chairman and/or chief executive officer for .
their remuneration proposals for other executive Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee should
have access to independent professional advice if necessary;

o to make recommendation to the Board on the Company’s .
policy and structure for remuneration of all Directors and senior
management (including grant of share options to employees
pursuant to the Company’s Share option Scheme) and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing the remuneration policy;

o to review and approve the remuneration proposals for senior .
management with reference to the corporate goals and
objectives established by the Board;
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. to determine, when the Board delegates its responsibilities, the
remuneration packages for a particular executive Director and
senior management, including non-pecuniary benefits, pension
rights and amount of compensation (including compensation
payable for loss or termination of office or appointment);

° to make recommendation to the Board on the remuneration
of the non-executive Directors;

o to consider the salaries paid by and the time commitment and
responsibilities requested by companies of similar nature and
the employment criteria for other positions of the Group;

o to review and approve the compensation payable to the
executive Directors and senior management for loss or
termination of office or appointment such that it is consistent
with the contractual terms or is otherwise fair, reasonable and
not excessive;

o to review and approve the compensation arrangements in
relation to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct
such that they are consistent with the contractual terms or
are otherwise reasonable and appropriate; and

o to ensure that no Director or any of his associates shall be

involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The written terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are
available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 23 February 2014.
The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive
Directors. The chairman of the Audit Committee possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, four meetings of the
Audit Committee were held in March, June, August and December
2017 respectively, to review interim and annual financial results
and reports, consider significant issues on the financial reporting
and compliance procedures, internal control and risk management
systems, and appoint external auditors. The composition of the
Audit Committee and the attendance record of each member at the
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Audit Committee meetings are set out below:—

Name of members
of the Audit Committee

EREHFEERZBEEER

o :

FHEESEHEHNR

) RC B H 5|

No. of meetings attended/

No. of meetings eligible to attend

HESERY ETEERY

Chen Guohui (Chairman) (appointed with
effect form 25 January 2017)

Sun Jianyi

Zhang Meng (appointed with effect
form 25 January 2017)

Fang Hongxing (ceased to act as a member
with effect form 25 January 2017)

Xie Yanjun (ceased to act as a member
with effect form 25 January 2017)
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PILEAFKE)

4/4

4/4

4/4

0/0

0/0
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The primary duties of the Audit Committee include:

Relationship with the external auditor

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor, and to deal with any issues of its resignation
or dismissal;

to review and monitor the independence and objectivity of the
external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit process in
accordance with applicable standards. The Audit Committee
shall discuss with the external auditor the nature and scope of
the audit and reporting obligations before the audit process
commences;

to monitor the compliance of the Company’s policy on the
engagement of the external auditor for the performance of
non-audit services and the hiring of employees or former
employees of the external auditor;

to act as the key representative body for overseeing the
relationship between the Company and the external auditor;

Financial information for public disclosure

to monitor the completeness of the Company’s interim and
annual reports and financial statements, and review significant
financial reporting judgments contained in the reports and
statements before recommending them to the Board for
approval, with particular emphasis on:

o any changes in the accounting policies and practice of

the Group;

in the
representation letter from the Company to the external

o major judgmental areas (including those
auditor);

o significant account adjustments resulting from the audit
process;
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o the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

J compliance with accounting and auditing standards;

o compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements
in relation to financial reporting;

to consider any significant or unusual items that are, or should
be, reflected in the reports and financial statements and give
due consideration to any matters and reservations that have
been raised by the staff of the Company who are responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting functions, the chief
compliance officer of the Group and internal and external
auditors;

Monitoring of the financial reporting system and
internal control procedures

138

to review the Company’s financial control, internal control and
risk management systems;

to discuss the internal control system with the management
to ensure that the management has performed its duty to
establish an effective internal control system. Such discussion
should include the adequacy of resources, employees’
qualifications and experience in accounting and financial
reporting functions, and training programmes for employees
and its budget;
to consider major investigation findings on internal
control matters and the management’s response to these
findings, either on its own initiative or at the request of the

management;

to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external
auditors, that the internal audit function is adequately
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company
and to review and monitor its effectiveness (including the

internal audit plans and procedures);
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to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practice;

to review the external auditor’s letter to the management, any
material queries raised by the auditor to the management with
respect to accounting records, financial accounts or control
systems and the management’s response to such queries;

to ensure that the Board shall provide a timely response
to the issues raised in the external auditor’s letter to the
management;

Corporate governance functions

to monitor the Company’s corporate governance and to report
to the Board on the Company’s compliance with the CG Code;

to develop and review the Company’s policies and practice
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practice on
compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
business ethics for the directors and employees of the
Company;

General

to consider other matters, as defined by the Board.

The written terms of reference of the Audit Committee are available

on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

A AEENT LG HRERE
7%

REINER B S TERENER
BV AT - AR e A A
B MEBREAEERGRERE
REOMEAERRMALEREEL
I CIC

%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ@$%%%%%%
BTEREBNERIBNFALMGHR
TEHJ'W%H ;

o EERNTMNTGHEERL M
ERATRIZEBTREESETR

HEMBEARANEEEBRR
NER TREFSROESR

B RERARREETERERE
ERETHABR L ER

HE B RERARARNEENE
BT 2R A R T

—REE
c WMEHMABEEERENEE -

ENZEENEEBERER NB P
RARRBIEEER]

139



140

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT {t¥ &8 E

RISK MANAGEMENT AND CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee
was established on 23 February 2014. The Risk Management and
Corporate Governance Committee comprises one non-executive
Director and two independent non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, two meetings of the
Risk Management and Corporate Governance Committee were held
in March and August 2017 to review the risk management policies
and standards, compliance reports and risk assessment reports and
to review the compliance of the CG Code by the Company. The
composition of the Risk Management and Corporate Governance
Committee and the attendance record of each member at the Risk
Management and Corporate Governance Committee meetings are
set out below:—

Name of members of the Risk Management [ B
and Corporate Governance Committee 1

REREERERELSEES
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No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings eligible to attend

HEEERY ETEERY

Yuan Bing (Chairman)

Chen Guohui (appointed with effect
form 25 January 2017)

Zhang Meng (appointed with effect
form 25 January 2017)

Fang Hongxing (ceased to act as a member
with effect form 25 January 2017)

Xie Yanjun (ceased to act as a member
with effect form 25 January 2017)

RE (£8E) 2/2

BREE (R=ZE—+F 2/2
— A=+ FHHEZT)

K2 (R-ZF—+F 2/2
— A=+ AHHHEZ(T)

FHE (R=ZF—+F 0/0
—A-+EHHA
EILEERE)

HEE (R=ZF—+F 0/0
—A=—+#H
FIFEEXE)

The primary duties of the Risk Management and Corporate
Governance Committee include, but are not limited to, the
following:

o to review the Company’s risk management policies and
standards, as well as the fundamental concepts and scope of
compliance management;

o to review and provide comments on the overall target and
basic policy of the compliance and risk management;
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o to supervise and monitor the development of risk and
compliance management system of the Company;

o to formulate the Company’s corporate governance policies
and conventional rules, to monitor its implementation and to
make recommendations to the Board;

o to review and provide comment on the organisational structure
and responsibilities of the Company’s compliance and risk
management;

o to review the Company’s compliance reports and risk
assessment reports that need to be reviewed by the Board,
and to make proposals on the improvement of the Company’s
compliance and risk management;

o to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and conventional
rules regarding compliance with laws and regulatory rules as
well as with its implementation;

° to formulate, review and monitor the Professional Practice
Code and Compliance Manual (if available) of the employees
and Directors;

o to monitor the Company’s compliance with the CG Code,
together with the disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

o to monitor the effective implementation of the risk and
compliance management by the management of the Company
and to evaluate the performance of the responsible senior
management;

o to evaluate and opine on the risk of major decision making
and solutions to the major risks of the Company that need to
be reviewed by the Board; and

o other matters as authorised by the Board.
The written terms of reference of the Risk Management and

Corporate Governance Committee are available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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INDEPENDENT BOARD COMMITTEE

The Independent Board Committee was established on 23 February
2014. The Independent Board Committee comprises all the
independent non-executive Director.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, two meetings of the
Independent Board Committee were held in March and August
2017 to review the compliance and enforcement of the Deed of
Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders. The composition
of the Independent Board Committee and the attendance record of
each member at the Independent Board Committee meetings are
set out below:-

Name of members of the

BYEEELZET
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“HERY - BIUEELESREMAES
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No. of meetings attended/
No. of meetings eligible to attend

Independent Board Committee BUEEZEEHERB HESERY ETEEAY
Sun lianyi (Chairman) BE— (F/EF) 2/2
Chen Guohui (appointed with effect BRENYE (R-FE—+4F 2/2
form 25 January 2017) — A=+ HAEZF)
Zhang Meng (appointed with effect RE (RZFE—LF 2/2
form 25 January 2017) — A=+ AHAEZT)
Fang Hongxing (ceased to act as a member FHE (R=ZF—+F 0/0
with effect form 25 January 2017) —H=+#aH
FILEEHE)
Xie Yanjun (ceased to act as a member HEE (R=ZF—F7F 0/0
with effect form 25 January 2017) —H=+#aH
FILEEE)
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The primary duties of the Independent Board Committee include:

Undertakings in relation to the development of
properties

When the Controlling Shareholders, in accordance with the
Deed of Non-competition, refer to the Group any opportunity
to develop, operate, participate and/or otherwise hold any
right or interest in any business relating to any properties (the
“New Opportunity”), the Independent Board Committee shall
consider the New Opportunity in accordance with the terms
of the Deed of Non-competition.

If the Independent Board Committee considers that the pursuit
of the New Opportunity would be in the best interests of the
Group, the Independent Board Committee shall consent to the
pursuit of the New Opportunity by the Group.

If the Independent Board Committee is of the view that the
pursuit of the New opportunity by the Controlling Shareholders
will not constitute potential competition with the business of
the Group or pursuit of the New Opportunity is not in the
interests of our Group, the Independent Board Committee
shall consent to the pursuit of the New Opportunity by the
Controlling Shareholders and it shall have the power to
impose conditions and restrictions on the development of the
properties by the Controlling Shareholders in order to prevent
any form of potential competition.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration factors and its conclusion in relation to the
New Opportunity in the annual report or interim report of the
Company.
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Undertakings in relation to the sale schedules of
residential Properties

According to the Deed of Non-competition, in any city
or region where the Group has developed any serviced
apartment projects for sale, the Controlling Shareholders, their
subsidiaries or associates shall, in the event that they have
plans to launch the sale of any residential projects in the same
city or region (the “Sale of Residential Properties”), notify the
Group the detailed sale terms and all relevant information in
writing and the Independent Board Committee shall have the
right to veto the Sale of Residential Properties if it considers
that the Sale of Residential Properties would compete against
the sale schedule of any projects of the Group.

If the Group decides to launch its sale of serviced apartment
projects in the relevant city or region, the Group shall notify
the Controlling Shareholders in writing and the Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries or associates can only launch
the Sale of Residential Properties after a time gap of six
months (the “Time Gap”) from the date on which the Group
launches its sale of serviced apartment projects in the same
city or region.

If the Independent Board Committee is of the view that a
longer period of time is necessary for the Group to complete
the sale of a significant portion of its serviced apartments
before the Controlling Shareholders or their subsidiaries
or associates launch the Sale of Residential Properties, the
Independent Board Committee shall have the power to extend
the Time Gap.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration and its conclusion in relation to the above in
the annual report or interim report of the Company.
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Option to purchase and/or operate and manage
excluded business

If the Independent Board Committee considers that the
properties developed, operated or owned by the Controlling
Shareholders or their subsidiaries or associates (the “Excluded
Business”) or any part of their new businesses will constitute
competition against the Group, the Group shall be entitled
to (1) an option to purchase any equity interests, assets or
other interests which forms part of such business and/or (2)
an exclusive right to operate and manage such business.

The Independent Board Committee shall review, consider
and decide whether the Group should exercise the option to
purchase and/or operate and manage the Excluded Business
or the new business.

If the Independent Board Committee decides to exercise the
option, it shall have the power to impose conditions and/or
restrictions in order to ensure that the exercise of the option is
in line with the Group’s business strategy and business model.

The Independent Board Committee shall disclose the
consideration and its conclusion to exercise or not to exercise
the above rights in the annual report or interim report of the
Company.

Corporate governance functions

For corporate governance, the Independent Board Committee shall,

on an annual basis:

review the compliance with and enforcement of the Deed
of Non-competition by the Controlling Shareholders. The
Independent Board Committee shall disclose the results of
its review in the annual report of the Company or by way of
announcement to the public; and

review all of its decisions made pursuant the Deed of
Non-competition in such year. The Independent Board
Committee shall disclose its decisions and the basis for them in
the annual report of the Company or by way of announcement
to the public.
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The written terms of reference of the Independent Board Committee
are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FINANCIAL
REPORTING IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, in
accordance with the basis of presentation set out in note 2.2 and
the accounting policies set out in note 3.3 to the consolidated
financial statements in this annual report. The Directors are not
aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation
and information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out
an informed assessment of the Company’s financial statements,
which are put to the Board for approval. The Company provides
all members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s
performance, positions and prospects.

DIRECTORS' LIABILITY INSURANCE

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover in respect of
legal action against its Directors. The insurance covers them against
costs, charges, expenses and liabilities incurred arising out of the
corporate activities.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and considers that the
internal control system is effective and adequate.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the total remuneration paid
or payable to the Company's auditors, Ernst & Young, for audit
services and non-audit services totalling RMB4,758,000 (2016:
RMB4,685,000).

An analysis of the remuneration paid or payable to Ernst & Young
is set out below:

BTN €
NAZE—+FE+_A=+—HBAILH
FE - BRBFFRBERIEFRTRB K
BT AR RIEBML KT EHAT
BB & 48 %8 4 51 i A R 14,758,000
—T—RF : AR¥4,685,0007T) °

BN ENZKETMEEMOME D
o

Amount
(RMB)
ok
(AR#)
2017 2016
Items of auditors’ services BRI ER —E—+t5F —E—X
Audit services: Ei RS -
Annual audit service FEE R 4,250,000 3,950,000
Non-audit service: FEET R - 508,000 735,000
Total HEt 4,758,000 4,685,000

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Xing Jun (resigned with effect from 29 October 2017) and
Mr. Liu Chao (appointed with effect from 29 October 2017), the
Company Secretary and authorised representative of the Company, is
responsible for advising the Board on corporate governance matters
and ensuring that Board policy and procedures and applicable laws,
rules and regulations were followed.

In compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, both Mr. Xing Jun
and Mr. Liu Chao have participated in relevant professional training
for not less than 15 hours during the year ended 31 December
2017.
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REMUNERATION OF THE SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Details of the remuneration of Directors and the five highest paid
employees required to be disclosed under Appendix 16 of the Listing
Rules have been set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company considers that effective communication with
shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
understanding of the Group’s business, performance and
strategies. The Company also recognises the importance of timely
and non-selective disclosure of information, which will enable
shareholders and investors to make informed investment decisions.

To promote effective communication with its shareholders and
encourage their participation in general meetings, the Company
has established a shareholders’ communication policy and
maintains a website at www.haichangoceanpark.com, where
up-to-date information on the Company’s business operations and
developments are available.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

The Company intends to avoid bundling of resolutions at general
meetings such that a separate resolution shall be proposed for each
substantially separate issue at general meetings.

All resolutions put forward at shareholders’ meetings will be voted
on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange in
a timely manner after each shareholders’ meeting.
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CONVENING OF EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one or more
shareholders of the Company may convene an extraordinary
general meeting provided that they deposit a written requisition
at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong and such
requisitioning shareholders hold as at the date of deposit of such
requisition not less than 10% of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries voting rights at general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders may put forward proposals for consideration at a
general meeting in accordance with the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands and the Articles of Association.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director, the
procedures are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

PUTTING FORWARD ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company at the
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong. The Company
will respond to all enquiries on a timely and proper basis.

CONTACT DETAILS

Email: ir@haichangoceanpark.com

Postal address: Suites 2606-2607, 26/F, Two Exchange Square, 8
Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong

CHANGE IN CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no change to the restated memorandum and Articles
of Association of the Company during the year ended 31 December
2017.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS #&%¥& EE§1%

The Company believes that maintaining communications with
shareholders and potential investors at all times and making timely
information disclosure can strengthen the investors’ understanding
and recognition of the Company, enhance the transparency of the
Company and enhance the corporate governance.

The Company attaches great importance to the relationships
between the shareholders and potential investors. The Company will
treat all the shareholders and the potential investors of the Company
equally and avoid selective information disclosure. The Company
actively seek the opinions and advice of investors to achieve two-
way communication of the Company with its shareholders and
potential investors, enabling a constructive interaction between
them.

JANUARY

Participated in the Inter-connected Stock Enterprise Visit
Day held by HKEx

Participated in the conference organised
by Essence Securities, Nomura Securities,
Industrial Securities and Citibank

Participate in the investor conference call arranged by
GF Securities

Participate in the roadshow arranged
by Huatai Securities

Arranged investors for site visit in Dalian

FEBRUARY

Participated in the Corporate Day of Consumption
Industry organised by Bank of America Merrill Lynch

MARCH

Published the results announcement for 2016

Organised the analyst and investor conference
in Hong Kong

Participated in the conference held
by Everbright Securities

Conducted post-result non-deal roadshow in Hong Kong,
Shenzhen, Beijing and Shanghai
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APRIL

Participated in the investment summit organised
by Industrial Securities,
Haitong Securities and Macquarie

Arranged investors for site visit in Sanya

MAY

Participated in the conference organised by Shenwan
Hongyuan and Deutsche Bank

Conducted roadshow in Guangzhou and Shenzhen

Arranged investors for site visit in Sanya and Dalian

JUNE

Convened the annual general meeting in Hong Kong
Participated in the conference organised
by Haitong Securities, Essence International,
GF Securities and Citic Securities
Arranged investors for site visit in Dalian
Organised the investors’ reverse roadshow
in Chongging and Chengdu

JULY

Participated in the investment summit organised
by Shenwan Hongyuan Securities
Arranged investors for site visit in Dalian

AUGUST

Published the interim results announcement for 2017
Organised the analyst and investor conference call

Conducted post-result non-deal roadshow in Hong Kong,

Shenzhen, Beijing and Shanghai
Arranged investors for site visit in Qingdao

SEPTEMBER

Participated in the conference organised by
Guoxin International, GF Securities,
Soochow Securities, Everbright Securities,
CITIC Securities and Haitong Securities
Arranged investors for site visit in Dalian and Qingdao
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OCTOBER

Participated in the conference organised by Citibank
Participated in the roadshow conducted

by Industrial Securities in Beijing,

Shanghai and Shenzhen
Arranged investors for site visit in Shanghai

NOVEMBER

Participated in the conference organised by

Bank of America Merrill Lynch, Shenwan Hongyuan,

and Industrial Securities

Participated in the roadshow conducted by
Okasan Securities in Tokyo

Arranged investors for site visit in --

DECEMBER

Participated in the conference organised
by Haitong Securities

Arranged investors for site visit in Sanya
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20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Ernst & Young

22/F, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue
Central, Hong Kong

EY:

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.

Tel: +852 2846 9888
Fax: +852 2868 4432
wWww.ey.com

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Haichang
Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 163 to 295, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (”IFRSs”) issued
by the International Accounting Standards Board (the “IASB”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards
on Auditing ("ISAs”) issued by the International Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board (the “IAASB”). Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results
of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion
on the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
BRELSEE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Y= B RRERE

The Group is an operator of theme parks in the People’s
Republic of China and has a material operational asset
base which may be vulnerable to impairment when
the performance is below expectations. It is a normal
trend of tourism industry to suffer losses during the first
couple of years since the commencement of operations.
Management performed annual impairment tests based
on assumptions including revenue forecasts, gross
and operating margins and the discount rates, which
involved significant judgement.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRELEREFRTNEESE

Our audit procedures included, amongst others, the
evaluation of the Group’s policies and procedures to
identify impairment indicators for underperforming
theme parks, and review of management’s impairment
tests for those underperforming theme parks
with impairment indicators. Besides, we assessed
the appropriateness of the assumptions used by
management including the discount rates and long
term growth rates by making reference to the Group’s
other operated parks and industry peers. We compared
cash flow forecast to internal forecasts and long-term
and strategic plans that were approved by senior
management as well as the historic trend analysis.
When assessing the reasonableness of the projected
sales growth, we considered the accuracy of historical
forecasts and their consistency with other information
such as the expected life of each park and the market
in which it is located.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B HENRE
To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd. BEESFEABEERERATIZERE
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) (RESHEZMA T ZHRI F])
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued) AR EZSEIE (8)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
BREEKSBE BRELSEEERTNEERR &

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (continued)

Y% - BERRERE (&)

Based on the outcome of the impairment tests, which
resulted in sufficient headroom, the Group did not
recognise any impairment charge for the year ended
31 December 2017. This area was important to our
audit due to the size of the carrying value (40% of the
total assets as at 31 December 2017) of the assets for
production and the judgement involved in determining
key assumptions such as future sales growth, profit
margins and the discount rates, in particular for certain
theme parks with an aggregate carrying amount of
RMB2,453,745,000 as at 31 December 2017 which
were incurring losses.
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Relevant disclosures are included in Notes 4 and 12 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HRELER

Valuation of investment properties

REY R IA1E

The valuation of the investment properties is important
to our audit due to the significance of the investment
properties’ carrying value (20% of the total assets at
31 December 2017) and the judgement involved in
determining key assumptions such as estimated rental
revenues and capitalisation rates.
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Relevant disclosures are included in Notes 4 and 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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BREAEIR ()

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REBELEREFXTHNEERTE

We reviewed and checked the objectivity, independence
and competence of the external valuers. We furthermore
checked the accuracy of the property related
information and involved our valuation specialists to
assist us in reviewing the work of the external valuers
and challenging the underlying assumptions, such as
comparing them to external market rents and yields
if available. We also evaluated the adequacy of the

disclosures on the valuation of investment properties.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

HEELSE

Deferred tax
BT IE

As at 31 December 2017, the Group recorded deferred
tax assets of RMB171,809,000 in the consolidated
financial statements. The Group recognised these
deferred tax assets to the extent that it was probable
that future taxable profits would be available against
which the temporary differences could be utilised. The
probability of recovery was impacted by uncertainties
regarding the timing and level of future taxable profits
together with the Group’s tax planning strategies.
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Relevant disclosures are included in Notes 4 and 17 to
the consolidated financial statements.
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

REBELEREFRTHNERSE

Our audit procedures included evaluating assumptions
and methodologies used by the Group to determine
the recoverable amount for each tax jurisdiction based
on budgets and business plans. We also ascertained
that information used was derived from the Group’s
business plans that were subject to internal reviews.
Furthermore, we assessed the historical accuracy of
management’s profit projections, and the consistency
between information used for estimation of future
taxable profits and that used for the impairment
analysis.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OTHER INFORMATION
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information

INCLUDED IN THE

included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with IFRSs issued by the IASB and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor's report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the
audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B B

To the shareholders of Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ho Wai Ling.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
SHFR@R

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_Z—+tF+=-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
Notes RMB000 RMB'000
Hiat AR¥FT AREFr
REVENUE A 6 1,680,221 1,649,710
Cost of sales HEM AR (770,560) (748,325)
GROSS PROFIT EF 909,661 901,385
Other income and gains H WA RIS 6 162,840 111,309
Selling and marketing expenses HEEMTMSHERY (142,420) (119,709)
Administrative expenses THER (367,034) (314,079)
Other expenses HibE A (6,793) (14,051)
Finance costs BTG R AN 8 (149,065) (145,570)
Share of loss of an associate DME—fEBE R REE (30) (857)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX BB AR R 7 407,159 418,428
Income tax expense FTis#ix 10 (115,616) (200,501)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FREF 291,543 217,927
Attributable to: SEER
Owners of the parent SRAFEAA 279,792 200,972
Non-controlling interests IR 11,751 16,955
291,543 217,927
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE BARSEREREA
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS EEEREF
OF THE PARENT
— Basic and diluted (RMB cents) - ERREE (ARESD) 11 6.99 5.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

CXiEA L

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_T—+tF+-_A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RE
Notes RMB’'000 RMB’000
Hiat AREFT AREFT
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FRiER 291,543 217,927
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) Hit2mEkE /(EE)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) to be REZBRGEENHERE
reclassified to profit or loss in ERREMEE
subsequent periods: e/ (B18) -
Exchange differences on translation BERINEBRIE R =58
of foreign operation 176,016 (191,909)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) REZHBEEHIEZE
to be reclassified to profit or loss BaENHEAEE
in subsequent periods Wi (EE) B8 176,016 (191,909)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income not REZBRETSEH EE
to be reclassified to profit or loss in BakOEMEHE
subsequent periods: (B1#8),/ Wz
Exchange differences on translation BREBIEBNELEZRE
of foreign operation (178,682) 197,635
Net other comprehensive (loss)/income REAHBIEEHIEZE
not to be reclassified to profit or loss BRENEMER
in subsequent periods (B8 h&EFE (178,682) 197,635
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/INCOME FREMZE (BE) K&
FOR THE YEAR (2,666) 5,726
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FRAXEREAHE
FOR THE YEAR 288,877 223,653
Attributable to: FEN
Owners of the parent SAREEA A 277,126 206,698
Non-controlling interests FEIE R RE RS 11,751 16,955
288,877 223,653




20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

B O BRI &R

31 December 2017
—F+t%+=-A=+—H

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF —E—RE
+=ZA=+t—-8A +=A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
i AREFT AREFT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ER S 12 4,892,988 3,014,867
Investment properties REME 13 2,387,030 2,418,890
Prepaid land lease payments BN T HEERNRK 14 1,704,584 1,239,908
Intangible assets B EE 15 12,193 12,127
Available-for-sale investments AEHERE 16 90,203 19,170
Deferred tax assets RIEFHIEEE 17 25,063 35,730
Investment in an associate R—BE D RHRE 18 79,113 47,143
Long-term prepayments and deposits REBEAFEREZS 24 532,935 163,377
Total non-current assets FREBEELE 9,724,109 6,951,212
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Completed properties held for sale RIEHERNEERME 19 228,514 260,399
Properties under development BRAME 20 514,718 512,563
Gross amount due from a contract customer ~ EME XN EFHBEE 21 5,166 12,938
Inventories FE 22 18,941 22,337
Trade receivables B S RENIA 23 170,542 128,274
Available-for-sale investments AHEERE 16 200 200
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BNHIE - Re REME KA 24 149,187 418,503
Due from related companies i) VNI 25, 41(b) 14,207 12,649
Pledged bank balances BHERITEER 26 1,149 6,548
Cash and cash equivalents RekBLEED 26 1,305,108 873,499
Total current assets mBEELE 2,407,732 2,247,910
CURRENT LIABILITIES REEE
Trade and bills payables B IORNFIBERENZR 27 1,086,381 289,583
Other payables and accruals Hin R s RE B 28 391,372 318,175
Due to related companies AL NG 25, 42(b) 26,540 1,929
Advances from customers KEEF#N 29 33,774 24,366
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings STEIRIT R EMBR 30 1,775,257 1,322,063
Government grants B R 8k 32 124,014 22,540
Deferred revenue REWA 33 19,957 15,993
Tax payables e IR 10 212,853 276,447
Total current liabilities mERELE 3,670,148 2,271,096
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (1,262,416) (23,186)

continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

SO B AR T
31 December 2017
—E—+tF+=-A=1+—H

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RE
t=A=+-B +t=ZA=t+-H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
Kz AR¥Fr AEETFT
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #EERRBER 8,461,693 6,928,026
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FrEEE
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings FTRIRTTREMER 30 2,957,133 1,579,546
Government grants B HHE 32 896,811 926,466
Deferred tax liabilities ERERIEAE 17 184,815 203,180
Total non-current liabilities FrBaEaE 4,038,759 2,709,192
NET ASSETS EEFE 4,422,934 4,218,834
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS BRAEHEE AELER
OF THE PARENT
Share capital AR 34 2,451 2,451
Reserves s 4,306,503 4,029,377
4,308,954 4,031,828
Non-controlling interests IEFE R 113,980 187,006
TOTAL EQUITY R 4,422,934 4,218,834
Wang Xuguang Gao Jie
FiB} =AR
Director Director
B5ZE EBZE



20175 ERE BEBFLERRERATF

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EOEREEX

Year ended 31 December 2017
BHE-_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H

CONSOLIDATED

Attributable to owners of the parent

BRAREARE
Asset Exchange Non-
Share Share Capital ~ revaluation  Statutory  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total interests equity
gz EX FER
Ba  REE  EARE  EMRE  iERE RBEE  RERM &3t B bl
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000
ABRTT  ARETL  ARETL  ARRTL  ARRTL  ARKTL  ARETL  ARET:L  ARKT:L  ARETZ
(note 34) (note 35(a)) (note 35(b)
(Hi31) (H356) (Hiz351t))
At 1 January 2016 R=F-~§-A-A 2,451 2,363,685+ 731,576 37,105 153,213* 12,626* 524,347+ 3,825,003 170118 3,995,181
Profit for the year ERgH] - - - - - - 200972 200972 16,955 27927
Bxchange differences on transation BB EAER ZR
of foreign operations - - - - - 5726 - 5,726 - 5726
Total comprehensive income EREENEES
for the year - - - - - 5726 200,972 206,698 16,955 203,653
Transfer to statutory resere ARG - - - - 38,888 - (38821) 67 (67) -
At 31 December 2016 and RZZ-AETZA
1 January 2017 t-BR=E-tF
-A-H 2,451 2,363,685 731,576% 37,105 192,161* 18,352* 686,498* 4,031,828 187,006 4,218,834
Profit for the year EREH - - - - - -9 279,792 11,751 291,583
Bxchange differences on translation ~~ EIESNSKRAER £
of foreign operations - - - - - (2,666) - (2,666) - (2,666)
Total comprehensive incomel(oss) EREERE/
for the year (B%8) 28 - - - - - (2666 219792 277126 "5 288877
Dividends paid to non-controling BRFARRERS
shareholders - - - - - - - - (84,177) (84,777)
Transfer to statutory resenve BRTITRE - - - - 3,779 - (34,779) - - -
At31 December 2017 RIB-tE+2A
S 2,451 2,363,685+ 731,576 37,105 226,940* 15,686* 931,511 4,308,954 113980 4422934
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of s HEHBEEER_-_ZE—tER T

—AFTZA=T - BHNERERHESD
Al /& A R #4,306,503,0007T & A R ¥
4,029,377,0007T °

RMB4,306,503,000 and RMB4,029,377,000 as at 31 December 2017
and 2016, respectively.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHBEESRER
Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_T—+tF+-_A=+—H
2017 2016
—E—tfF —E-RF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
5523 ARMTFT AREFT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES XREZEZHHNRERE
Profit before tax R A5 B e A 407,159 418,428
Adjustments for: AT RIBEELHFE
Depreciation of items of property, plant and Mz~ WE KR
equipment RIBEBITE 12 162,130 168,415
Amortisation of intangible assets EEEBE 15 3,142 2,760
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments TE AT+ b AE B AN R 8 13,841 14,994
Impairment of provision for inventories FEREREE 33 193
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant and HEDE - BE K
equipment RETE B M EE 7 4,475 822
Changes in fair value of investment properties BREMERRBEE 13 3,694 9,261
Government grant recognised C FER BT BG 32 (89,560) (69,072)
Gain on revaluation upon reclassification HFEREEEZX
from completed properties held for sale to BHD ’%tﬁﬁ'ﬁxﬁm%m
investment properties X Rl g 19 - (717)
Gain on disposal of investment properties &R B Y W= 6 (743) -
Impairment of trade receivables g 5 W SRR E 7,017 18,716
Impairment of prepayments, deposits and other ~ TETTRIE ~ & K&
receivables ?iﬁﬂthﬁ KIE R (B 24 493 323
Finance costs BATERAR 8 149,065 145,570
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss &5 (Was), 18k (760) 3,375
Share of loss of an associate o h—fEE S A R EE 18 30 857
Interest income FEMA (40,050) (3,893)
619,966 710,032
Increase in properties under development TR YL M (2,297) (29,382)
Decrease in completed properties held for sale REHENEERYER D 19 32,027 128,444
Decrease in a gross amount due from a contract  FEM & 495 SRIAARFE R A
customer 7,772 30,729
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories BRA (Em) 3,363 (7,919)
Increase in trade receivables = %J—Eqﬂﬁ)\lﬁim (49,285) (62,552)
Decrease/(Increase) in prepayments, deposits and TR ﬁ?/i\&
other receivables E@EH& 18
JEJZQ\/(HJH) 311,701 (310,833)
Decrease in restricted cash and bank balances PR %'Jfﬁi&fﬁﬁ,iu R - 2,249
Increase in amounts due from related companies  F& 45 BAIES 2% B 5RIHLE AN (1,558) (8,897)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to related A<t A B A =) FRIE
companies En, O i ) 24,611 (1,924)
Increase/(decrease) in advances from customers 2R BB EFIL N (Rt 9,408 (79,720)
Increase in trade and bills payables B I ENRIER
JERT SRR N 18,208 39,319
Increase in other payables and accruals H th & A FRIE I
FEETE R 73,197 23,989
Increase in government grants BT e BG4 N 161,379 115,884
Increase in deferred revenue BT AIE N 3,964 5,682
Cash generated from operations RETHEENES 1,212,456 555,101
Interest received =R &R 40,050 3,893
Tax paid EARHIE (186,908) (130,547)

continued/...
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
EHRERER

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_Z—+F+-A=+—H

2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Notes RMB'000 RMB’000

lir3 ARBTFT  ARETT

Net cash flows from operating activities RETHEENTFHRERE 1,065,598 428,447
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES XRERETHHNERERE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BEWE  WEKREER

equipment (1,442,928) (522,412)
Increase in long-term prepayments and deposits REATEN RRIE R ige 10N (87,993) (112,704)
Increase in prepaid land lease payments Tﬁi\ﬁiﬂﬂﬂfﬁmi‘ﬂﬂ (501,118) (170,126)
Increase in available-for-sale investments —H HEK \é{iﬁbﬂ (71,033) =
Loans and receivables B AR R EL At FE LR (30,000) =
Purchase of intangible assets BEETEE 15 (3,208) (5,819)
Investment in an associate R—EBE AR NIEE (32,000) (48,000)
Additions to investment properties LI EYE 13 (15,305) (46,411)
Disposal of investment properties HEREYHE 4,052 =
Net cash flows used in investing activities BREZHFMAERERE (2,179,533) (905,472)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES XRERETHHNRERE
Decrease of finance lease payables Eﬁéfﬂﬁ_ﬁﬁw\lﬁﬁ 25 (1,553) (952)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders ENEREUE T ¥ (84,777) =
New bank and other loans iRy &ﬁﬁﬂﬁm 2,907,840 1,298,000
Repayment of bank and other loans = Eﬁﬁ&ﬁ1 =4 (1,075,506) (761,454)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged deposits BIEEFEIURL (38 0) 5,399 (51)
Interest paid BRI A (203,953) (155,588)
Net cash flows from financing activities BEITHEETEER 1,547,450 379,955
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND ReREESEEY

CASH EQUIVALENTS MO ) 433,515 (97,070)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year E?ﬂﬁ'ﬁﬁ@&fﬁfﬁ—rﬁ 873,405 968,124
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net [ERe = Sk (1,906) 2,351
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRNEESREASEEY

AT END OF YEAR 1,305,014 873,405
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRBSESEMERDT

CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances Be MIRITES 1,305,108 843,490
Non-pledged deposits with original maturity of U EEEFREIEFE LR =@ A

less than three months when acquired Y EEER - 30,009

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
statement of financial position
Restricted cash and bank balances

AR KRFFAFIHRE
kR EEY 1,305,108 873,499
IR EIHR & RIRITAEER (94) (94)

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
statement of cash flows

BE&REXRTHINES
MR HEY 1,305,014 873,405
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
51 75 R B o

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_T—+tF+-_A=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

Haichang Ocean Park Holdings Ltd., (the “Company”), was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 November 2011
with limited liability. The registered office address of the
Company is at PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s subsidiaries are principally engaged in the
development, construction and operation of theme parks,
property development and investment and hotel operations
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the Company’s immediate
and ultimate holding company is Haichang Group Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI")
at 31 December 2017.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at the date of this
report are set out below:

NAREEER
BEBFARERARAAR ([K
AR RZZE——F+—A=+
—BERAEREFMRIRABERA
Ale ARAIMEMMPHSRIU A
PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1104, Cayman
Islands

AARMKMBARIEZEFREAR
HAE ([FE]) REME - ER
LEXTELNE MEER - URK
BFBEEE - RAREERE -
RZE—ttF+ZA=+—H K
RANEELSRERARAEE
SEERAA  ZARA—ERE
BREZHE ((RBEXES]) &
PXILHY AT ©

BERWE L RNER
RARIRE B M AR A E D A
BT -

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 AMRY/ RIR BRAEER/
EXHRRAM #REx  ROIRGEEESE  TERE
Direct Indirect
EE [}
Haichang Holdings (Asia) Ltd. British Virgin slands UsD1 100% - Investment holding
("Haichang Asia") 22 December 2011 3 RERK
BEER (M) BRAA ABRUES
(IGEZM)) 2
Haichang Holdings (Hong Kong) Limited® Hong Kong HKD1 - 100%  Investment holding
("Haichang Holdings HK") 5 December 2011 AT REER
BBk (B8) ARAAY Bk
([BERRES))! “2——%1ZA1A
B8 (PE) BRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB1,600,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
("Haichang China") ***¢ 11 December 1996 AE1,600,000,0007 REER
&S (hE) BRAT hE /hEN
([/GEHE]) **+ —NAETZAT-H



CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

017 ERE B

BFAEERERAT

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INFORMATION 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

B ISER MR

Year ended 31 December 2017
BHE_T—+tF+=-A=+—H

RNEIREBEY (8)
BEMBRRNER (F)

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 AMRL/ RIR BRTEER/
XHURAH HRRx  AAIRERERAL  IERR
Direct Indirect
BR [}
NEBEREEEARAT PRC/Meainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
(“Dalian Tourism")f 28 January 2010 AR%10,000,0007 RERK
NEEEKBEEARAT hE /hER
(TR “2-25-A-1/\A
AEZRERELRARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB240,584,000 - 583% Park operation
("LHT")¥ 13 February 2001 AE%240,584,0007 NEEE
NEZRESTAEERAR hE /hER
(TRErx]) “FE-E-At=H
FEMETtRARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB246,148,000 - 100% Park operation
("Qingdao Park")? 26 September 2002 AE%246,148,0007 NREE
EEmaFt RERAT hE /hEh
([E5MEi]) 4 “EZCEAAZTSA
NEBEHRARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Property development
NEEEBBERAA 13 May 2003 AR%30,000,0007 %R
e /PR
“ZT-FRAT=R
AAmEEXERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB30,305,000 - 100%  Park operation, property
("Chengdu Park") 18 December 2003 AR #30,305,0007 development and
BB ETEXARAT hE /hEm investment
(Tmms)) ¢ “TEET2RTIA NEEE  MRLR
k&
RERMEHt ARERRAA PRC/Mainland China RMB460,000,000 - 100%  Park operation, property
("Wuhan Park”) 26 October 2004 ARE460,000,0007T development and
REBYAH RRERRAT RE/RER investment
([HEm ¢ “REMETAZT5A NERE MEER
kixE
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Bt 75 R MY

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-_ZT—t+tHF+-HA=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP

(continued)

INFORMATION 1.

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

NAREEER (8)

BEMBLRNER (F)

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 HmAY/ RLR BRTEER/
EXHWRRAM HRRA  ADAEGERESM  TEXR
Direct Indirect
B& B
BERAEERERRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Park and hotel operations
(*Yantai Park")? 15 March 2005 A&%30,000,0007 AEREEEE
EERABERARRAA e/ RERD
([BamABE])! “EERE=ATEA
REBSIEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB203,414,800 - 100% Park operation, property
(“Tianjin Park")? 24 September 2007 AE#203,414,8007 development and
REBATEEERAR e/ PERD investment
([R#f@]) ¢ “ERLENAZTIA NEEE NFER
k&
AEZRENETR AR AR PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 - 49%  Park operation
("4D Cinema")*** 25 May 2001 AE#%20,000,0007 NEEE
NEEFANEYRERAT hE/PERD
([ ]) *+t —EE2-FRA-THA
FEREm At RERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB210,000,000 - 100%  Park development
(“Shanghai Haichang") 19 July 2011 AE%210,000,0007 and operation
LESEREERARAT hE/RERD NEEEREE
([L5BE])" “E—EtAthA
AEEEYRTHTRARARA PRC/Mainland China USD58,235,294 = 100%  Park operation, property
("Discoveryland")* 28 May 2012 58,235,294 T development and
AESERRIETRLRERAA hE /PR mvestment
([ZRIA)* “E-ZERAZTNA REE NEEE
&&fﬁ
ERBEMINSRERRARAA PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Park operation, property
("Chongging Caribbean")? 18 January 2012 AR10,000,0007 development and
ERSENSLBREERARAE hE/RER investment
([ERmatE)) ! “5-Z5-ATIH NEEE MEEE

k&
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mg R R M

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE-_Z—t+tF+-A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

NAREEER (B)

BEMBLRNER (F)

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 HRAL/HYR BRAEER/
EXBERAS SREx  AOAARGERESL  IERE
Direct Indirect
EE [}
CERRB T RAERARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Park development
(“Sanya Haichang Dream World")# 24 December 2013 AK#10,000,0007 and operation
=DREB I RIERERAR hE /hEN AEYRREE
([=Z8E807 R ZE-=F+ZAZ1RmA
HEBEELERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Indoor amusement
("Shanghai Amusement" )t 10 June 2015 AE%10,000,0007 ERRE
LAREEEERAA hE/ RN
([EEE)) “E-RERRTH
EhBEREEARRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Tourism consulting,
(“Tourism Consulting”) 29 June 2015 AK10,000,0007C construction project
HEBERERAERAT hE /hER design and consulting
(M) ¢ “F-RF AN it REER R
kA
LEBE L ERARAT PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Cultural and art
("Cultural Development")* 14 July 2015 AR10,000,0007 communication
LRBEX I ERERAA e/ RERD and planning
(Tefe Rl “E-RFtATHA R R RS
188 (R E) REBR AT PRC/Mainland China RMB190,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
("Haichang China Investment” 23 November 2015 AK%190,000,0007 BERR
88 () RERRAA hE /hEN
([GEHERE])! “2-REt-ACt=H
ShEEEEARAA PRC/Mainland China RMB190,000,000 - 100%  Development, construction
("Sanya Haichang Property” )t 12 November 2015 AKEH190,000,0007C and operation
SOBEERARAA e/ RERD of commercial properties
([=ZBEE%])" “2-RE+-A+ZH ¥R RIREERANE



HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 R AR BT EE

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-_ZT—t+tHF+-HA=+—H

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

NAREEER (8)

BEMBLRNER (F)

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 ARAL/ HYR BRTEER/
EXHWRRAM #REx  AOARGERESE  TERE
Direct Indirect
B& 3
IRBERESERAITERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 = 70%  Radio and television
(“Beijing Shenlan")? 30 November 2015 AR H5,000,0007 production
IREERESRERINERAR e/ RERD WERREREE
(ERREL) ! “F-nEt+-R=1A
LAEE AR FEERRAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Energy performance
("Shanghai Linfu"}* 11 May 2016 AR#10,000,0007 contracting
LEEEARRRERARAT e/ RERD SHRER
([eEe))! “E-7ERRT-A
LEBERENRHARA PRC/Mainland China RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Import and export of goods
("Shanghai Biotechnology”)’ 30 May 2016 AK%100,000,0007 and technology, and
ESEEBANNEER AR “E-ERA=TH marine biotechnology
([ HEEmps)) hE/PERD development
AmRBIEL QAR
BEERRRE
HEESRERERRAT PRC/Mainland China RMB170,000,000 - 100%  Financing lease business
(“Changhai Lease")? 7 June 2016 AE170,000,000 HEMELE
LBERHAREARAA hE/RERD
([E5HE]) ZE-7"§/AtA
gNEemg ARERAA PRC/Mainland China RMBS0,000,000 - 100%  Park development
(“Zhengzhou Park")? 6 July 2016 AR50,000,000 and operation
BHEERNEE ARARAT hE/RERD ARERREE
(T M) ZE-7"EtARA
AR ERBEERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Property management,
("Shanghai Property Service"}? 29 August 2016 AK5,000,000 and landscaping
LasnERBERAR hE/RERD NEERREMRTR

([ LEnER%D*

“E-RAENAZTAR



CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)
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Year ended 31 December 2017
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1. RAREEEHR (&)

BEMBLRNER (F)

Place and date of
Name incorporation/ Percentage of
establishment Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
and business paid -up capital to the Company Principal activities
48 AMRL/ RIR BRTEER/
XHURAH HRRx  AAIRERERAL  IERR
Direct Indirect
BR 3
REBEMERBEARA PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Property management,
(“Tianjin Property Service"f 15 November 2016 ARS5,000,000 and landscaping
REBENEREARAT hE /hEN MEERREMRIR
(TR 1)+ 2 Et-ATEE
BN BEREARRERRARLA PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Park development
("Zhengzhou Tourism Development i 20 June 2017 ARE10,000,000 and operation
IMEESF AEREERERAT hE /hEN NRERREE
(B HEER]) “EtERAZTH

* %

* Kk

According to the articles of association of LHT, the profit sharing
ratios of LHT are not in proportion to their equity ratios but are
as defined in the articles of association. Pursuant to the articles
of association, Haichang China and the other equity holder
share the profits of LHT at a 7:3 ratio.

4D Cinema is treated as a subsidiary since the Group has been
delegated the equity holder’s right from the other equity holder
to control and operate 4D Cinema. The profit sharing ratios of
4D Cinema are in proportion to the respective equity ratios of
the Group and the equity holder.

Haichang China is a wholly-owned foreign investment enterprise
invested by Haichang Holdings HK. As at the end of 2017, the
registered capital of Haichang China amounted to RMB1,600
million while there was RMB180 million remaining unpaid.

The subsidiaries are limited liability companies.

* RBRERBENERMAA - KNER
O R 90 B ) 3 3F 4 A R L
PIEE  BEERERAAARE -
Rip=iRAA - BETER LR
w15 A A7 3RO L DI # 5 A& R
EYAIE o

= MEZRRESAEENNERQ
A AAAEEEEMERITAA
?ﬁ%%E%EA%%UME%U&NM
PR BT o MR BT RE D R L
1§U&$%l&$%m$%ﬁA%§Eﬁ
RELLOIEESE -

ok BERER—MEEEEREER
BHSNABERR - RZF—£F
FE - BETHENEMERSAR
#1,600,000,0007T © E i AR %
180,000,0007T i R4 2

# MERRREREEAR -
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Year ended 31 December 2017
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs")
promulgated by the International Accounting Standards
Board (the “IASB”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB"”) and
all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

1 Rl
AR B AR TO AR B ER & 5 2 A
ZBe ([BEREENZEE]) %
o B B B B 795 e 5 22 A1) (T B BR B 5
EEA REFB QARG R E
MEMBR - BRIEWRIN - KN
B HREE L A B I AR R -
MxEMEAR LR BERE - &
AEHERIN AU BHREAARRE
(TAR® D 3B - mAEBEBDY
EEHEINT -

REEAE
REHPBEBRRBIBEARE REHN
Brr (BEIA&E]) BE_F
—tF+t-A=+t—HLFENH
BRER-MWBARARNRAEEK
&F‘Eﬁﬂ HNER (BREBLEE

B) EAREUSEREHRER
E’J&%b@#&%@%‘ﬂ&ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂbx
KEEFEBEIREHROEN (AR
SEERTRAELNIATEREY
RPREHNRFRERN) FEZE
Cl ¥R - BIEIS I HIHE o

H

WARREZRKEEERLNIRE
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Mo AIREERFEERTHEEY
REHSOENSEEE —YHEH
SENER B

(a) EREBEHRHEMBREREAN
BRITEE

(b) EMEOLHRELNER ;

X

0 AEENREEREBEERE
T o

MEBARMPBERR IR ERNAF
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised IFRSs for the first

time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to I1AS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for
Unrealised Losses

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities:

Clarification of the Scope of IFRS 12

Amendments to IFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements to IFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The nature and the impact of the amendments are described

below:

(a)

Amendments to IAS 7 require an entity to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash flows
and non-cash changes. Disclosure of the changes in
liabilities arising from financing activities is provided in
note 37(b) to the financial statements.

Amendments to IAS 12 clarify that an entity, when
assessing whether taxable profits will be available against
which it can utilise a deductible temporary difference,
needs to consider whether tax law restricts the sources
of taxable profits against which it may make deductions
on the reversal of that deductible temporary difference.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance on how
an entity should determine future taxable profits and
explain the circumstances in which taxable profit may
include the recovery of some assets for more than their
carrying amount. The amendments have had no impact
on the financial position or performance of the Group
as the Group has no deductible temporary differences or
assets that are in the scope of the amendments.

Amendments to IFRS 12 clarify that the disclosure
requirements in IFRS 12, other than those disclosure
requirements in paragraphs B10 to B16 of IFRS 12, apply
to an entity’s interest in a subsidiary, a joint venture
or an associate, or a portion of its interest in a joint
venture or an associate that is classified as held for sale
or included in a disposal group classified as held for sale.
The amendments have had no impact on the Group’s
financial statements as there was no subsidiary of the
Group classified as a disposal group held for sale as at
31 December 2017 and so no additional information is
required to be disclosed.

22%%@%&&%%%
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
IFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to IFRS 2
Amendments to IFRS 4
IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 9

Amendments to IFRS 10
and IAS 28

IFRS 15
Amendments to IFRS 15

IFRS 16
[FRS 17
Amendments to IAS 19
Amendments to IAS 28
Amendments to IAS 40
IFRIC-22
[FRIC-23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle

Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-based
Payment Transactions'

Applying IFRS 9 Financial Instruments with IFRS 4
Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments'
Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between and
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture*

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers’

Leases?

Insurance Contracts®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement?

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures?

Transfers of Investment Property'

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’

Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments?

Amendments to the following standards:

- IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International
Financial Reporting Standards'

- 1AS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures'

Amendments to the following standards:

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations?

- IFRS 11 Joint Arrangement?

- AS 12 Income Taxes?
- |AS 23 Borrowing Costs?

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2019

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2021

4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for

adoption
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180

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Further information about those IFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below. Of those standards,
IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 will be applicable for the Group's financial
year ending 31 December 2018 and are not expected to have
a significant impact upon adoption. Whilst management has
performed a detailed assessment of the estimated impacts of
these standards, that assessment is based on the information
currently available to the Group. The actual impacts upon
adoption could be different to those below, depending on
additional reasonable and supportable information being made
available to the Group at the time of applying the standards.

The IASB issued amendments to IFRS 2 in June 2016 that
address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet an employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and the accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a
share-based payment transaction changes its classification
from cash-settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify
that the approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to
cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce
an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with
net share settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in its
entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment transaction
when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the amendments
clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-settled
share-based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-settled
transaction from the date of the modification. On adoption,
entities are required to apply the amendments without restating
prior periods, but retrospective application is permitted if they
elect to adopt for all three amendments and other criteria are
met. The Group will adopt the amendments from 1 January
2018. The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL STANDARDS

(continued)

In July 2014, the IASB issued the final version of IFRS 9,
bringing together all phases of the financial instruments

REPORTING

project to replace IAS 39 and all previous versions of IFRS 9.
The standard introduces new requirements for classification
and measurement, impairment and hedge accounting. The
Group will adopt IFRS 9 from 1 January 2018. The Group will
not restate comparative information and will recognise any
transition adjustments against the opening balance of equity
at 1 January 2018. During 2017, the Group has performed
a detailed assessment of the impact of the adoption of
IFRS 9. The expected impacts relate to the classification and
measurement and the impairment requirements and are
summarised as follows:

(a) Classification and measurement

The Group does not expect that the adoption of IFRS
9 will have a significant impact on the classification
and measurement of its financial assets. It expects to
continue measuring at fair value all financial assets
currently held at fair value. Equity investments currently
held as available for sale will be measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income as the investments
are intended to be held for the foreseeable future and
the Group expects to apply the option to present fair
value changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and
losses recorded in other comprehensive income for the
equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

(b) Impairment

IFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through
other comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that
are not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
under IFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected credit
loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a lifetime
basis. The Group will apply the simplified approach and
record lifetime expected losses that are estimated based
on the present values of all cash shortfalls over the
remaining life of all of its trade receivables. Furthermore,
the Group will apply the general approach and record
twelve-month expected credit losses that are estimated
based on the possible default events on its other
receivables within the next twelve months. The Group
has expected that the changes in accounting policies will
not have a significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements from 2018 onwards.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and in
IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or
loss when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a
business. For a transaction involving assets that do not
constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss
only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28
was removed by the IASB in December 2015 and a
new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for
associates and joint ventures. However, the amendments
are available for adoption now.

2.3 Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ@‘n’ﬂi’_{% HY B R

(b) B{E

B B B 75 ¥ & 2 B SF9IR B
K iR H 3 IR 1R IR B R B
B EENFIRATRE -
BBBERR AN BEFENLR
Bl - HERWERR - B
AP B ERE NS - A
RN A A (B (B RO SR AY B 75
TAMNRE BB+ _@AxX
SHREBEBRREERAELE
1T— IR - AEBFIRAZ
S/ETE - YRS REME
B 5 RERRHN R BE A
RemRBERRELETHED
ZHIFRMEL o H - AEE
R — RRITE L ARE AR K +
— {8 A P E e R IR RO A BE
BAOFEMFCET —EANEY
EEEX - AEERARETHK
ROEH KB AKES =
- N\FENPBRRELS

=P
REE -

BUBR B H5 iR 5 2 RIE 105 R &
B & st R 2858 2 B 5] AR
REIBR B SRS 2RI SE109% K
BB 2 5T 2 A 285k 2 IR
RIBREHEEEBENRNE
BRNAIZENEERESEA
BTN —BE - ZEEET
ARERRIEEHBEBZE QR
HAELRRIZHEMEELES
EABK—IEERE  BRE
EUR S BB o BT
BREERD  RHFELERN
W BB E A ERENRE
ERZBERRRAE L DA
AR RIEEERNIBET
TR - ZFBIREER - B
e ERBEEEE RN =T —
AF+= A5k T BRI 53R
HHEBFE105 L HE SR
F28R ZIER] AR AR 58 I &
REER - TR aR ) A A HR
BREBENT RAERRIN
SEBRERE BZHREE
BT o AT ZEBEIAAIR
HEFERA o

+



20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mg R R M

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_Z—+F+-A=+—H

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL 2.3 EﬁEﬁﬁT e 7R AE R HY B PR
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS BRI EAER (48)
(continued)

(b) Impairment (continued)

(b) RE (%)

IFRS 15, issued in May 2014, establishes a new
five-step model to account for revenue arising from
contracts with customers. Under IFRS 15, revenue is
recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which an entity expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring goods or services to a customer. The
principles in IFRS 15 provide a more structured approach
for measuring and recognising revenue. The standard
also introduces extensive qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of total
revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances
between periods and key judgements and estimates. The
standard will supersede all current revenue recognition
requirements under IFRSs. Either a full retrospective
application or a modified retrospective adoption is
required on the initial application of the standard. In
April 2016, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 15
to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on
principal versus agent and licences of intellectual
property, and transition. The amendments are also
intended to help ensure a more consistent application
when entities adopt IFRS 15 and decrease the cost and
complexity of applying the standard. The Group plans to
adopt the transitional provisions in IFRS 15 to recognise
the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January
2018. In addition, the Group plans to apply the new
requirements only to contracts that are not completed
before 1 January 2018. The Group expects that the
transitional adjustment to be made on 1 January 2018
upon initial adoption of IFRS 15 will not be material and
the expected changes in accounting policies will not have
a material impact on the Group’s financial statements
from 2018 onwards.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in IFRS 15
are more detailed than those under the current IAS 18. The
presentation requirements represent a significant change from
current practice and will significantly increase the volume of
disclosures required in the Group’s financial statements. Many
of the disclosure requirements in IFRS 15 are new and the
Group has assessed that the impact of some of these disclosure
requirements will be significant. In particular, the Group
expects that the notes to the financial statements will be
expanded because of the disclosure of significant judgements
made on determining the transaction prices of those contracts
that include variable consideration, how the transaction prices
have been allocated to the performance obligations, and the
assumptions made to estimate the stand-alone selling price
of each performance obligation. In addition, as required by
IFRS 15, the Group will disaggregate revenue recognised from
contracts with customers into categories that depict how the
nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows are affected by economic factors. It will also disclose
information about the relationship between the disclosure of
disaggregated revenue and revenue information disclosed for
each reportable segment.
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FINANCIAL
(continued)

Presentation and disclosure (continued)

IFRS 16, issued in January 2016, replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC
4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease, SIC
15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC 27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The
standard sets out the principles for the recognition, measurement,
presentation and disclosure of leases and requires lessees to
recognise assets and liabilities for most leases. The standard
includes two elective recognition exemptions for lessees — leases
of low-value assets and short-term leases. At the commencement
date of a lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease
payments (i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the
right to use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the
right-of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses
unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of investment
property in IAS 40, or relates to a class of property, plant and
equipment to which the revaluation model is applied. The lease
liability is subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the
lease liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will
be required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease liability
upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change in the
lease term and change in future lease payments resulting from
a change in an index or rate used to determine those payments.
Lessees will generally recognise the amount of the remeasurement
of the lease liability as an adjustment to the right-of-use asset.
Lessor accounting under IFRS 16 is substantially unchanged from
the accounting under IAS 17. Lessors will continue to classify all
leases using the same classification principle as in IAS 17 and
distinguish between operating leases and finance leases. IFRS 16
requires lessees and lessors to make more extensive disclosures
than under IAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
The Group expects to adopt IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of IFRS 16 upon adoption
and is considering whether it will choose to take advantage of
the practical expedients available and which transition approach
and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in note 39 to the
financial statements, at 31 December 2017, the Group had future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases
in aggregate of approximately RMB19,633,000. Upon adoption
of IFRS 16, certain amounts included therein may need to be
recognised as new right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. Further
analysis, however, will be needed to determine the amount of new
rights of use assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including,
but not limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value
assets and short-term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs
chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of adoption.

REPORTING STANDARDS
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(continued)

Presentation and disclosure (continued)

Amendments to IAS 40, issued in December 2016, clarify
when an entity should transfer property, including property
under construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition
of investment property and there is evidence of the change
in use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the
use of a property does not provide evidence of a change in
use. The amendments should be applied prospectively to the
changes in use that occur on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of
property held at the date that it first applies the amendments
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions
that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IFRIC 22, issued in December 2016, provides guidance on
how to determine the date of the transaction when applying
IAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a
non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that
the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an entity
initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a prepayment)
or non-monetary liability (such as deferred income) arising from
the payment or receipt of the advance consideration. If there
are multiple payments or receipts in advance of recognising the
related item, the entity must determine the transaction date for
each payment or receipt of the advance consideration. Entities
may apply the interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on
a prospective basis, either from the beginning of the reporting
period in which the entity first applies the interpretation or the
beginning of the prior reporting period presented as comparative
information in the financial statements of the reporting period
in which the entity first applies the interpretation. The Group
expects to adopt the interpretation prospectively from 1 January
2018. The interpretation is not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT EFFECTIVE INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL
(continued)

Presentation and disclosure (continued)

REPORTING STANDARDS

IFRIC 23, issued in June 2017, addresses the accounting for
income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments involve
uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 12 (often referred
to as “uncertain tax positions”). The interpretation does not
apply to taxes or levies outside the scope of IAS 12, nor does it
specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation
specifically addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain
tax treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by taxation authorities;
(iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax losses, tax
bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax rates; and
(iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances.
The interpretation is to be applied retrospectively, either fully
retrospectively without the use of hindsight or retrospectively
with the cumulative effect of application as an adjustment to
the opening equity at the date of initial application, without the
restatement of comparative information. The Group expects to
adopt the interpretation from 1 January 2019. The interpretation
is not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in
the event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate
share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill
(continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification
and designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair
value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over
the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If
the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than
the fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is,
after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business
(continued)

combinations and goodwill

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is,
from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s
cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that
are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units)
is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is
recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on
the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances
is measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at the end
of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market
must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement

as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, properties under development, construction
contract assets, properties held for sales, deferred tax assets,
financial assets and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit
to which the asset belongs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset, but
not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation)
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in
prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in
which case the reversal of the impairment loss is accounted
for in accordance with the relevant accounting policy for that
revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iiiy is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of a parent of the Group;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third-party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Park and other buildings 20 to 40 years
Machinery 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 10 years
Office equipment and furniture 3 to 5 years

Live animals 3 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and
depreciation (continued)

equipment and

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress represents a building under
construction and machinery under installation, which is stated
at cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction during the period
of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to the
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease for
a property which would otherwise meet the definition of an
investment property) held to earn rental income and/or for
capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes; or
for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties (continued)

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties or completed properties held for sale, the deemed
cost of a property for subsequent accounting is its fair value
at the date of change in use. If a property occupied by the
Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an investment
property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance
with the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment
and depreciation” up to the date of change in use, and any
difference at that date between the carrying amount and the
fair value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation
in accordance with the policy stated under “Property, plant
and equipment and depreciation” above. For a transfer from
properties under development to investment properties, any
difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired
in a business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed
to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite
lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life
and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation
period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset
with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial
year end.

Amortisation is calculated on the straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as
to provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted
for as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is
the lessee, rentals payable under the operating leases are
charged to the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot
be allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements,
the entire lease payments are included in the cost of the
land and buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and
equipment.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value and comprise land costs, construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees and other costs
directly attributable to such properties incurred during the
development period.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless the construction period of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to completed properties held for sale.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount
and appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct
materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriation of variable and fixed construction overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised
on the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the
estimated total cost of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred
to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
available-for-sale financial investments and loan and receivables
as appropriate. When financial assets are recognised initially,
they are measured at fair value plus transaction costs that are
attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in
an active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in other
income and gains in the statement of profit or loss. The loss
arising from impairment is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in finance costs for loans and in other expenses
for receivables.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in listed and unlisted equity investments. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised
gains or losses recognised as other comprehensive income
in the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until
the investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss
in other income, or until the investment is determined to be
impaired, when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from
the available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve to the
statement of profit or loss in other gains or losses. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss as other income in accordance with the policies
set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot
be reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to
sell its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are
still appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is
unable to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets,
the Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

EXRESTBERME (8)
RERHMEMEE ()

TR ESHRE
AHHESRRER EMMIELE™
BRARENNFETESREE - &
FEDBRFBEEE  XIFEERRK
AR EBEFABERNRAKRE R
BARAHEE -

BRAERE AL ESREER
BARARBENE  RERPARK
BREAAIHEERESHAFFHERR
REMEEWE  BEERKIEERR
B(RERarEaRBERSHM
W) REREEDRE (RFEE
s R EREEHRHEEEN D
BEEfRANEBEARER)
Bl HAEARLESRIREMR
By A8 R BB 3 Bl 2 s LB I
= M B Y E - RIEBE T XA HE
Rl PTERBERNEBERRER S EM
Yok o

EFRLTRAREN AR BEEZX
ASAE ARQ@AENAAEE
Bt BEANEHHZREBEAX
k(b)a% &6 B A #) & 72& i 51 A0 AT B
MR EFERARAABER
it BIZ S RE LKA EFDRE
BRI o

AEESFEEAHBENSHE
ENIHEENRIMERZE
RE@E - EFBABRAT > BEWHD
AREYAREELIEEZT SR
BER WMREEEBERLILEAE
EARBABARREERFAH
EIHE AEEAREESZS
TREESH M -



SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(continued)

Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised
in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining
life of the investment using the effective interest rate. Any
difference between the new amortised cost and the maturity
amount is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset
using the effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently
determined to be impaired, then the amount recorded in
equity is reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third-party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of
the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group
also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists
if one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset have an impact on the estimated future cash flows
of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that can
be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include
indications that a debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest
or principal payments, the probability that they will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and observable
data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is,
or continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the
use of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the
rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of
profit or loss.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are
not reversed.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previously recognised in the statement of profit or loss,
is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised
in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available
for sale, objective evidence would include a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of an investment below
its cost. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which
the fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the statement of profit or loss — is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the statement
of profit or loss. Impairment losses on equity instruments
classified as available for sale are not reversed through the
statement of profit or loss. Increases in their fair value after
impairment are recognised directly in other comprehensive
income.

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, amounts due to related companies
and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest rate method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are stated
at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the
financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition,
the Group measures the financial guarantee contract at
the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end
of the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised
less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are merchandise goods and stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on
the first-in, first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred
to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in “finance costs” in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, when
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and an associate, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to
the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it
is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the statement of
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant asset
by equal annual instalments or deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the statement of profit
or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of completed properties, when the risks and
rewards of ownership of the properties are transferred
to the purchasers, that is when the construction of
the relevant properties has been completed and the
properties have been delivered to the purchasers
pursuant to the sale agreement, and the collectability
of related receivables is reasonably assured;

(b) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks
and rewards of ownership have been transferred to
the buyer, provided that the Group maintains neither
managerial involvement to the degree usually associated
with ownership, nor effective control over the goods
sold;

(¢) from construction contracts, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Construction contracts” above;
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)

(d) from the rendering of services, when the services are
rendered;

(e) from ticket sales, when receiving ticket fare or rights to
collect money from tourist parties;

(f)  rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;

(g) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset; and

(h) income from hotel operations, recognised upon services
rendered.

Employee retirement benefits

Pursuant to the relevant regulations of the PRC government,
the companies comprising the Group operating in the PRC (“the
PRC group companies”) have participated in a local municipal
government retirement benefit scheme (the “Scheme”),
whereby the PRC group companies are required to contribute
18% to 20% of the salaries of their employees to the Scheme to
fund their retirement benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Scheme is to pay the ongoing contributions
under the Scheme. Contributions under the Scheme are charged
to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

The Group also operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”)
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for its
employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are made based on a
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme
are held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Where funds have been borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualified assets, a capitalisation rate
5.408% has been applied to the expenditure on the individual
assets.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Renminbi (“RMB").
The Company’s functional currency is US dollars (“USD"”). The
Group’s presentation currency is RMB because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity
are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated
at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain subsidiaries are currencies
other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into
the RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are
translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement of
profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of certain subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of certain subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(i)

(i)

(iii)

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases
on its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements that it retains all the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
properties which are leased out on operating leases.

Sale and finance lease back — Group as lessee

The Group has entered into a sale and finance lease
back arrangements on certain of the Group’s motor
vehicles. The Group has determined that it retains all
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these
items motor vehicles under such sale and finance lease
back arrangement.

Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies
as an investment property, and has developed criteria
in making that judgement. Investment property is a
property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
or both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a
property generates cash flows largely independently of
the other assets held by the Group. Some properties
comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation and another portion that is held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. If these portions could be
sold separately (or leased out separately under a finance
lease), the Group accounts for the portions separately. If
the portions could not be sold separately, the property
is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement
is made on an individual property basis to determine
whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Judgements (continued)

(iv) Classification between investment properties and
properties held for sale

The Group develops properties held for sale and
properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation. Judgement is made by management in
determining whether a property is designated as an
investment property or a property held for sale. The
Group considers its intention of holding the properties
at the early development stage of the related properties.
During the course of construction, the related properties
under construction are accounted for as properties under
development included in current assets if the properties
are intended for sale after its completion, whereas, the
properties are accounted for as investment properties
under construction included in non-current assets and
are subject to revaluation at the reporting date if the
properties are intended to be held to earn rentals and/
or for capital appreciation. Upon completion of the
properties, the properties held for sale are transferred to
completed properties held for sale and are stated at the
lower of cost or net realisable value, while the properties
held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation are
transferred to investment properties and are subject to
revaluation at each reporting date.

(v)  Consolidation of entity in which the Group holds less
than a majority of voting rights

The Group considers that it controls AjE =5z 0 4
BT AR ARF("4D Cinema”) even though it owns less
than 50% of the voting rights. This is because the other
equity holder of 4D Cinema has delegated its equity
holder’s right to the Group to control and operate 4D
Cinema.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(i) Valuation of properties under development and
properties held for sale

Properties under development and properties held for sale
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
The cost of each unit in each phase of development is
determined using the weighted average method. The
estimated net realisable value is the estimated selling
price less selling expenses and the estimated cost of
completion (if any), which are estimated based on the
best available information.

(i) Allocation of construction costs on properties under
development, investment properties and construction in
progress

When developing properties, the Group typically divides
the development projects into phases and categories.
Costs directly related to the development of a phase
and categories are recorded as the cost of such phase
and categories. Costs that are common to each phase
and categories are allocated to each phase based on the
saleable/usable floor area of each phase and categories
as a percentage of the total saleable/usable floor area of
the entire project. The cost of the unit sold subsequent
to the completion of the properties is determined by
the floor area in square meters sold during the year
multiplied by the average cost per square meter of that
particular phase or category of the project.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The Group is subject to income taxes in Mainland China.
As a result of the fact that certain matters relating to
income taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax
bureau, objective estimate and judgement based on
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related
policies are required in determining the provision for
income taxes. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts originally recorded,
the differences will impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT")

The Group is subject to LAT in Mainland China. The
provision for LAT is based on management’s best estimate
according to its understanding of the requirements set
forth in the relevant PRC tax laws and regulations. The
actual LAT liabilities are subject to the determination by
the tax authorities upon the completion of the property
development projects. The Group has not finalised its
LAT calculation and payments with the tax authorities for
certain property development projects. The final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, and any differences will have impact on the
land appreciation tax expense and the related provision
in the period in which the differences realise.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies. The amount of unrecognised tax
losses at 31 December 2017 was RMB987,333,000
(2016: RMB842,909,000). Further details are contained
in note 17 to the financial statements.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(vi)

(vii)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from
a variety of sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of
a different nature, condition or location, adjusted
to reflect those differences;

(b) recent prices of similar properties on less active
markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes
in economic conditions since the date of the
transactions that occurred at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts
and (when possible) by external evidence such as
current market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 December
2017 was RMB2,387,030,000 (2016: RMB2,418,890,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurements and a sensitivity analysis, are set out in
note 13 to the financial statements.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available for
sale and recognises movements of their fair values
in equity. When the fair value declines, management
makes assumptions about the decline in value to
determine whether there is an impairment that should be
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. The carrying
amount of available-for-sale assets was RMB90,403,000
(2016: RMB19,370,000).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(viii) Impairment of non-financial assets

(ix)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of
each reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets
are tested for impairment annually and at other times
when such an indicator exists. Other non-financial assets
are tested for impairment when there are indicators
that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
As at 31 December 2017, the carrying amount of
non-financial assets with impairment indicators was
RMB2,453,745,000 (2016: RMB544,477,000), which
represented property, plant and equipment used by
certain theme parks which were incurring loss.

An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the
fair value less costs of disposal is based on available
data from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length
transaction of similar assets or observable market prices
less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management
must estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of
those cash flows.

Provision for impairment of receivables

Provision for impairment of receivables is made based
on the ageing and past repayment pattern of the
receivables. The assessment of the impairment amount
required involves management judgement and estimates.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is
different from the original estimate, the differences
will impact on the carrying value of receivables and
impairment charge/write-back of impairment in the
period in which the estimate has been changed.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(x)

Provision for completed properties held for sale and
properties under development

The Group recognised a provision for the completed
properties held for sale and properties under
development when the cost of the properties exceeded
the net realisable value. The assessment of the provision
requires management estimates on the future selling
price and future cost to be incurred of the properties.
Where the actual outcome or expectation in future is
different from the original estimate, the differences will
impact on the carrying value of properties and provision
charge/write-back of impairment in the period in which
the estimate has been changed.

5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised to business

units based on their products and services and has two

reportable operating segments as follows:

(a)

the park operations segment engages in the
development, construction and operation of theme
parks, development of commercial and rental properties
surrounding them parks, management of the Group’s
developed and operating properties for rental income,
hotel operation and the provision of services to visitors
as well as provision of technical support service relating
to aquarium; and

the property development segment engages in property
development, construction and sales.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating

segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about

resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment

performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,

which is a measure of adjusted profit before tax.

4. BEAREEHER AR (B)

CRENERE D)

x) FFIELERZHYRRZERT
VE Lok g
AEBRFIEREEZRYER
BRTYERIRATE L A R
FER - RHEREERYE
RBERPYEEREE o FHE
BRET2EEEMAZEYE
R KEE LA TEENMNX
Ko MBRNERSERKTAN
BRRREBOAER  ZFEH
KRB EFMRAREENAR
FEfET A £ 70 HI R P A Rl (B 3
B ORERD -

e D EER

REEBNME  ARBEREMR

RED B/ TIRENERENM - NEE

B AR {8 P #R 5 AR 2 D BRI AN T

[

(a) BHEEOM HEFE 2
MREETERE  AEEE
BEEENEALEEDE
EIEA R E AR RS A
MERRREETYE BB
LENAEBRRERS - AR
PR BK IR 6B B B Y BT ST 5
ARA% &

D RE D

b) MEBRIE LEMWEE
&~ REREE -

EREEERERASERKELEDH
MRS - UEREBIRD BORE MFF
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Segment assets exclude intangible assets, available-for-sale
investments, trade receivables, prepayments, deposits and
other receivables, deferred tax assets, amounts due from
related companies, pledged deposits and cash and cash
equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

The Group’s liabilities are all managed on a group basis.

No further geographical segment information is presented as
over 99% of the Group’s revenue from external customers is
derived from its operation in Mainland China and over 99% of
the Group’s non-current assets are located in Mainland China.

Operating segments
Year ended 31 December 2017
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Year ended 31 December 2017
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K #
[ =)

AN

=7

T
okt
i

BEFR (45)

(9]

\
A

DEEETBIEELEE - AI#H
ERE - BHEWKIE  BAXK
I8 - Ei&ﬁﬁﬂ?ﬂ%ﬂﬁ* EIER
BEE BWHEBQRIRE  BEK
HEE &ﬁﬁ&fﬁﬁ—rfﬁ% A&
I EEEREEBEEER -

AEBENREDIZERAEETE -

R AN EE R B SMEBE P B AR
899 % A R B A 3t ik ER e A &= [ R
#BI9%IEMEY B ELL N B A -
WA T2 IE —FRbE D BPEF

R A L\ 3
7] nB

mnr 'E'
—tF+ZA=1T—H

Park Property
operations development Total
NEEE MRBR mct
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT

Segment revenue 2RI
Sales to external customers and HETINFRP

total revenue SE-LON 1,617,204 63,017 1,680,221
Revenue WA 1,680,221
Segment results DEFEE 878,671 30,990 909,661
Reconciliation Ef3
Unallocated income and gains Ao B de A K Wz 162,840
Unallocated expenses ARAIEH X (516,247)
Share of loss of an associate o —fE

/N (30) - (30)

Finance costs BATERAR (149,065)
Profit before tax B 250 Al A 407,159
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. KXESIER (8)
(continued)

Operating segments (continued) LI (45)
31 December 2017 —F—+HF#+—-H=+—H
Park Property
operations development Total
LEEE IR #Et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFT AREFrn AREFRT

Segment assets DEEE 9,660,378 748,398 10,408,776
Reconciliation: HIAE -
Corporate and other unallocated assets 2~ Al & EL A R 79 Bir & 2 1,723,065
Total assets BEE 12,131,841
Segment liabilities HEPEE - - -
Reconciliation: AR -
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 2 7 & EL At R 75 B & & 7,708,907
Total liabilities wamE 7,708,907
Other segment information Hth 7 HE#
Share of loss of an associate DE— B E R R &R (30) - (30)
Impairment losses recognised in the R R R

statement of profit or loss &S 7,543 - 7,543
Depreciation and amortisation P R 5

Unallocated vl 3,142

Segment 7 EB 175,971 - 175,971
Investment in an associate R—EEE A RINIRE 79,113 - 79,113
Capital expenditure* BEARREZ*

Unallocated RoEe 3,208

Segment 73 &R 2,047,344 = 2,047,344
& Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BEABYBIEREME BENE

equipment, investment properties, intangible assets, prepaid B REME - BEREE BHL
land lease payments and long-term prepayments. A E N R REFER FIE
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Operating segments (continued) LI (45)
Year ended 31 December 2016 HE-_ZT—R"F+A=+—H1
FE
Park Property
operations  development Total
PEEE MEER et
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARMFr ANEEFT AREFT
Segment revenue 2 WA
Sales to external customers and HE TINDRR KA A
total revenue 1,429,114 220,596 1,649,710
Revenue WA 1,649,710
Segment results DEEE 798,912 102,473 901,385
Reconciliation R
Unallocated income and gains RO BHA Rz 111,309
Unallocated expenses AOBHAS (447,839)
Share of loss of an associate DME—EBE N aER (857) = (857)
Finance costs BA RSN (145,570)
Profit before tax BR 2% A1 A 418,428
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION
(continued)

Operating segments (continued)
31 December 2016

5. REDAER (&)

Park Property
operations  development Total
NEEE MEER st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

AEBTT ARETT ARETT

Segment assets DEEE 6,938,431 785,900 7,724,331
Reconciliation: #hk -
Corporate and other unallocated assets 22 7| RE iR AL & & 1,474,791
Total assets BEE 9,199,122
Segment liabilities an:3=Li - - -
Reconciliation: #hk -
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities A& REMARD B EE 4,980,288
Total liabilities BafRE 4,980,288
Other segment information H A5 E0E R
Share of loss of an associate HE—FEEE AR EE (857) - (857)
Impairment losses recognised in the RERZERNREEE

statement of profit or loss 19,232 - 19,232
Depreciation and amortisation FrEREH

Unallocated Ao 2,760

Segment E 183,409 = 183,409
Investment in an associate R—EH & AR E 47,143 - 47143
Capital expenditure* BEARRZ*

Unallocated %@@E 5,819

Segment 7 EB 851,653 = 851,653
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * BEARAELBIERBEME  BE NS

equipment, investment properties, intangible assets, prepaid
land lease payments and long-term prepayments.

Information about major customers

No information about major customers is presented as no
single customer from whom over 10% or more of the Group’s
revenue was derived for the year ended 31 December 2017.

e REWE BYEE BfHL
AR E R R R HITRN FOR -

EREEFEFHER
TEZJIEBIEZFPNER R
ARTEE-—FFPREE_T—L

F+_A=+—BHIEEEAEH
WWAB#E10% ©



REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

Revenue represents income from the sale of tickets by theme
park operation, and the sales of goods by restaurant and store
operations, in-park recreation income, income from hotel
operations, income from consultancy and management service,
the sales of properties, and gross rental income received
and receivable from investment properties, an appropriate
proportion of contract revenue of construction contracts, net
of business tax and other surcharges.

20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

P ek
Year ended 31 December 2017
BHE_T—+tF+=-A=+—H

WA~ E AW R s

WA A E A B PR 8
ERERRARELBNERNE
MM - B P B A - R
EEEEORA - RABARERE
RN - EIEE IR - B
RE M R MR A 3 S A
RIBE L OIMREAS B A KA
BOMBER - TR BB LM I o

2017 2016
—®-—tf ZFAF
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Wiz ARBTFT  ARETT

Revenue 'ON
Ticket sales FIRHE 1,182,739 1,069,517
Property sales WZEIHE 63,017 220,596
Food and beverage sales R R mHE 119,074 92,431
Sale of merchandise BEmiHE 57,410 43,921
Rental income HeWKA 7 95,935 86,991
In-park recreation income Elapiz 3¢ @N 93,394 78,254
Income from hotel operations RS ERUIA 15,577 15,249
Consultancy and management service income &4 ) M & 32 AR 7% A 53,075 42,751
1,680,221 1,649,710
Other income Hilr A
Government grants T 7l A 32 89,560 69,072
Bank interest income RITHEHA 2,874 3,893
Other interest income E At F) BB 37,176 =
Income from insurance claims RERBERENRA 5,355 14,597
Dividend income I=NIN - 20,712
Foreign exchange gains HINE IS 2 760 -
Others Hith 26,372 2,318
162,097 110,592
Gains Wz
Gain on revaluation upon reclassification WRIELEEER S
from completed properties held for sale to ~ EFH DB AREMED
investment properties, net Hh W F 58 19 - 717
Gain on disposal of an investment property H &% & ¥ U 743 —
743 717
162,840 111,309

227



HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 R AR BT EE

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE-_ZT—t+tHF+-HA=+—H

7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRFADRF
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ AREBHG NS MR B GE
(crediting): AN) AT EIBERBER
2017 2016
—E-tF —FREF
Notes RMB*000 RMB’000

Wiz ARBTFT  ARETT

Cost of properties sold BEEMERR 32,027 118,123
Cost of merchandise sold B EEmA 34,651 23,570
Cost of services provided RIS KA 703,882 606,632
Depreciation e 12 162,130 168,415
Amortisation of intangible assets BB B S 15 3,142 2,760
Direct operating expenses arising on rental RIS WA R YR B REE

earning properties BRI 2,676 2,660
Impairment of trade receivables 2 5 W FIR R E 23 7,017 18,716
Impairment of prepayments and other TE A RIE R E A e ISR IR R A

receivables 24 493 323
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments — Faff £ it & (- Uk 84 13,841 14,994
Minimum lease payments under operating PENCEEE TREHR

leases in respect of properties BT 12,282 10,437
Auditors’ remuneration ZEAD B & 4,700 4,400
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors EERAHEY (TEEEER

and chief executive’s remuneration): THRHEME)

Wages and salaries H5eRhIE 206,961 183,394

Bonuses TEAT 70,367 50,303

Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIREREEIHER 34,795 30,134

312,123 263,831

Direct operating expenses BERBERY
Foreign exchange differences, net PEE 3, 2= RE 5 5 6 (760) 3,375
Impairment of provision for inventories FERERE 22 33 193
Fair value loss on investment properties REMELR BEER 13 3,694 9,261
Gain on revaluation upon reclassification REHEHEC R MEEN D

from completed properties held for sale to BARIREMENEG K E

investment properties 19 - (717)
Gain on disposal of an investment property I EREMERE 6 (743) =
Rental income L ON 6 (95,935) (86,991)
Bank interest income SRITHEUA 6 (2,874) (3,893)
Other interest income H A F B A 6 (37.176) =
Government grants recognised B HERB TR 32 (89,560) (69,072)
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BEREHBEE

plant and equipment H &8 4,475 822
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FINANCE COSTS 8. B A
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RHF
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Interest on bank loans and other loans RITERNEMEROFE 203,594 155,033
Interest on finance leases REMRERF S 360 555

Total interest expenses on financial liabilities W 3F:& @B IE A BE

not at fair value through profit or loss FIRRE S R E B
BRI 203,954 155,588
Less: Interest capitalised B BREFE (54.889) (10,018)

149,065 145,570

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EERITHREZMER R

REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID RESHMEENHE
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for 2017 and BEERTHAER-_ZT—tF K=
2016, disclosed pursuant to the Rules Governing the Listing of T-RNENMEeBRBEBRIAES L
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), section mRA ([ ETFRA]) ~ FEQBE
383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 71 85383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ ()R (g &~
and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Al (BBEESHNmER) RO FE28
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: WEWNT :
2017 2016
—E—+F A S
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Fees e 2,040 2,040

Other emoluments: Efe

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ﬁi&ﬁ/i\ AL R EYtE A 2,100 2,025

Retirement benefit scheme contributions  RARIBHEH 21K 78 86
2,178 2,111
4,218 4,151
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9. EER{THEAZMEE R
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID KES %ﬁ e & E’] N &
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION (continued) (&)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BAFHITES
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors FRS FEBYIENITESH
during the year were as follows: wWEmT
2017 2016
—E—tF ik AN
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFT
Mr. Sun Jianyi BRE—%%E 100 100
Professor Chen Guohui ok B 2 4% 100 =
Professor Zhang Meng oR B 100 =
Mr. Fang Hongxing HAR%E - 100
Mr. Xie Yanjun WEETE - 100
300 300
There were no other emoluments payable to the FATEENBIIERITE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENHEHMME (ZT—RF:
(2016: Nil). ) o
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9 EBEERTHAZMESREH
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID AREFMEEWNI S
EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATION (continued) (&)
(b) Chief executive, executive directors and (b) ITHAEE - HITEER
non-executive directors FEHITES
Salaries, Retirement
allowances benefit
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind  contributions remuneration
¥4 2ER RIKER
He BENER SHEIER “is
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ABEF AR T ARBTFT

Year ended 31 December 2017  HZE-B—+f

TZA=t-BLEE
Chief executive: THEH
Mr. Wang Xuguang FiEf ks 400 1,200 39 1,639
Executive directors: HITES
Mr. Qu Cheng i 400 - - 400
Mr. Gao Jie BAEE 400 900 39 1,339
800 900 39 1,739
Non-executive directors: FMTES
Mr. Qu Naijie AL E 180 - - 180
Mr. Makoto Inoue HERRE 180 - - 180
Mr. Yuan Bing REEHE 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
Year ended 31 December 2016 HEZZ—F
+-A=+—RHIEE
Chief executive: TR, :
Mr. Wang Xuguang FlkEE 400 1,200 36 1,636
Executive directors: HITEZ
Mr. Zhao Wenjing ji:p /bt 167 150 = 317
Mr. Qu Naigiang 38 S A 167 150 14 331
Mr. Qu Cheng WL 233 - - 233
Mr. Gao Jie BAKE 233 525 36 794
800 825 50 1,675
Non-executive directors: FMTES
Mr. Qu Naijie AL E 180 - - 180
Mr. Makoto Inoue HEmAE 180 - - 180
Mr. Yuan Bing RERSE 180 - - 180
540 - - 540
There was no arrangement under which a director F R AR R BRI T oK
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any TR E KR B REEMA

remuneration during the year. B o 231
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9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 9,
REMUNERATION AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(c) Five highest paid employees

Details of the remuneration of the five highest paid
employees for the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016 who were neither a director nor chief executive of
the Company are as follows:

BE_ZT—tFN_FT—KRF
+-A=+—HLFE &XF
WIERRRIEFIRIEITIARE
WA E &= 5 ES NS

BT
2017 2016
ZE—tF TR
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kinds & - 285 R E Y& A 3,825 3,263
Performance-related bonuses FIREEHTEAT 835 915
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R RAEF 5T 214 7% 200 180

4,860 4,358

The remuneration of all the non-director and non-chief
executive highest paid employees fell within the band of
nil to HKD1,000,000.

10. INCOME TAX 10.

Provision for PRC corporate income tax has been provided at
the applicable income tax rate of 25% for the year ended 31
December 2017 (2016: 25%) on the assessable profits of the
Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on Land Appreciation Tax (the "LAT") effective
from 1 January 1994, and the Detailed Implementation Rules
on the Provisional Regulations of the PRC on LAT effective
from 27 January 1995, all income from the sale or transfer
of state-owned leasehold interests on land, buildings and
their attached facilities in Mainland China is subject to LAT at
progressive rates ranging from 30% to 60% of the appreciation
value, with an exemption provided for property sales of ordinary
residential properties if their appreciation values do not exceed
20% of the sum of the total deductible items.

PRESTENITHERN R
SENEENHEBZTE
1,000,000/ TR EI[E ©

Frie®t
HE-_ZT—+tF+=-A=+—H1t
FE - PRCEMSHBHEASE
B 7 AR B b B0 B B R B B FE R B
i A A25% (ZZF — N F : 25%)
HE RSB R Ve -

RE-—NWNAOF—A—BEEMD
hEARKLME LB ER ([
BER]D) BTEAER—NWARFE—
AZttHRERNREARLN
B+ b 3R (B B E 1T IR O B e 4R Al &Y
ME WEXEETBEAMEA+
WwHE#ERS  EEYRENBEYHR
SRR AR T MIZE30%E
60% HY R HE B RGN+ IR E K
HERBETEAEHMANRIAR 2
ME20% @ BB EEMENDE
HERI R MM IR E -
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10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. FRIE® (&)
The Group has estimated, made and included in tax provision ANEB D RIEMRRBT B E X0 &
for LAT according to the requirements set forth in the relevant ERETEHREGEET C sHIERSTFA T
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are I BB o BERA) T I8 (E R
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon BEBAFYEZEBBEAKBHRE
completion of the property development projects and the FEHEET MRS e R
tax authorities might disagree with the basis on which the EAREETE IR ERBEERE
provision for LAT is calculated. P
Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss NEHIERZEANEER A -
represents:
2017 2016
—EB—tHF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHTF T AREFT
Current — Mainland China: BUER — R B A3t -
Charge for the year FREZH 119,883 127,353
LAT T IR ER 3,431 17,404
123,314 144,757
Deferred tax (note 17) BRERIE (HEE17) (7.698) 55,744
Total tax charge for the year FRBIBL LB 115,616 200,501
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10. INCOME TAX (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before

10. PR (48)

158 R VR TE A R 5t 58 A O BR 5 A

tax using the statutory rate to the tax expense at the effective FERIBER Y HIRERHERTER
rate is as follows: IR MERAT
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥TFTT AREFT
Profit before tax B 15 A4t A 407,159 418,428
Tax at the statutory income tax rate REEMGHEFENTIE 101,790 104,607
Tax losses not recognised RIERA TR 18 36,106 55,245
Income not subject to tax HERTIA (186) (5,482)
Withholding tax on distributable profits 55 B BT B A R A] Ik
of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries i A B9 TR B (21,771) 24,458
Expenses not deductible for tax GIE kb3 6,795 8,620
Tax losses utilised from prior years FRTEHIBEEE (9.691) =
Sub-total NEF 113,043 187,448
Provision for LAT I (E R 3,431 17,404
Tax effect on LAT TR ER R E T E (858) (4,351)
Tax charge for the year at REBRBETED
the effective rate FABRIEAEXH 115,616 200,501

Tax payables in the consolidated statement of financial position

represent:

=

31 December

KA GF 7 AR R R B FE S B IR

31 December

2017 2016

—E—tF —TRF

+=ZA=+—H8 +=ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥TFT AREFT

PRC corporate income tax B ESH 180,668 241,336
LAT T IR E 32,185 35,111
212,853 276,447




11. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary
shares of 4,000,000,000 (2016: 4,000,000,000) in issue during
the year.

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts is

20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF
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Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_Z—+F+-A=+—H

AEBERERE AR

=
MR 2R

=

P17
2 ‘>)

T

BRERRFNSEIZRFAT AR
TEREFBEAERGLET UK
FREBTTARONEFLSH
4,000,000,0008% & 1 (= & — <
£ 1 4,000,000,000080%17 ) & o

BRERBNSEIREATHE

based on: TE
2017 2016
—B—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AR FT
Earnings 2 A
Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders FA{Est EFIREREF| 2
of the parent, used in the basic earnings SRR ERERERAE A
per share calculation (% 7 279,792 200,972
Number of ordinary shares
ZRERHA
2017 2016
—E—+F NS
Shares [ 4vi)
Weighted average number of ordinary REstEERERAT 2

shares in issue during the year used in the

AN ¥ 19

basic earnings per share calculation

FABEITEERD

4,000,000,000 4,000,000,000

There were no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year and therefore the diluted earnings per share
amount was the same as the basic earnings per share amount.

FALEBEBTHAEETENINE
B A BREERNCHRES
BRERBNEEHER
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

12. 9% - BEKRRE

Office
Park and equipment
other Motor and Live Construction
buildings  Machinery vehicles  furniture animals  in progress Total
NER WAZRE
Hivgr HeE RE REM HE ERIR @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT  ARETT AREFR ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETZ
Cost KA
At 1 January 2016 WZZ—E—FA—H 2,664,939 968,107 35,404 105,919 134,455 126,486 4,035,310
Additions B 10,040 19,786 2,736 13,179 7,012 511,691 564,444
Transfers g% 63,173 16,236 - 16,959 - (96,368) -
Disposals HE - (950) (2,527) (3,033) (2,484) - (8,994)
At 31 December 2016 R=Z—/%&
and 1 January 2017 TZA=T-AR
“2—+F-A-H 2738152 1,003,179 35,613 133,024 138,983 541,809 4,590,760
Additions SN 640 3,502 2,494 9,413 19,650 1,979,107 2,014,806
Transfer from investment ~ #E1R & ¥ 85
properties 21,477 - - - - 8,443 29,920
Transfers L3 90,889 15,990 - 3,364 - (110,243) -
Disposals i - (3,946) (1,737) (9,956) (1,176) - (16,815)
At 31 December 2017 NZE—+&
+-A=1t-H 2,851,158 1,018,725 36,370 135,845 157,457 2,419,116 6,618,671
Accumulated depreciation 2 17TE
At 1 January 2016 —Z£-~%-A-H (552,675) (635,913) (28,461) (77,690) (120,911) - (1,415,650)
Depreciation for the year ~ FRHE (77,949) (64,395) (2,811) (13,193) (10,067) - (168,415)
Disposals HE - 859 2,245 2,666 2,402 - 8,172
At 31 December 2016 W=F—7F
and 1 January 2017 TZA=T-Ak
“Z—+%-A—H (630,624) (699,449) (29,027) (88,217) (128,576) - (1,575,893)
Depreciation for the year ~ FRHE (76,609) (61,384) (1,972) (13,475) (8,690) - (162,130)
Disposals hE - 3,250 1,503 6,771 816 - 12,340
At31 December 2017 ~ WZE—tF
+-A=t-H (707,233)  (757,583) (29,496) (94,921)  (136,450) - (1,725,683)
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2017  R=Z—+t%&
+-A=1t-H 2,143,925 261,142 6,874 40,924 21,007 2,419,116 4,892,988
At 31 December 2016 W=E—/F
+-A=1t-H 2,107,528 303,730 6,586 44,807 10,407 541,809 3,014,867




12.

13.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND

(continued)

EQUIPMENT

The Group's parcels of land where the hotel buildings, parks
and other buildings are situated in Mainland China are held
under medium-term leases.

Included in the property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2017 was certain machinery with a net carrying
amount of nil (2016: RMB324,000) which was held under
finance leases.

The Group’s office buildings of Haichang China and pavilions
in Haichang China, Tianjin Park, Wuhan Park, Chengdu Park,
LHT, Chongging Caribbean, Discoveryland, Sanya Haichang
Dream World and Shanghai Haichang with a carrying value of
RMB3,059,722,000 (2016: RMB1,153,518,000) were pledged
to secure banking facilities granted to the Group at 31
December 2017 (note 30).
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12. )% - BEN&E ()

AEERPEAMNEEYE 2
EPSEiRy/E oy e b ek 7Y
HHERSA -

R=Z—+&+=A=+—BIIA
ME - BB RRENE THENER
HFREAZE (ZE—RF: AR

324,0007T) + WWEIEE iR EMR
ERE -
AEBR_ZT—t&F+_A=1+—

HERMEE A A K %3,059,722,000
T(Z & — XN F: AR %
1,153,518,0007T) B/ E R B H A
EMEARGERRH - XEZHKi -
EUZIR M BERAR D « KIE T
EEMSHLE  BRITE - =58
EBOBF IR ELBEE -
EAASERERRITHENKT R
(MF5E30) ©

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 13. REYZ
RMB’000
AR#¥FT
At 31 December 2016 and 1 January 2017 RZZT—X "F+-H=1+—HK
RZZB—+F—H—H 2,418,890
Additions R 15,305
Disposal k= (3,309)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment  #E# AW « BE&&E (FiE12)
(note 12) (29,920)
Transfer to prepaid lease payments (note 14) #EEEFEM LA S (FIE14) (10,242)
Net loss from fair value adjustments (note 7) AR BEFAZHFEE (BizE7) (3.694)

At 31 December 2017

—t%£+=A=+—H

2,387,030
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

13. ®REY= (&)

RMB’000
AREFT
At 31 December 2015 and 1 January 2016 R-_Z—AF+-_HA=1+—HK

RZZB—RF—H—H 2,378,740
Additions R 46,411

Reclassification from completed properties  {&EHEEEZRMESTHHE (KizE19)
held for sale (note 19) 3,000
Net loss from fair value adjustments (note 7) A BEAZNFEE (KE7) (9,261)
At 31 December 2016 RZBE-—RFE+ZHA=+—H 2,418,890

Certain investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, the summary details of which are included
in note 39(a).

Investment properties are stated at fair value, which has been
determined with reference to the valuations performed by
DTZ Debenham Tie Leung Limited — Beijing Branch (“DTZ"),
independent firms of professionally qualified valuers, on
the income approach, as at 31 December 2017. The fair
value represents the amount of market value at which the
assets could be exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing
buyer and a knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length
transaction at the date of valuation. The Group’s management
has discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions
and valuation results once a year when the valuation is
performed for annual financial reporting.

AETHREYMEDBRELEHAE TR
FTE=ZF EBMEFBHRH T
39(a) °

REWMEDEAABEIER MA
REBEDREBEBERITARAR —
R 1T(BERTD(B—KE
XEEBRBUMGEMT) R2T—
TtF T A=+ —BRBRAIEMRE
MEEMETE - AR BEERGE
ERHABMEERSNEERE)
ZEEAFHEENRSTHEES
FHMESZHE AKBEEEESSF
— R FEPERELETEER
REBAERRLRAEERREMKE
BETTES A ©



13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Investment properties of approximately RMB2,387,030,000 (31
December 2016: RMB2,418,890,000) as at 31 December 2017
are located in Mainland China under medium-term leases.

In 2017, the Group transferred certain investment properties
to property, plant and equipment in Chengdu Park and Wuhan
Park. The properties were revalued at the dates of change in
use by DTZ. The fair value of the properties transferred out
at those dates was RMB40,162,000 in total. In 2016, the
Group transferred certain completed properties held for sale
to investment properties. The properties were revalued at the
dates of change in use by DTZ. The differences between the
fair values of the properties at those dates and their then
carrying amounts of RMB717,000 were recognised in the
statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December
2016 and no similar transfer occurred in 2017.

Included in the investment properties were certain
buildings with a carrying value of RMB354,100,000 (2016:
RMB354,100,000), of which the property certificates have not
been obtained as at 31 December 2017.

The Group’s investment properties with a carrying value of
RMB874,562,000 (2016: RMB717,044,000) were pledged to
secure general banking facilities granted to the Group as at
31 December 2017 (note 30).
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13. REW= (“,\)

REWERZ-_ZT—tF+=A
=+ —B®E {EZW%J\E%
2,387,030,000T (ZE—ARF+=
A=+—H : AK%2,418,890,000
TT) v AR B PR A AR 3 A HAFE 4
BA -

RZE—tF AEEBSESEET
& E W) R B ED R K % R Y
ME BERERHE - ZFEWER
oy ﬁ%}fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁaﬁﬁﬂfﬂ_ﬁﬁ
it ZEMERZEBHNAAE
TE%'@&JFZ%/\E%4O,162,OOOTE N
ZE-REF AEERETREL
ERERNMEBRRBIEENE - &%
EMERNNER e B BB ER
TETER - ZEVWERZEBE
MNAREBEEEEREEENEZREA
AR®717,0000T ' ERZ=ZF—
FT+_A=T—HLEFEMNERE
NER BER-ZT—tFHEZEE
1EE R -

RZZE—+tF+=-_A=+—8 "3l
RIEEMHEEBENAEABEARKE
354,100,0007T (ZZF—RF : AR
¥£354,100,00070) MEFEF - B
ZABMARRLEMERSEER -

AEBR-_ZE—tF+=-_A=+—
EEEETE%/\EV%SMSQOOOE
(ZZE—RF : AR¥717,044,000
L) MIRBEMEEER  (EREXE
EER —MBETHENERS (M
5£30) °
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

13. REM= (B)
AREBESHR
TRIPAEBOREMENAA
EE SR -

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2017 using

FRAUTRER=E—+F+=-RA=1+—-H
ETHAAEENE

Quoted
prices in Significant  Significant
active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1)  (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBTE BATER EATTER

HRE BWAHE WAHE
(B-%) (=R (B=%) CE
RMB’000  RMB’000 RMB’000  RMB’000

ARETFT ARBFT ARETT AREFR

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties

BEUEDABERE

ik ES - - 2,387,030 2,387,030

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2016 using
FERANTRER - E—R"FT_A=+—BETNRAE

e
Quoted
prices in  Significant Significant
active  observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RNERMHN EAN AR EXTAIHRS

#E (B— ABE (B AHE (8=

®) ®) ®) &t
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ANRETT ARETIE ARETT ARETT

Recurring fair value measurement for:
Commercial properties

REEAAEENE:

HEANE

2,418,890

2,418,890

During the years ended 31 December 2016 and 31 December
2017, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of
Level 3.

RBZE-Z—XR"EF+=-A=+—H
FTFEERBE-_E—+E+-_A=
+—BLEFE F-—RHEEHR
ABEFAESHZEATEEE 5
mESFESFE =R -
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

MR Rk M aE
Year ended 31 December 2017
BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=1+T—RHILFE

13. REYE (&)

DREQNABEFRAFE=FANR
REEFENHEK

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F AN S
+=A=+—B +=ZA=+—8H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEB¥FT ARETF T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—BMEEE 2,418,890 2,378,740
Additions NE 15,305 46,411
Disposal b€ (3,309) =
Transfer to property, plant and A - KB R
equipment (29,920) -
Transfer to prepaid lease payments RS TRN T & (10,242) =
Reclassification from completed W EHEREX Y EEN
properties held for sale - 3,000
Net loss from fair value adjustments  FAME %5 B9 E4th I A FERR &Y
recognised in other income in AR BEEFAREEFE
profit or loss (3,694) (9,261)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+t A=+—HHE®EE 2,387,030 2,418,890

Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs
RER % EXTAHERAIE

AT REREMEREEMBOGEET
ERTEBABBIME

Range or
weighted average

HESMETFIR

2017 2016
—E—tE —B-xF

Income method

WASE

Commercial properties Market monthly rental

[ElEEYE 3
mEEAHEE

(AR®TT/FIK)

Discount rate
BEI &

15-377 34-124

(RMB/sg.m. or RMB/space)

2.5%-6.5% 2.5%-6.5%
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Under the income method, fair value is estimated using
assumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of ownership
over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. This
method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a
property interest. A market-derived discount rate is applied to
the projected cash flow in order to establish the present value
of the income stream associated with the asset.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as rent
reviews, lease renewal and related reletting, redevelopment or
refurbishment. The appropriate duration is driven by market
behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of property. The
periodic cash flow is estimated as gross income less vacancy,
non-recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives,
maintenance costs, agent and commission costs and other
operating and management expenses. The series of periodic
net operating income, along with an estimate of the terminal
value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then
discounted.

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation
would result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair
value of the investment properties. A significant increase
(decrease) in the long term vacancy rate and the discount rate
in isolation would result in a significant decrease (increase)
in the fair value of the investment properties. Generally, a
change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value
is accompanied by a directionally similar change in the rent
growth per annum and the discount rate and an opposite
change in the long term vacancy rate.

13. REYX (&)

MRBESEK (B)

RERZE 2R BEIDRBER
BESWwAMAERERABHNR
RETHFT (BRERLEEHR SR
BE) - RS REME RN —
BRIV REWNIRR - MHITERN
BERBEARARR S RE AERE
VEEEABNBARNEIE

B e m e &R E KOR AR
HENEBRRETAFANES®
A HOBRRAMRENE  ERx
B ERMHRE - BENRKERRE
XmB1TR (RYEENN—ERF
) & - THRSREREWA
R=E - T EKRER - WA
K THERB - #EER - EM
ReBRREMEEMEREERMG
B -Z—EREHRLEWAFE
BRI TAE X TRR B AR 4 B 2 iR Im (B
BEffste%E  MRERE-

EAHEEELRTSHEFEREK
ERARIENOCRD) BREHIKRE
MENR 2 EBEKREEM ORD)
RHZ & X &AL R E B ANEIE
ORD) BEBREMENR A EBE
RIERAD (GBI) - —KWME » Bhih
AAHEBEFLNBRENESZH
MEFERETRUBERHREAUS
MEHLERBAEERHERAEL
5/% -



14. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS
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14. BT HEENK

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF kAN
+=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%F T AREFT
Carrying amount at beginning REFHEREE
of the year 1,271,817 1,087,184
Additions B 501,118 215,286
Transfer from investment properties NS =R 10,242 =
Amortised during the year F R 5 (33,806) (30,653)
Carrying amount at end of year RERABREE 1,749,371 1,271,817
Current portion included in PIATER IR ~ Ze Rk
prepayments, deposits and H At JE W TR IE N EY
other receivables (note 24) e (Mizk24) (44,787) (31,909)
Non-current portion JEREN I D 1,704,584 1,239,908

The leasehold interests in land of RMB1,619,689,000 (2016:
RMB924,790,000) were pledged for certain borrowings
granted to the Group as at 31 December 2017 (note 30).

The Group experienced delay in the commencement of
construction of certain parcels of land in Mainland China
with a carrying value at 31 December 2017 of RMB33,627,000
(2016: RMB33,627,000). Under the relevant PRC laws, the
Group might be subject to penalties from relevant government
authorities as a result of the delay in commencement of
construction. Having taken into account the Company’s
legal counsel advice, the directors of the Company are of
opinion that the payment of a penalty would be remote
and no provision is required. As at 31 December 2017, the
construction of the relevant parks and ancillary facilities on
the parcels of land was completed.

R—E—+tF+=_HA=+—80"
RTHEAEFHEZ AR
1,619,689,0007T (ZZF—/RF : A
R#924,790,0007T) EE#E - 1A
AEBEERE TEROERR (M
F£30) o

AEBR-_ZE—tFF+-_A=1+—
HERHEMEA A K ¥33,627,0007T
(ZZE—"F: AR™33,627,000
JC) B B A b 3 T iR 4 i A9 5 T
HIRIEE - IREBBEBERREE - K
& B 7] BE R T3 i T i 52 B AR BE IR
FIEPPIMEE] - KEB AR RLERE
BEENEZ  A2REFRAEIN
BT RE B - BARTIREE - &
EFF—+tF+ZA=+—8 " %
Er FEBEARRREERENE
BRETERK °
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15. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets comprised computer software and copyright
with useful lives of 5 to 10 years. The movements in intangible
assets are analysed as follows:

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

15. B L& &E

B EERRAERHFEFHR/SEFE
10F BB S hin#E - BV B E

MBBHATMT -

2017 2016
—E—+tHF —E—REF
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARET T ARET T
Software and copyright B S ER & hiEE
At 1 January: R—H—H:
Cost B# 22,879 17,060
Accumulated amortisation ZEIEE (10,752) (7,992)
Net carrying amount BREFE 12,127 9,068
Cost at 1 January, net of accumulated ®—H—B#&IAkA -
amortisation Nk RIE# 12,127 9,068
Additions BN 3,208 5,819
Amortisation provided during the year & R4 (3.142) (2,760)
At 31 December, net of accumulated ®R+=—A=+—8 -
amortisation b 2IE# 5 12,193 12,127
At 31 December: At+-—A=+—8":
Cost %N 26,087 22,879
Accumulated amortisation RIEHE (13,894) (10,752)
Net carrying amount BRMEFE 12,193 12,127




16. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS
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16. AMEHERSE

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF kAN
+=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFT
Current ED
Bank structured product, at fair value SR{TEBMER  BHAREBE 200 200

The balance represented principal-protected structured
products with maturity within one year.

BHESIMBE-FANRNGEE
MEEm o

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
+=BA=+—8 +=ZA=+—8H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT ARBFT
Non-current FERED
Unlisted equity investment, at cost JEEMIRAIGE - AR 90,203 19,170

The Group holds a 9% equity interest in an unlisted company,
FREPEREEZEABR AT in Mainland China with registered
capital of RMB213,000,000. The principal business of AX#P
HBREEEEGR AR is the development and sale of properties.
In September 2017, the Group invested RMB71,000,000
to unlisted equity securities which were designated as
available-for-sale financial assets and have no fixed maturity
date or coupon rate.

The unlisted equity investment was stated at cost less
impairment loss because the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors are of the opinion
that its fair value cannot be measured reliably. The Group does
not intend to dispose of them in the near future.

AEERFRBEFBRAMHIELETA
AN EREEXARQTHI%R
B ZARNFMERAEARK
213,000,000t - KEBREE XA
RARITEZEXEBAERRHEEY
¥ -RZZT—tFhA A&EEM
wHEERAIHEEEHEELRE
EEHHAXEENENE LMK
ABEHEEARET1,000,0007T °

I LA R B R AR £ B &
B ARAEAAEBEMGETD
BEKE EFRREERAEMHE
EEAAEE - AREEERTA
HREEZSE
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets are as

17. BEBIRERE BfE

follows:
Deferred tax liabilities EEBBEE
Depreciation
Depreciation allowancein  Change in
Rental allowance of  excess of fair value of
Withholding  Interest income  investment related  investment
tax capitalised recognised  properties depreciation  properties Total
BER RENEN FERBE  RENX
BB AREAL  HEMA  FERE LEBRE AAEERED 5
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTL ABBTL ARBFL ARBTrn ARETT  AREFT ARKFZ
As at 1 January 2016 RZZ—¥-H-H 53,281 33,780 6,244 39,903 193 171,149 304,550
Charged/(credited) to the ~ REZERTE/
statement of profit or (GrA) (HE10)
loss (note 10) 24,458 (4,082) 37 16,360 (78) (2,136) 34,559
As at 31 December 2016 WNZF—7F+2A
and 1 January 2017 =+-Ak
—E-t¥-A-H 11,739 29,698 6,281 56,263 115 169,013 339,109
Charged/(credited) to the ~ REZERTE/
statement of profit or (GrA) (HE10)
loss (note 10) 21,17) (1,538) 591 16,525 (60) (1,295) (7,548)
Asat31 December 2017 ~ RZF—+4
TZA=+-H 55,968 28,160 6,872 72,788 55 167,718 331,561




17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)
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Year ended 31 December 2017

HE-2—tF+=A=+—ALFE

17.Lj_ﬁﬂﬁé§z//éf£(w\

Deferred tax assets ERIBEEE
Advances
from
customers Accruals
on presale of Government Impairment  and other
properties grants of assets payables Total
BENEN EHERR
RFRAR B EEAE EtENRE H
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETL AREFr ARETT AREFT ARETZ
As at 1 January 2016 RZE-"E-A-H 5,306 157,658 - 29,880 192,844
Credited/(charged) to the statement REREFFEN/
of profit or loss (note 10) (k) (MzE10) (4,649) (13,297) = (3,239) (21,185)
As at 31 December 2016 and RZE-—"E+-A=1-H
1 January 2017 kZZ—t%-H—-H 657 144,361 - 26,641 171,659
Credited/(charged) to the statement REZERTHA/ (k)
of profit or loss (note 10) (H3E10) (446) (7,545) = 8,141 150
As at 31 December 2017 RZE-+F+_A=t—H 211 136,816 - 34,782 171,809
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17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

For the purpose of the financial statement presentation,
certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the

17.

EEBIREE BB (8)

EEREEE (48)

RMBHRENZIN TAME
ELEHAEERBEE THEIHE - A
TARFBRSE B OMEANEER

ETF

Group for financial reporting purposes: IEFR B A EH B DT
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—t5F —E—RF
+=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFIT
Net deferred tax assets recognised RE BRI ERA
in the consolidated statement of B ERHFELE
financial position HIBEE 25,063 35,730
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised E"/—\1§1"E7H‘%ﬂﬁ5ﬂi'~:zl7ﬂ
in the consolidated statement of B ERAFE
financial position HIBEE (184,815) (203,180)
(159,752) (167,450)
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of WEGSA TR BERELEHRIBE
the following items: =
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
+=B=+-8 +=A=+—~
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FT AEEF T
Tax losses not recognised for REVIRIER IR & B RERR A
deferred tax assets HIAEE 987,333 842,909




17. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)

Deferred tax assets (continued)

In accordance with the PRC laws and regulations, tax losses
arising in Mainland China could be carried forward for a period
of five years to offset against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above item as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above item can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 5%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A
lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the
foreign investors. The Group has applied applicable rate of
5% since end of 2017. The Group is liable for withholding
taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established
in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated from 1
January 2008.

At 31 December 2017, deferred tax liabilities of RMB21,771,000
(2016: RMB24,458,000 recognised) have been reversed for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. Pursuant to a
resolution of the board of directors of the Company, these
subsidiaries will not distribute such earnings derived up to
31 December 2013. The aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries in
Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately was RMB217,633,000 as at
31 December 2017 (2016: RMB217,633,000).

20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17.

Bt 75 R R B

Year ended 31 December 2017
BHE_ZT—+H+_A=1+—HILEE

ELEREEE BB ()
EEREEE ()

RIFFERERIRER > RPEA
WELANRABRAEERFIUR
R SRR BRI A

HRNR A ﬁﬁu%m/mﬂ—ﬂ
EbﬁFJL/U:IEE - R L i IR B
RIELERABE

RIEFPBECEMSHE  AETRE
WAL Z S IR B (R R A SNBI IR
BEEIRZEE EE%SIHAZS%%E?D%R °
RIRBE  BUIRTARMH AR —
NE—A—BEER Hkﬂﬂﬁé\f
EELFF+_A=+—H®&Z&A
) o fie i B P 3 RSN B 4 B P
ET??&%E%IEETjEﬁW—\ '7 : Fﬁz
BB ERAGEER - BT —tF
Eﬁﬁ’élﬂﬁﬁm < /35% © $’§l/,\
RE—TTN\F-A-HEELZ
B - AR B A A L B 72 5 Y
JB R BRI TR o

R—ZZE—+F+-_A=+—H8 B
MAEBERFEAMA ZHEA
AIEA M TEI T 2 R E 2 F fE
ZENBMERELCRIBEGEARKE
21,771,000t (ZZE—RF: AR
#524,458,0007T) ° RIBA QA E

FEYABE REWBATT
EHEEE-T—=Ff+-A=+
—BMEBEF  R-B— L&+

“A=+—8 " YARREAPBEAM
MBARIRER BT R EZEER
ﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁ%w@%ﬂﬁﬁ%/\ﬁm
217,633,000 (ZE—ARF : AR
#217,633,0007T) °
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18. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE 18. R—EIBE A TNKRE
2017 2016
—E—t# —EAE
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Share of net assets NIEEEFE 79,113 47,143
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TERBBEAEBEERRTBRE A
information of the Group’s associate that is not individually B A% N T B B 7S B R 5B
material:
2017 2016
—E—+F AN
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Share of the associate’s loss and total  FRDIHELS D T EE K&

comprehensive loss for the year S EIEEE (30) (857)
Aggregate carrying amount of the REER—EBERTIRERN
Group's investment in an associate BRI %58 79,113 47,143
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19. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
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BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=1+T—RHILFE

19. HEHEME BRI

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF kAN
+=A=+—8 +=ZA=+—8
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FTT AREFT
Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B®EREE 260,399 373,290
Transfer from properties under BERP Y FEER
development (note 20) (B¥5E20) 142 17,836
Fair value change on completed BEHENE ERIEN
properties held for sale (note 7) AREEZE (FE7) - 717
Reclassification to investment ENOEEREYHE
properties (note 13) (BF5E13) - (3,000)
Recognised in the current year A F TR (32,027) (128,444)
Carrying amount at 31 December RtTZA=+—HBMKREE 228,514 260,399

Included in the completed properties held for sale were certain

properties with a carrying value of nil (31 December 2016: Nil)

of which the property certificates have not been obtained as

at 31 December 2017.

Certain of the Group’s completed properties held for sale with
a carrying value at 31 December 2017 of RMB124,766,000
(2016: RMB84,308,000) were pledged to secure bank loans
granted to the Group at 31 December 2017 (note 30).

W_ZE—+tE+-_A=+—H" 1
BEYEIRFEHENE BKME
RN(ZE—RET+-_HA=1t—8H:
) RNZ AR ARSESEEFIE
BER

]

o

ki

WZEBE—+E+-_A=+—H0" K
EER=_Z—tF+=-_A=+—H
BREEAARY124,766,0007T (=
T — N4 : 84,308,000) W& T
EHENE R ED TEM - /£
AEAEBEREBTERNEKTR
(FzE30) ©
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20. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

20. BERHPYIE

31 December

31 December

2017 2016

—E—tF kAN

+=ZA=+—HB +TZH=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%FT AREFT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B/EREE 512,563 318,537

Additions R 2,297 211,862
Transfer to completed properties ERERBIER SRR ME

held for sale (note 19) (B$5E19) (142) (17,836)

Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZA=+—H/KREE 514,718 512,563

The properties under development are located in Mainland
China with lease terms ranging from 40 to 70 years.

Certain of the Group’s properties under development with a Nz —
carrying value at 31 December 2017 of RMB43,616,000 (2016:
RMB43,616,000) were pledged to secure bank loans granted

NF40ET704E o

+t&+=
EER -_FT—+F+-_HA=+—H
BEEE A AKR®A43,616,0007T (=

HRPYELUNFEANM - HEH

A=+—H XK

to the Group at 31 December 2017 (note 30). T —NFE: AR®43,616,0007T)
METERRTYES THERF - EA
AEBERRITERAEA R (M
3£30) °
21. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS 21. BEAX

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
+=A=+—-8 +=A=+—A”
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT AREFT
Gross amounts due from a contract EREHNE P/
customer FRIHAARE 5,166 12,938




21. CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS (continued)
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BHE_ZT—+H+_A=1+—HILEE

31 December

21. BESH (B)

31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF kAN
+=A=+—-H +=—A=+—8H
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥TFT ARETF T

Contract costs incurred plus recognised % /A& 1FEEAHA LI
profits less recognised losses to date INE FERFE R E R E 18 286,191 286,191
Less: Progress billings B HEE AR ES (281,025) (273,253)
5,166 12,938

22. INVENTORIES

22. 78

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
ZE—tF TR

+=A=+-B t=A=t+—A

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARET T AR For

Merchandise & h 19,970 23,333
Provision for impairment BIER (1,029) (996)
18,941 22,337
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

3. EZ RIFR

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF —ETRF
+=A=+—HB t=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Trade receivables B 5 e GRIA 204,436 158,201
Bills receivable FEUR =55 2,500 =
Less: Provision for doubtful debts o RIERREE (36,394) (29,927)

170,542 128,274

The Group’s trading terms with its institutional customers and
lessee are mainly on credit. The credit period is generally one
month, extending up to three months for major customers.
Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to
maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables and has
a credit control department to minimise credit risk. Overdue
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view
of the aforementioned and the fact that the Group’s trade
receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers,
there is no significant concentration of credit risk. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

AEEEEEBERP LAEAN
RHGREBEANEERE - EEH
BEA—MEA MZEXFPAE
ERERREZE=EH 82FFE
RERBNEERE - NEEHD
BRS ER 4R R UG [ O B U TR IR - AR
BEEEZEIFAUNREREEER
R o = ARE I T Hite AT A R
BIE o RN EXAT R AN EE N E
HERVFBRZITRNAETFE
B MY EEAEREERR - &
PRBFIAB TS -



23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, net of provision
for doubtful debts, is as follows:

20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF
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MR Rk M aE
Year ended 31 December 2017
BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=1+T—RHILFE

3. EZRUWRIRE (48)

Z S EWFIE (B REZRERS)
RREARENBEZBHNRED
Mranr

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

—E—tF kAN

+=BA=+—H +=—H=+—8H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR%F T ARETFT

Within 90 days 90H A 88,484 61,816
Over 90 days and within one year FRBI0OH R1FN 44,343 33,005
Over one year i1 37,715 33,453
170,542 128,274

The movements in provision for impairment of trade receivables
are as follows:

Bo5RKRBBERZRENE SN
™~

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

—E—tF S AN

+=ZA=+—H +ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T T AREFT

At 1 January Rn—H—H 29,927 11,211
Impairment losses recognised ERRRBEERE 7,601 18,716
Impairment losses reversed EREREEE (584) -
Written off i (550) -
36,394 29,927

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB36,394,000 (2016: RMB29,927,000) with
a carrying amount before provision of RMB37,631,000 (2016:
RMB32,818,000).

L ESRRFEREREDBE
EEARENE S EKHIEARE
36,394,0000C (2 —RNF: AR
#529,927,0000T) ME#EH - B E
ZRERWFIEARGH B EAREE
A AN R #37,631,0007T (Z & — X
F: AR#¥32,818,0007T) °
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in financial difficulties or were in default in interest
and/or principal payments and only a portion of the receivables
is expected to be recovered.

The ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are
not considered to be impaired is as follows:

23. B

g 5 FRWRTE ()
£ 1B BSR4 B2 55 FB M SRR BRI A
BBEEREREAFE R A
SMEFEY  RESETRDH
5 FEISHRIA -

TR SERENE Z EWFHIAR
RRZEBRRE DT

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
+=A=+-8 +=A=+—~
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Neither past due nor impaired R BTN R (A 145,055 114,291
Past due within one year BEIFR 17,169 5,043
Past due over one year B HARE R F 8,318 8,940

170,542 128,274

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to
a large number of diversified customers for whom there was
no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of independent customers that have a good track
record with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors
of the Company are of the opinion that no provision for
impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as there
has not been a significant change in credit quality and the
balances are still considered fully recoverable.

The Group’s trade receivables with a carrying value of
RMB54,922,000 (31 December 2016: RMB55,119,000) were
pledged to secure general banking facilities granted to the
Group at 31 December 2017 (note 30).

BR 7K 780 3 7 48 OB B M) B R 0 B
TEAEBMHEBRCENETFE

E 78 BB R RL {8 #O 8 U SR IR B AR K
SEERMHBELHENAREBYR
FER- - REEELRR  BAREER
BRUVESAF R SEHRBINE
RAEAZHEE  KRAREERS
BA L F IR TR E R o

RZT—+FE+-_A=+—H8 &K
& B R E A R %54,922,0007T
—E—RFE+ZHA=+—8: AR
#55,119,0007T) H) & 5 FE W k18
BT URREEERN— ﬂx
IRITEERERMER (HFE30) -



24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
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24, ENRIE - HE R EME
WKIa

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
+=A=+-8 +=A=+-~
RMB'000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETT

Dividends % &, - 20,712
Prepayments TAfI IR 449,697 168,840
Deposits and other receivables & R EH b fEUERIA 187,638 360,419
Current portion of prepaid land lease  FEfT E A E 154 7K HY
payments (note 14) BNEAER > (Fi3E14) 44,787 31,909
682,122 581,880
Less: Non-current portion el : FEBNEREE (532,935) (163,377)
149,187 418,503

The movements in provision for impairment of prepayments

and other receivables are as follows:

T8 3008 . MR O B 1
EHEBNT :

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
+=A=+-8 +-A=t+-~
RMB’'000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARKTT

At 1 January n—HA—H 14,130 13,807
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) EiERBEEIE (HizE7) 493 323
14,623 14,130

Other receivables are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and

have no fixed terms of repayment.

The carrying amounts of deposits and other receivables

approximate to their fair values due to their relatively short

maturity terms.

Hi RUMRASEER  TFFER
EEEEEAS -

BRI ERYEE - ke kHEA
FEU R IR BREE S E A A BEAE
% o
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25. AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED COMPANIES 25, FEUR  FE{+EEHE: 1\ B 2k I8

Balances with related companies are interest-free, unsecured BB ATINER AR S « B
and repayable on demand. The carrying amounts of these RBEREREER - AN D E A E
balances approximate to their fair values due to their relatively W ZEEANEEEEAE N
short maturity terms. K EEREE -

26. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED 26. B4 RELZEYURD
DEPOSITS KHEXK

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF ke AN
+=A=+—H +t=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Cash and bank balances R RIRTTER 1,306,257 850,038

Time deposits with original maturity of REIEHE VR ={EAH
less than three months TE HATE 3R - 30,009
1,306,257 880,047

Less: Pledged for interest-bearing bank & : BT SRITER

loans (note 30) (f17E30) (644) (588)
Pledged for bills payable ERFENEE (505) (5,960)
(1,149) (6,548)

Unpledged cash and cash equivalents XN KIRESEY 1,305,108 873,499
Less: Restricted cash and bank balances*J : IR %38 & MR 1745 64> (94) (94)

Unpledged and unrestricted cash and AN 2R HIIRE K&

cash equivalents ReEEY 1,305,014 873,405
* The cash and bank balances received from customers are * HEEMERAT SR GES R
restricted to use for the construction of related properties. 17 G B TR A F VRS A 2 o
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26.

27.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED
DEPOSITS (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and the time deposits of the Group denominated in
RMB amounted to RMB1,283,873,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB837,525,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. The cash and bank balances and pledged
bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no
recent history of default. The carrying amounts of the cash and
cash equivalents and the pledged bank balances approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES
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BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=1+T—RHILFE

26 HERBEZEEYWURE
EHFR (&)
RIBEBRR - AEBUARKEE
MRS RBITEBURTHER
A AN R #1,283,873,0000T (= &
—RNE+T-A=+—H8B: ARK
837,525,0007T) - AR® A B
HBABHEMEY - A KIBEPE
At B SNE B IR ) 2 45 TE - S IE
RNEERBTE  AEEELERA
BEEEETINEEZEBNRITHEAR
MEMABHME -

RITRS BB BRITERFRZ
FBARREAE - RE RIRITH
HURBEFRITERFAGER
b B3 BRS040 R RO B AV ERTT o 3R
R ReFEMANRD EMRITHE
SERHREEE AR EBEMRS

27. EZRAFEREARE

31 December 31 December

2017 2016

—E—tF —T-REF

t=A=+—-B +=A=+—AH

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥FT AREFTT

Within one year DR—F 985,514 154,749
Over one year ZR—%F 100,867 134,834
1,086,381 289,583

The trade payables are interest-free and normally settled on
terms of 30 to 180 days.

The fair values of trade and bills payables approximate to their
carrying amounts due to their relatively short maturity terms.

B H N RIE R T E R —KRIER30
HZ180HMBREASZfT -

BRI B AHEE - BHRNK
BRENEENAAEEEAR®T
RS -
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28. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

HttENRERETER

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—E— 4t —T—RF
t=A=+—-B +t=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFTT AREFT
Other payables Hofth fE A 5RIE 373,788 294,100
Accruals et E A 17,584 24,075
391,372 318,175
All other payables are unsecured, interest-free and repayable FrEEMENTEAEET - =t
on demand. BRABREREERE -
The fair values of other payables approximate to their carrying A2 E AR EEAE - E b E

amounts due to their relatively short maturity terms.

29. ADVANCES FROM CUSTOMERS
Advances from customers mainly represent sales proceeds
received from buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale
properties.

29.

HH AR EEREREERS

EFEENAK
EEANREE SR

AEBEMEE

MEBIME R HERR .



30.

2017 EHRE

BEBFAEZERERAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bt 75 R R B

Year ended 31 December 2017

BE-T—LF A=+ ALEE
INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. it £%R HMER
BORROWINGS
2017 2016
“E—+E e
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%)  Maturity  RMB'000 rate (%) Maturity ~ RMB'000
ERAE ERFI%
(%) %A ARETR (%) IR ARETT
Current e
Finance lease payables* RMEMERHIE
(note 31) (PiE31) - - - 23 2017 1,553
Other loans - secured Eﬁt,\, vl - - - 7 2017 69,373
Bank loans - secured BITER - BHER 4-8 2018 814,229 4-5 2017 692,834
Current portion of non-current 3?0@ ff\ﬁ’]méﬂ
loans - secured n—HHEH 5-7 2018 961,028 5-8 2017 558,303
1,775,257 1,322,063
Non-current ERE
Other loans - secured HiER - HHA 6-8 2019-2022 450,000
Bank loans - secured BITEHR - BEF 5-7 2019-2027 2,507,133 5-8 2018-2026 1,579,546
2,957,133 1,579,546
4,732,390 2,901,609
g Included in the finance lease payable was an amount of nil due & RZZE—tF+=ZA=+—H" 3|
to EEAR h L /REHEAFR A A (“Orix Lease”) at 31 December RREHERNRESEAT (=
2017 (31 December 2016: RMB1,553,000) which bore interest T—ARF+ZA=1+—H:@ AR¥

at a rate of 22.6% per annum.

1,553,0007T) K FE (S T BE KB &
AEHEERAR (RO HEED
R IBIZFFIE22.6%5T 5 °
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30.:E8TREMES (&)
BORROWINGS (continued)

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F AN
+t=RA=+—-H t=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT AT T

Analysed into: DR
Bank loans repayable: ARATHMEER
IRITER
Within one year or on demand —FEANHIHFEK 1,775,257 1,251,137
In the second year F-FRN 467,763 723,279
In the third to fifth years, inclusive EZEFRTF
(BIEEEMTE) 626,012 610,027
Beyond five years HR B A F 1,413,358 246,240
4,282,390 2,830,683
Other borrowings repayable: ARATEFEER
HEfEak
Within one year or on demand —ERNHIRENR - 70,926
In the second year E-FN 427,500 =
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FE=FFRHF
(BREEERE) 22,500 =
450,000 70,926
4,732,390 2,901,609
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INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 30. 3t ESR{TRHEAMMER (8)
BORROWINGS (continued)
The Group’s bank and other loans were secured by the pledges AEERNRITRAMERUEEE
of the Group's assets with carrying values at 31 December RZE—+FR_FT—RF+=A
2017 and 2016 as follows: =+—HTIEREENEEERE
#
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—+F ZE—RF
+t=ZA=+—8 +t-A=+—H
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
ita AR¥FT ARBFT
Pavilions and office buildings ES-EPNE I TNES Y ES 12 3,059,722 1,153,518
Investment properties BEYE 13 874,562 717,044
Prepaid land lease payments TEf T AR &K 14 1,619,689 924,790
Completed properties FHEL SRR 19
held for sale 124,766 84,308
Properties under development BRPYE 20 43,616 43,616
Trade receivables B 5 FE W GRIA 23 54,922 55,119
Pledged bank balances BEEMIRITEER 26 644 588
Tianjin Park pledged its trade receivables arising from sales REBWERR T —LF+=

for certain borrowings of RMB115,012,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB169,639,000). As at
31 December 2017, the related trade receivables amounted to
RMB8,166,000 (2016: RMB1,969,000) (note 23).

Zhengzhou Tourism Development pledged its 100% equity for
certain borrowings of RMB90,000,000 granted to the Group
at 31 December 2017 (2016: nil).

A=+ —RAETAEENARY
115,012,0007T (ZZF—R"F : AR
#169,639,0007T) W & T & &
KREEHEELENE ZEIK
B -R-ZE—t&F+=-A=+—
B HENESREEREBEBAEARE
8,166,0007T (ZZE—<F : AR¥
1,969,0007T) (Fi5E23) °

BMNREERERNR 2T —EF+
ZA=Z+—BAETFEAEENARE
90,000,0007T (= & — X F : &)
WETEE  HKHE100%Es °
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30.

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (continued)

Wuhan Park pledged its trade receivables arising from sales
for certain borrowings of RMB148,933,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB193,500,000). As at
31 December 2017, the related trade receivables amounted to
RMB9,116,000 (2016: RMB6,643,000) (note 23).

Chengdu Park pledged its trade receivables arising from sales
for certain borrowings of RMB98,747,000 granted to the
Group at 31 December 2017 (2016: RMB195,570,000). As at
31 December 2017, the related trade receivables amounted to
RMB22,106,000 (2016: RMB31,013,000) (note 23).

Qingdao Park pledged its trade receivables arising from sales
from January 2010 to January 2025 for certain borrowings
of RMB346,660,000 granted to the Group at 31 December
2017 (2016: RMB396,140,000). As at 31 December 2017, the
related trade receivables amounted to RMB15,534,000 (2016:
RMB15,494,000) (note 23).

All the Group’s borrowings are denominated in RMB.

The bank and other borrowings balances of the Group
bear interest at floating rates, except for bank and other
borrowings of RMB1,799,705,000 as at 31 December 2017
(2016: RMB621,000,000) that bear interest at fixed rates.

30.

STERITREMERR (&)

REBWERN T —+F+=
AZ+—BAETEAEEHARK
148,933,000 (ZE—7R"F : AR
#193,500,0007T) M & T & &
EREEHEEENE HEKK
B RZE—+tF+=ZA=+—
=K 75@?%5”3%@51%&152%/\&%
9,116,00CL (ZE—RF: AR¥
6,643,0007T) (MI5E23) °

REBHERR T —+F+ = A
:+—E&%$%IE§M\E%
98,747,000 (ZZ—RF : AR
#195,570,0007T) W& T & & -
KHREBHEHEELENE S EKK
B-R_BE—+tF+=-A=+—
H  HENEZERUREBEBRARKE
22,106,000 (ZE—RF : AR
¥31,013,0007T) (Fff5E23) °

SEERMWERR T —+tF+=A
ST ABETAREEREARK
346,660,000 (Z & — <N F : A
R ¥396,140,0007T) WETEE
BEHEH_T-—ZTF-—AEZ_FT
TE—ANHEEEENE HEKK
BH-RZZE—tF+=ZA=+—
H  HEANESEKRFIBEBAEARE
15,534,0007C (ZZE—RF : AR
#515,494,0007T) (Ff5E23) °

PrEASBEMNEEHUARKEHE -

REBHRITREMERAKBEIR
FEBERIE IABERZ=-ZE
—+tF+-_A=+—RBEEREE
EEBHRTT &E’rmﬁih/\ﬁﬁ%
1,799,705,0007T (ZZF—/R"F : A
R#621,000,0007T) °
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approximated to RMB1,553,000 at 31 December 2016.

The finance lease payable of RMB1,553,000 to Orix Lease at
31 December 2016 was unsecured, bore interest at a rate of

22.6% per annum, with the maturity date on 31 December

2016.

31. FINANCE LEASE PAYABLES 31. MEHERNRIE
The Group carried out sale and lease back transactions for AEEREETHEBTTIEERE
certain of its machinery to obtain borrowings. The sale and BERRFUAREHE - HERE
lease back transactions are classified as finance leases and BHOXZLELARETE @ Ttk
have remaining lease terms of three years. HEFHRIF -
Present Present
value of value of
Minimum minimum Minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments payments payments payments
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2017 2017 2016 2016
“Z-RE RZZ—"F
R-ZEB—tF +=ZA RIE—tF +=A8
+=A =+-HK +-A =f+—HK
=+-H#i BEAE =+—Hf HEHE
BREAENTK FRHE FEREAR NRBRE
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARKEFT ARMFT  AREFT  AREFT
Amounts payable: [EfT &% :
Within one year PER - - 2,014 1,553
In the second year RELE - - = -
Total minimum finance lease HEREHERNFIRLE
payments - - 2,014 1,553
Future finance charges ARHBHE - (461)
Total net finance lease payables  FRETREEMNFAELE
(note 30) (Fi3E30) - 1,553
Portion classified as current AEBRBAENHD
liabilities (note 30) (B5E30) - (1,553)
Non-current portion (note 30) BB (H330) - -
The fair value of the Group’s finance lease payables RZE-—RF+ZA= ‘f‘ = RN

SENRMEREENRENAAE
15%’92%/\&%1,553,00073

RZBE-—RF+-_A=1t—BEN
TR THENRE RS RMNRA
AEK#¥1,553,000C BB - 1RF
ME26%HE  RZT—RF+
“A=t—HIHEE -
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32. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

32.

IR Bh

31 December

31 December

2017 2016

R-Z—tF RZZT—KREF

+=A +=A

=t—HH =t+—H&

RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARMTFT AREFT

Carrying amount at 1 January R—A—B8EREE 949,006 902,194
Received during the year F A YR 161,379 115,884
Recognised in profit or loss (note 6) REm KR NFER (Fi5E6) (89,560) (69,072)
Carrying amount at 31 December Rt+=ZA=+—H/KREE 1,020,825 949,006
Current E 124,014 22,540
Non-current FERE 896,811 926,466
1,020,825 949,006

Government grants have been received either for the

construction of certain items of property, plant and equipment,

properties under development, investment properties or for

business development of the subsidiaries of the Group. There

are no unfulfilled conditions and contingencies relating to

these grants.

33. DEFERRED REVENUE

33.

Deferred revenue represents the pre-sale of park tickets.

BFfME IR ERETYE  BHE
REEEE - BRRTOE - KEY
EARAEE 2B B R
RMER - XWEEMARBZZME
R ARG R A FIR -

AEFEU A

EEWARTAE RABEPFIRABA -
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35.
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34. IR

Shares IR
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
R=Z—tF RZZT—RF
+=A +=A
=+—H#® =+—H&
RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFTT
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRAE
4,000,000,000 4,000,000,000/%
(2016: 4,000,000,000) —EREF
ordinary shares 4,000,000,0000%) A% 2,451 2,451

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements

therein are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

in equity.

(a)

(b)

Capital reserve

The amounts represent deemed contributions from equity
holders less deemed distributions to equity holders,
considerations paid by the Group to non-controlling
equity holders over their then share of net assets
of subsidiaries acquired, and dilution upon capital
contributions by the non-controlling equity holders.

Statutory reserves

In accordance with the PRC Company Law and the
PRC subsidiaries’ articles of association, each subsidiary
registered in the PRC as a domestic company is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual statutory net profit as
determined under PRC GAAP (after offsetting any prior
years' losses) to the statutory surplus reserve. When
the balance of this reserve fund reaches 50% of the
entity’s capital, any further appropriation is optional.
The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’
losses or to increase capital. However, the balance of
the statutory surplus reserve must be maintained at a
minimum of 25% of the capital after these usages.

35. f#E&
AEEOEELSBREEHOHER
ABHERBEE

(a)

(b)

BEXRfi#tE
ZREERRRERFAANTE
WESD K TREFAA - K
SERIFERERTA AR
EROEBBHNEAREE
FESHE R IR E R
BAIEROEE

BERE
REFBEARDERPEKE L
A ERAR - ERBEEMS
E= NGOy =NCIE=3= ot
10 % ) £F 24 TE A A (78
MEMTFERR) 2EEH
iR - FEATELNRTE
ANREETEAETE - WxFHRE
TREBEZERERNS50%
RT3 124 AT RRSMEESR
VA TE I 18 R P 1F 98 A 1 F B
BIRE - AT FLEAE
& REEBRHEBERAR
RATLRERN25% °
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 36. &

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

Details of the Group’s subsidiary that has material

non-controlling interests are set out below:

LHT

LH B AR ERERS B AP
D HEBHNE AT
BAEAFERESNARENE
ARFEMT -

RERH

2017 2016
R-ZE—tF RZE—RF

Percentage of equity interest held by

IR A AR

non-controlling interests* Btk 41.7% 41.7%
2017 2016

R-ZE—+tF RZZE—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR®FTT AEBTFT

Profit for the year allocated to
non-controlling interests
Accumulated balances of
non-controlling interests
at the reporting date

7 B2 FRE A 25 Y F s A

RS B AR IHE R e
RIEREER

13,810 17,386

177,933 164,123

* According to the articles of association of LHT, the profit sharing
ratio of LHT is not in proportion to its equity ratio but is as
defined in the articles of association. Pursuant to the articles of
association, Haichang China and the other equity holder share

the profits of LHT at a 7:3 ratio.

* RIBAREREEZIZMA - KER
0 B 20 BREE ) 3 3R & B L
PIEE  BERERAARE -
REZEMA  BETBEKEMiE
T A ART:3H) L DI B 5 X T
EAE -
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 36. B/ = A Ik 2 B8 £ 35 # 20
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS DHEEMB AT (&)
(continued)

LHT (continued) KEEH (8)
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TxR5|E F B A A B EER
information of the above subsidiary. The amounts disclosed WE . I ESTE W R RIAE
are before any inter-company eliminations: NGk
2017 2016
RZE—tF RZZT—RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARE T ARETT

Revenue

Other income and gains

Cost of sales

Total expense

Income tax expense

Net profit and total comprehensive

WA 163,693 174,722
E A R 20,011 4,348
THE AR (75,334) (71,772)
FELE D (46,852) (29,905)
Frigfi M= (15,485) (19,441)

FRAN N 2 E AR

income for the year 46,033 57,952
Current assets MENEE 183,241 343,976
Non-current assets EREBEE 131,245 136,742
Current liabilities mEAE (35,443) (28,317)
Net cash flows from operating activities &% /EBFEFRERE 221,759 40,895
Net cash flows used in investing activities & EBFAFIRERE (23,058) (38,998)
Net cash flows used in financing activities Bi& /AT IR RE (219,390) =
Net (decrease)/increase in cash BeMIReFEY

and cash equivalents CRA) /g hnFeE (20,689) 1,897
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37. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  37. 8l RE XM
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions (a) FEHFBRERXZ
No non-cash transactions occurred during the year ended BE_T—t+tF+_A=1+—
31 December 2017, HIEFEWEIFRERH °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEZTBELECEEE
activities 1t
Bank and Finance
other loans lease
payments payables
RITREE FEAF
ERfFRIEE BEMRE
RMB’000 RMB’'000

ARETFTT ARETT

At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—+F—H—H 2,900,056 1,553
Changes from financing cash flows  @EBRELHRELL 1,832,334 (1,553)
At 31 December 2017 RZE—+F+_H

=+—H 4,732,390 -
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 38. HAREE

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF kAN

+=A=+-A +=A=+-~

RMB’000 RMB’000
ARE T ARBTT

Guarantees in respect of mortgage MAEE Y B RERILS
facilities granted to the purchasers BB EH B R
of the Group’s properties*

15,423 76,556

* The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities
granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the Group's
completed properties held for sale. Pursuant to the terms of
the guarantee arrangements, in case of default on mortgage
payments by the purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with any
accrued interest and penalty owed by the defaulted purchasers
to banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the legal
titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee period
commences from the date of grant of the mortgage loan and
ends after the execution of the purchaser’s collateral agreement.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the
year (2016: Nil) in respect of the guarantees provided for
mortgage facilities granted to the purchasers of the Group’s
completed properties held for sale. The directors consider
that in case of default on payments, the net realisable value
of the related properties can cover the repayment of the
outstanding mortgage loans together with any accrued interest
and penalty, and therefore no provision has been made in
connection with the guarantees.

KEEGE TRITIBETFAEEREE
LEZERMENERNRBRE R
M%% BEZEERZHED K
CIMERBREREBMNR A
BEEEEREENKIBEEFER
Kﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂ%
MEK - AEBRBAGAIHEE RS
MERETESEE - AEBEMERE
HREERBERZABREERER]
EHRBHEAL -

RER - AEBILTEARK T AR
BEELEEKR D ENE R IRIE
BERHNERELEFNEABRE
TEAE R -EFERR W

B HEAMEN A ZRFE

Eﬁ%ﬁiﬂéﬁﬂ’]ﬁz? f/‘kﬂ’ﬂa%’\%_
Hf_{ﬂf’iuﬂ“ﬂ A I
,\\\Edtaxwi%‘%f’ﬁﬁ&@ﬁéﬁ °

271



272

HAICHANG OCEAN PARK HOLDINGS LTD. ANNUAL REPORT 2017

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1 %5 R AR BT EE

Year ended 31 December 2017
HE_ZT—+&+-_A=+—HILEE

39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(a) As lessor

The Group leases its properties under operating lease
arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms ranging
from three months to ten years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to
the then prevailing market conditions.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable
operating leases with its tenants falling due as follows:

9. KeEFHEHRIE
(a) EAEBIHEA

AEERBEEEHELHBE
HY%  ZESHELCERNF
HANF=@AZ+F - KLEH
EMER—B I EER, M
REFES RTHAUREBERMOT
SE S SIELFHE o

RERERR - AEERER
HPEFI M A A i EME
BATFHRANRRRERE
FEN R

31 December 31 December
2017 2016
—E—tF —TRF

+=A=+-A +=A=+-~

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARETT

Within one year 16 A 86,074 94,959
In the second to fifth years, inclusive B2 £ 54

(BEEERSF) 286,347 301,023

After five years S51% 374,191 422,502

746,612 818,484




39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(continued)

(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain parcels of its land and office
buildings under operating lease arrangements.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:
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9. KEMHEERE (B)

(b) EAREEA
$¢@mﬁﬁ% HEZHHEE
ETiEt M A=Y E -

REREHKR - ARERED
AN EMEEATFH
WA AT R R EEE R
AR

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+tF ke AN
+=A=+—-H t=—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T ARETT

Within one year 1F A 11,767 7,371
In the second to fifth years, inclusive ZE2fF =854
(BIEEEMT) 7,866 6,583
19,633 13,954
40. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 40. BEIREIE

In addition to the operating lease commitments detailed
in note 39 above, the Group had the following capital
commitments at the end of the reporting period:

B | SCBfY RE39 P 7 s B 48 2 1H B
BN RMEHRAEEBATH
BANHIE

31 December 31 December

2017 2016
—E—+F —E—RF
t=A=+—-B +=A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000

ARETFTT ARETTT

Contracted, but not provided for: BET4 - BAREME
Properties under development, BRPYIE - BT R
buildings and machinery, HERIEMN T HAE R

live animals, and prepaid land
lease payments

1,205,354 1,505,403
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 41. BE@EA

BALANCES

The related companies with which the Group had transactions

were as follows:

Name of related party

BMEATHE £

TR 5 KA

NEE B 2 5T 3 5 ) Bk X B 40
T

Relationship with the Group
HEARSBHER

#3578 ("Mr. Qu”)

A ( [hk&E])
BEY (“Ms. Cheng”)
BEY ([Bxtl)

REBECEERERAT

("Haichang Corporation Development”)
REBECXZERERAT ( BELXER] )
REGERMERZEFRAF (“Tianjin Haichang Property”)
AEBEFMEREARAR ( [REGERME] )
NEBEFMESEEAFR AR (“Haichang Property Group”)
AREBEFHESBARAR ( [BEFMESE] )
FKEEE B £AR A7 (“Chengdu Haichang Property”)
KEBBEBXEERAR ( [KEBEEX] )
A EEIRER AR (“Chengdu Property Management”)
REMEERERAR ( [KEMEEE] )
REYMEEEBR AR (“Wuhan Property Management”)
REMEERARLAA ( [REMEEE] )
RZEERMEZEER DA (“Wuhan Chuangfu”)
REEIERMEZERARAA ( [RUERIE] )
BEARNLSEREFR QA (“Orix Lease”)
BEABATAERERRRAR ( [BRATHE] )
RNEBEMMYEEEARRR R

("Tianjin Property Management”)
RNEBEFMYEERARRA ( [REMEER] )
NEHEEMERZEER DA (“Dalian Shibo”)
RNEHBEMERBERRAA ( [REHHE] )
REBEWMEEEER A (“Dalian Property Management”)
REBEMEEBERAR ( [REMEETE] )
BEBERIEERERAA

("Yantai Haichang Tourism Development”)
BEBERIERERAR ( [BRBEERERR] )

Director and beneficial shareholder of the Company
Spouse of Mr. Qu and beneficial shareholder of

the Company
HEFNEFREARAEHRE
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEFERERTRERERFEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HAEERBZTRERERFEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HAEEREZTREREFAA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERBELTRERERFEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEFERERTRERERFAA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HAEERBEXTREREFEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERELTRERERFAA

A joint venture of a beneficial shareholder of the Company
RARIBHIRRNE SR

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERELTRERESFAA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEEREXTRERERFAA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEENMEXTRERERFAA
Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERERTRERERFEA



41.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (continued)

Name of related party

BEALRE £8
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BEALRG REES ()

Relationship with the Group
BAKENER

REBRAKBERERAF

("Dalian Oriental Watertown Development”)
RERFKRERERA ((ﬁ$§ﬁ$W¥EJ)
SEEMSLLYERBERA

("Chonggqing Property Management”)
EEMPLYMERBERAR ( [EEMERSE] )
RNEREREMREAR AT (“Dalian Ruichang Lease”)
REMSMERERRRA ( [RERSHEE] )

EABLGFARBR AT (“Changsha Park”)

RAOBELFFREBRAR ( [RARE] )
EEmMEEER DA (“Chongging Pole Property”)
EEBMEEERA (f%%ﬁﬂa%J)
:E/Eﬁkiﬁf%*ﬁﬁﬁ ("Sanya Development”)
EE@EK%%E%@QE(TEE%EJ>

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERBELLTAERERITEA

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEERELTRERERFAA

A joint venture of a beneficial shareholder of the Company
RAFERRRNELERT

An associate of a beneficial shareholder of the Company
ZAYNCIN-E= & o0k /N

An associate of a beneficial shareholder of the Company
RNRRERRRAEEE R A

Mr. Qu and Ms. Cheng are beneficial equity holders
HEENEXTRERERFAA
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions

4. BEATRG RER (B)

(a) BEALTRS
B b S5 B TS kA ELAth 3h 5 5

In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in

276

these financial statements, the Group had the following MEZEZT SN - ANEEEE
transactions with related parties: BATEIBUTEARRLS
2017 2016
—B—+tF —T-REF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREFIT
Rental incomes: HEBHA -
Haichang Corporation BELEER (a)(i)

Development 4,571 4,629
Dalian Oriental Watertown AIER 5 7K B R (a)(i)

Development 2,509 2,505
Yantai Haichang Tourism EaBERERR (a)(i)

Development 1,286 1,275
Wuhan Chuangfu HRZEE (@)(i) 217 3,603
Tianjin Haichang Property RKEBFEFEHE (a)(i) - 1,014

8,583 13,026
Consultancy and management %0} EFERFEUA

service income:

Changsha Park EORE (a)(ii) 876 4,198

Management fee expenses: EEEWA -

Sanya Development =TnEE (a)(iv) 728 =

Dalian Property Management — AKE¥)%EEE (a)(iii) 607 534

Tianjin Property Management  KE¥¥EIE (a)(iii) 244 593

Wuhan Property Management  Z ¥ ¥ & 12 (@)(iii) - 245
1,579 1,372

Loan: B

Changsha Park EARE (a)(v) 8,000 =

Interest income: FILEYA -

Changsha Park EARE (a)(v) 261 =




41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

(i)

The Group has leased out office space to Haichang
Corporation Development under a lease agreement
(the "Lease”) dated 24 January 2014, pursuant to
which the Group leases the premises to Haichang
Corporation Development for a term of two years
from 1 January 2014 to 31 December 2015 for
RMB400,000 per month. In 2016, the Group has
expanded the term of the contract from 1 January
2016 to 31 December 2018 for RMB400,000
(tax inclusive) per month. Rental income for the
period ended 31 December 2017 from Haichang
Corporation Development was RMB4,571,000
(2016: RMB4,629,000).
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4. BEATR G RER (B)

(a) BEALRSG (&)

(i)

AEEREBERAHAE T
—mWE—A=-+MAHX
HEBZETEDND @
BETEBRLERA
BRI ASERZ
T—mMF—AF—B=&E_=
E—hAF+_A=+—
AMFEHHEAEDER
THEECEERE §A
A& & A K ¥400,000
TLe RZE—AR&F ' K
SEKBENBHHR_F—
NE—A—BREEREZR
—E—NF+=ZA=+
—B - BAAAREK
400,0007T (E#) - &=
—E—tF+ A=+
—BILFEXRBBEEDR
E¥EZENHESWAAEA
R #4,571,0007T (= &
— 754 1 4,629,000) °
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

(i)

(continued)

On 14 October 2014, the Group entered into lease
agreements to lease out office space to Wuhan
Chuangfu, Dalian Shibo, Tianjin Haichang Property
and Yantai Haichang Tourism Development. On
15 September 2015, the Group entered into a
tripartite agreement with Dalian Shibo and Dalian
Oriental Watertown Development, pursuant to
which Dalian Oriental Watertown Development
executed the contract to replace Dalian Shibo
commencing from 19 September 2015. Tianjin
Haichang Property has prematurely terminated
the contract with the Group since 18 September
2016. In 2017, the Group has expanded the lease
agreements from 19 September 2017 with Dalian
Oriental Watertown Development for 1 year and
Yantai Haichang Tourism Development for 3 years
for RMB230,000 and RMB127,000 (tax inclusive)
per month, seperately. The Group charged monthly
rental charges of approximately RMB310,000,
RMB220,000, RMB122,000,and RMB110,000
(tax inclusive) during January to September 2017
and RMB310,000, RMB23,000, RMB122,000
and RMB127,000 (tax inclusive) during October
2017 to December 2017 to Wuhan Chuangfu,
Dalian Oriental Watertown Development, Tianjin
Haichang Property and Yantai Haichang Tourism
Development. Rental incomes derived by the Group
in 2017 from Wuhan Chuangfu, Dalian Oriental
Watertown Development, Yantai Haichang Tourism
Development and Tianjin Haichang Property were
RMB217,000, RMB2,509,000, RMB 1,286,000 and nil,
respectively (2016: RMB3,603,000, RMB2,505,000,
RMB1,275,000 and RMB 1,014,000, respectively).
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(continued)

In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
the transactions between the Group and Haichang
Corporation Development, Wuhan Chuangfu,
Dalian Oriental Watertown Development, Tianjin
Haichang Property and Yantai Haichang Tourism
Development were conducted in the ordinary
and usual course of business and on terms and
conditions similar to those entered into with
unrelated parties.

The Group entered into operation management
service agreements with Changsha Park, pursuant
to which the Group would provide consultancy
service with the total amount of the contracts
of RMB16,000,000 for planning and design,
construction and making preparations for the
scheduled opening of the park. During the year
ended 31 December 2016, consultancy service
income was recognised by RMB4,198,000 based on
the percentage of the service. In 2017, the Group
offered animal purchase consultancy services to
Changsha Park, and recognised consultancy service
income of RMB876,000.

In September 2014, the Group and its related
parties entered into a series of property
management agreements, pursuant to which:

i) Tianjin Property Management agreed to
provide management services to the Group at
RMB2.23 per square metre per month for the
commercial street properties and properties
beneath serviced apartments and RMB2.73
per square metre per month for the unsold
serviced apartments for a three-year period
commencing from 19 September 2014;
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)
(a) Related party transactions (continued)
(iii)  (continued)

i) Dalian Property Management agreed
to provide management services to the
Group at RMB2.5 per square metre per
month for the unleased or unsold ancillary
commercial properties for a three-year period
commencing from 19 September 2014; and

iii)  Wuhan Property Management agreed to
provide management services to the Group
at RMB2.5 per square metre per month
for the unleased or unsold commercial
street properties for a three-year period
commencing from 19 September 2014. On 1
January 2017, the Group has early terminated
the above property management agreement
with Wuhan Property Management.

During the year ended 31 December 2017,
management fee expenses paid to Dalian Property
Management, Tianjin Property Management and
Wuhan Property Management were RMB607,000,
RMB244,000 and nil, respectively (2016:
RMB534,000, RMB593,000 and RMB245,000,
respectively).

41.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
BALANCES (continued)

(a) Related party transactions (continued)

(iv)

On 1 January 2017, the Group entered into a
contract with Sanya Development, pursuant to
which the Group operates the restaurant owned
by Sanya Development for a term of four years
from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2020 with
compensation of an annual management fee
amounting to RMB200,000 plus 50% of the annual
profit of the restaurant. The management fee
expense was RMB728,000 during the year ended
31 December 2017.

On 30 March 2017, the Group entered into a
contract with Changsha Park, pursuant to which
the Group lends RMB8,000,000 to it at an annual
interest rate of 4.35% for the project construction
of Changsha Park.The contract commenced from
5 April 2017 to 5 February 2018.
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND 41. BEALIXZ R4 (8)
BALANCES (continued)
(b) Balances with related companies (b) EREFEE N BIHVESER
The Group had the following balances with its related NEIHEHIK - NEFHEHEFE
parties at the end of each of the reporting periods: EHHESIT
31 December 31 December
2017 2016
B+ —E—RF
+=—B=+—-H +=ZA=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR%FT ARETFT
Due from related companies JRE U5 A Bt 2 R R IR
Changsha Park A RE 8,000 4,450
Dalian Oriental Watertown RNERFKBERE
Development 2,466 34
Haichang Corporation Development /B2t RE 1,500 =
Tianjin Property Management REMEER 1,450 78
Chengdu Property Management B ERY S5 IR 464 -
Orix Lease MAOTHE 322 300
Chongqing Pole Property EEBERE 5
Wuhan Chuangfu RZEIE - 4,493
Tianjin Haichang Property REBEFEME - 1,643
Chengdu Haichang Property KEBEESE - 1,316
Dalian Property Management RNEMEER - 335
14,207 12,649
Due to related companies JE {<F A BSE 1 R RKIE
Changsha Park RO AE 25,155 =
Yantai Haichang Tourism B8 2R R
Development 1,152 1,009
Chongging Property Management EEWMEERE 104 71
Dalian Ruichang Lease ANEmSHE 100 100
Sanya Development —ER 18 -
Wuhan Chuangfu HZElE 11 =
Wuhan Property Management REMEER - 749
26,540 1,929
Finance lease payables B & E IR
Orix Lease BMAOTHEE - 1,553




41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND

BALANCES (continued)
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BE-_Z—+tF+-_A=1+—HIEFE

 BRABEAERE KRR (B)

(c) Compensation to the key management () BFITESTEENHE
2017 2016
—E—tF kAN
RMB'000 RMB’000
ARETT ANREFr
Emoluments: < :
Salaries, allowances, bonuses, E e =1 I A A I
benefits and other expenses B MR EMmE A 9,212 9,593
Post-employment benefits RIRAER 354 359
9,566 9,952

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

42. e T EpiE

B/\\\D#&%/H\HEKE"] |:|7<

SR T B

instruments as at the end of each of the reporting periods BEmEmEWLT :
are as follows:
31 December 2017 —E2—+F+=-H=+—H
Financial assets SRBE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
Bk ] it &
FEWFRIE SREE st
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT AREFT AREFT
Financial assets included in TREE AR
deposits and other receivables B fE W sk I8
(note 24) (Pff5x24) 187,638 - 187,638
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - 90,403 90,403
Trade receivables H 5 WA 170,542 - 170,542
Due from related companies i) NGIE /S 14,207 - 14,207
Pledged bank balances Eﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁm 1,149 - 1,149
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEFED 1,305,108 - 1,305,108
1,678,644 90,403 1,769,047
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42. FINANCIAL
(continued)

31 December 2017 (continued)

Financial liabilities

INSTRUMENTS BY

CATEGORY 42. ¢RI ESHE (&)
—F—t&+=-A=+—H
(58)
b=

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

REBHRAENERESE
RMB’000
AR¥FT
Financial liabilities included in other SRIEE - JAHEMERNRIER
payables and accruals (note 28) fEEtER (MiE28) 391,372
Interest-bearing bank and other SFRRITREMBEE (FF30)
borrowings (note 30) 4,732,390
Trade and bills payables B 5 FIE R ENRR 1,086,381
Due to related companies JE 1~ BB A B RIR 26,540
6,236,683

31 December 2016

—E-RETZHA=1+—H

Financial assets PRIBE
Available-
for-sale
Loans and financial
receivables assets Total
BR& AEHE
FE WK IE CRENEE HBET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETFT AREFIT ARETT
Financial assets included in EREE  JARER
deposits and other receivables Hoth FE UL R IR
(note 24) (Mt5E24) 360,419 - 360,419
Available-for-sale investments AHHERE - 19,370 19,370
Trade receivables B 5 WA 128,274 - 128,274
Due from related companies el NI E 12,649 = 12,649
Pledged bank balances DIRIRIR T AR 6,548 - 6,548
Cash and cash equivalents RekBEeEEY 873,499 = 873,499
1,381,389 19,370 1,400,759




42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

43.

(continued)
31 December 2016 (continued)

Financial liabilities
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42. ERTE9HE (&)

Financial liabilities

at amortised cost

RESKANESRAE
RMB’000
ARETF T
Financial liabilities included in other SREE - JAHMERNRIER
payables and accruals (note 28) EEtER (MiE28) 318,175
Interest-bearing bank and other RRITREMBEE (FIFE30)
borrowings (note 30) 2,901,609
Trade and bills payables B 5 FIE RENRR 289,583
Due to related companies & 1< A N Bl FNIE 1,929
3,511,296

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows:

31 December 2017

Financial liabilities

3. ETMIBEAABERAR
4

BESHK

AEERTANEHERAAE

B (EEREEZEAAR
EHERIN) @A

BEAEHESE

—E—tFt+=HA=+—H

TRAE

Carrying
amount Fair value
IREE AREHE
RMB000 RMB’000
AR T T ARHTF T
Interest-bearing bank and other FTEIRIT R E AR E R
borrowings 1,504,705 1,467,451
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

L
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) BEEL (&)
31 December 2016 —E—XKEt+=-A=+—H
Financial liabilities SRBE
Carrying
amount Fair value
BREE NREE
RMB’000 RMB’000
AEET T AERET T
Financial lease payables REEEREMNFIE 1,553 1,870
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMIERK
borrowings 426,000 415,829
427,553 417,699

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, pledged deposits, trade receivables, trade and
bills payables, financial assets included in deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, amounts due from related companies and amounts
due to related companies approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.

Management has assessed that except for the long-term
interest-bearing bank loans with fixed interest rates and the
finance lease payables, the fair values of interest-bearing bank
loans and other borrowings approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the fact that these borrowings are
made between the Group and independent third-party
financial institutions or related companies based on prevailing
market interest rates.

The fair values of the interest-bearing bank loans with fixed
interest rates and the finance lease payables have been
calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows
using rates currently available for instruments with similar
terms, credit risk and remaining maturities. The Group’s own
non-performance risk for the finance lease payables as at 31
December 2017 was assessed to be insignificant.

EEECHHEREMNEACEFEY
EERGER BEHERERE -EH
BNRARENEE  JIIARE
REMEYFRIBENSREE - JIA
HENRELEFERNESHEA
{8 - FEURRE B 1 B BRIR e 1 R Bt
NAFENRABEARZBNE
H{EMES  T2HRZETARE
HANEH -

BEEEF G RIREEMETE
MEMBITERMBERERMNRK
A5 - G RBITER R E A E R
AABERAREKEERS  EEMA
REZFERAAKREEBIE=T
TRBEXAHARRRRITHES
MR AEH

REFEMKRGFBORTERLRE
HERNKENDABEREARN
BERBRUER - EERR KR HF
HIE) T A IRIT A R IR BRI
RenEsdE BE_T—LF+
“RA=1t—8 AEEXGHER
BN RN T E R B E R
WAEK e



43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The Group’s finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the chief
financial officer and the board of directors. At each reporting
date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by the chief financial officer. The valuation process
and results are discussed with the board of directors once a
year for annual financial reporting.
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43. eI ERAABERAR
BESH (E)
A S £ [ Bt 75 AR 3R ) B 75 2B P
BEETSMITAAABETEN
HERRR - MSEEEE ARG
BEREEGRE - NESHREA
B BSOS R T ANER
BHYETHETERANTES
B o ff B B SR BT AR R HLAE o
HEARRERRETSTETH
—RLEITE B TSER

Fair value hierarchy NABEER

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIBFEAREEHNESFH T AN A
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: EBEEE

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: r@fﬂ S EWENAaE

As at 31 December 2017

—2—+F+=-_A=+—H

%

Fair value measurement using

ERATERETAABEENE

Quoted prices

Significant Significant

in active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERT % EXABRE EAFTEE

HRE WAHE BAYE
(E5—-%) (B=#) (B=) CH)
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHFT AR¥FT ABETT ABHTFT

Interest-bearing bank and other  FFBIRITREMER

borrowings - 1,467,451 - 1,467,451
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43. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed: (continued)
As at 31 December 2016

3. cMIBEARBERAR

ﬁ{TEWMEE:()
RZE—R"F+_A=+—H

Fair value measurement using
ERATREETAABERE

Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
N BEXAEE BATAEER
HR(E BAZE BABR
(%) (=) (E=8) &t
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ANREFT  ARETT  AREFT  ARETT
Finance lease payables RERERMZA = 1,870 = 1,870
Interest-bearing bank and other  FFSIR{TREMER
borrowings - 415,829 - 415,829
- 417,699 - 417,699

During the years ended 31 December 2017 and 2016, there
were no transfers of fair value measurements between Level
1 and Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 for both
financial assets and financial liabilities.

RBE_Z—+FR_F-—RF+
ZA=T—HILEFE eBREEK
PRMBEFARE_RLANEAE
SFECZETEER  BVEEF
EEZE=L -



44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, an amount due
from the ultimate holding company, amounts due from/to
related companies, available-for-sale investments, pledged
deposits and cash and bank balances. The main purpose of
these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s
operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade receivables, trade and bills payables,
other receivables and other payables, which arise directly from
its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's bank borrowings set out
in note 30. The Group has not used any interest rate swaps
to hedge its interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rate, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the
impact on floating rate borrowings) and the Group’s retained
earnings.
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4. BBEREERERBER

AEENEESR T ABREEIR
TREMEE  BRKEERAR
IR - UL RE AT AR X B AROR
AHEERE  CERERUARR
EMRITESR ZEETMIATE
ARAREAEEEEKEES - A&
BRFEEKREEEZNZBEMS
BEERBE PIWMESEENK
B EIZRNRANENRER H
it MUK IR e LA S 5RO

AEENSRTIAEELN T ZEMR
AT ERR  IMNERR - EERR
ERRBETER - EFEmT M
ZIEHI S ERAROBER - GRERXR
BB I3 o

EIESEN

7R % 18] P T Bl B0 T 355 ) =R B B L i
T EEME30MENAEBARTT
EERH - AEBEY KERERA
Ry B LA S EL A R R

TRETE—VEGEEHFIE
B AEBERRADEN (BB F
BHNREEZFE) RAKENEF
BRENHNEESEAREH T2
BURE -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) in
(decrease) in profit
basis points before tax
2 EH RRBE A% Fl
(T¥) &M CHD)
RMB’000
AR TF T
For the year ended 31 December 2017 #HZE_—Z—t4F
TZA=T—HILFE 100 (30,317)
(100) 30,317
For the year ended 31 December 2016 #HZE_—Z—/NF
+TZRA=+—RHILFE 100 (22,791)

(100) 22,791
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44, BiI R AR =B EER K E

290

AND POLICIES (continued) (%&)
Foreign currency risk 471 BEE 2 sz

The Group’s businesses are located in Mainland China and
nearly all transactions are conducted in RMB, except for capital
injections from shareholders. All of the Group’s assets and
liabilities are denominated in RMB, except for those owned by
the Company and certain subsidiaries which are denominated
in USD and HKD.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the
USD and HKD exchange rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group’s profit before tax (due to changes in
the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

AEEMNEHURTE AN B
FHEXZUARERRE  HKE
BRENEERI - REBWRA
BENMABHUAAREE  HERX
RAINETHBRBFHAENETLR
BIFHEN B E MR ER -

TRINTRBE RRERA H A&
EREFTENBRT  BXTME
BEXNAERIEE MY AEH
BHANENOTE (AREBEE
RAENAREBERZS) -

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
USD/HKD  profit before
rate (or after) tax

BRBLAT (RK)

X,/ BEER A,
R (F¥&) (R 2)
% RMB’000
AEB¥FT
2017 —g—tx
If the RMB weakens against the USD AR H KT 10 (2,524)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD  fif ARREE 3, =t i 08 (10) 2,524
If the RMB weakens against the HKD i AR A5 10 416
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD  fif AR ¥ 3 5 K i 0 (10) (416)
2016 —BoXxE
If the RMB weakens against the USD fist A\ R 5 52 T B8 55 10 (3,229)
If the RMB strengthens against the USD  flii A R # 5, £ o ddiog (10) 3,229
If the RMB weakens against the HKD AR A a5 10 2,090
If the RMB strengthens against the HKD  fif AR ES 5 38258 (10) (2,090)



44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Credit risk

There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within
the Group. The credit risk of the Group's other financial
assets, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, pledged
deposits, trade receivables, deposits and other receivables,
available-for-sale investments, amounts due from related
companies arises from default of the counterparty, with a
maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these
instruments.

Liquidity risk

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings. Cash flows
are closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:
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44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 44. iR EEEERNKE
AND POLICIES (continued) (&)

Liquidity risk (continued) nBESRR (8)

On  Less than 3to 12 1t05 Over 5
demand 3 months months years years Total
ARERE  SH3EA  3Z128R 125% SEHNE @t
RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AREFT ARETT ARETR ARETT AREFT ARETZ
31 December 2017 “E-tE+tZA=t1-H
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it BT E - 562,251 1,251,063 1,771,976 1,640,516 5,225,806
Trade and bills payables EIRNTERENER 1,086,381 - - - - 1,086,381
Other payables and accruals it ENTERETER 391,372 - - - - 3913712
Due to related companies FER B A R5E 26,540 - - - - 26,540
Guarantees in respect of RASEMFERERLS
mortgage facilities granted BEFLMER
to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties 15,423 - - - - 15,423
1,519,716 562,251 1,251,063 1,771,976 1,640,516 6,745,522
31 December 2016 ZE-RETZA=1-H
Finance lease payables BERERNZE = 504 1,510 = = 2,014
Interest-bearing bank borrowings it BB TEE - 420485 1033532 1,514,880 292,327 3,261,224
Trade and bills payables BORATERENER 289,583 = = = - 289,583
Other payables and accruals EREAFERENER 318,175 - - = = 318,175
Due to related companies ARl NG ERE] 1,929 - = = = 1,929
Guarantees in respect of PASENFXERER KIS
mortgage facilities granted BEELNER
to the purchasers of the
Group’s properties 76,556 - - - - 76,556
686,243 420,989 1,035,042 1,514,880 292,327 3,949,481




44. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are
to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its
business and maximise equity holders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust
the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or
issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally
imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31
December 2017 and 2016.

The Group monitors capital using a net debt to total equity
ratio. Net debt includes interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings, amounts due to related companies, less cash and
cash equivalents and amounts due from related companies.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods were
as follows:
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ﬂ%}ﬂ Az EEERRBR
EXERE
AEEEAERNEEABRARE

AEBENFELER N RGFRRE
MERELEER  UAXHHEEBER
RaR A AT RRAEE -

AEBERBLERALE S RABE
ENRRERERENMARERE
B REFIRABRELRERE K&
B gHBRMNTRENDRKRE - [
PRRFEEARLEITIHR - AEE
NZAERINEBHE N EE R E K
R-RBE_ZT—+FR=
$+*H:+—E¢$FE’ Bz
BUR Sk AR e 3 fR (] 2

AEBMNAFEEEERLL RRE
mEN - Fi‘%}%"rﬁﬁaﬁﬁrgfﬂﬁﬁ
HiEE - BRI E5KIE R
fﬁ/f&fﬁfﬁ—r@%&@ﬁ%ﬂ?”
RE- RBERARNABEL =W
B

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—E—tF ke AN
+=BA=+—H +=-—A=+—H
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TFTT AEREFIT

Interest-bearing bank and other FHERTTREMIERK
borrowings 4,732,390 2,901,609
Due to the related companies FE{ST A B A B FRIE 26,540 1,929
Less: Due from related companies A FEM AR A R RIR (14,207) (12,649)
Cash and cash equivalents HehIReFEY (1,305,108) (873,499)
Net debt E75%58 3,439,615 2,017,390
Total equity et R 4,422,934 4,218,834
Net debt to total equity ratio A EARER X 78% 48%
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

45. AN BB IR R 3R

B BRI EHRA R R BB K

HERZIE T

31 December

31 December

2017 2016
—B-tF  -TAF
t=A=+t-8 +=-A=+—AH
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRET T ANRET T
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Deposits and other receivables 1R N E fth fE W sk IE 300 318
Due from subsidiaries FEUS BT B A R H 3R T8 2,900,476 3,084,652
Cash and cash equivalents Be MIReFEY 7,767 7,817
Total current assets BRENEE 2,908,543 3,092,787
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Other payables and accruals Hitn BB REFEH 6,240 4,932
Total current liabilities BrEaE 6,240 4,932
NET CURRENT ASSETS BEREBEE 2,902,303 3,087,855
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HEERRBARE
LIABILITIES 2,902,303 3,087,855
NET ASSETS EEFE 2,902,303 3,087,855
EQUITY R
Share capital N 2,451 2,451
Other reserves (Note) H e () 2,899,852 3,085,404
TOTAL EQUITY 4R 2,902,303 3,087,855




20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
MR Rk M aE

Year ended 31 December 2017
BE_ZT—+tF+-_A=1+T—RHILFE

45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 45, AAREBIERRE (B)
THE COMPANY (continued)

Note: B 5
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RATIEBERESEHNT :
Exchange
Share Capital  fluctuation Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
)
Bt (B N (] ZETER st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2016 RZZT—A~"E—A—H 2,373,396 426,726 148,745 (50,033) 2,898,834
Loss for the year FREE - = = (11,065) (11,065)
Exchange differences on BREGINEBHEL =5

translation of foreign

operations - - 197,635 - 197,635
Total comprehensive profit FAZEENEE

for the year - - 197,635 (11,065) 186,570
At 31 December 2016 and RZFE—"F+=-A=+—H

1 January 2017 k=Z—t&—H—H 2,373,396 426,726 346,380 (61,098) 3,085,404
Loss for the year FABIE - - - (6,870) (6,870)
Exchange differences on BREBINEBHELZ5

translation of foreign

operations - - (178,682) - (178,682)
Total comprehensive loss FALEEBEEE

for the year - - (178,682) (6,870) (185,552)
At 31 December 2017 RZZE—+E+-A=+—H 2,373,3% 426,726 167,698 (67,968) 2,899,852

oo SA
46. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ~ 46. i 3RaR AL &

The financial statements were approved and authorised for MBHRRER-_E-—N\F=RA=+
issue by the board of directors on 26 March 2018. NEEEESHEREETE -
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP
AEERBZEERYR

Total Actual or

Planned GFA Total Actual ~ Total Actual
(underground or Planned or Planned
GFA, if GFA Held for ~ GFA Held for
applicable)’ Total Sale  Investment
(sq.m.) GFA Sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
BERS  Cumulatively  BEHEH  BEREN

RUBEER (sq.m.) 4ER aER

Interest
attributable

Actual orPlanned  (WTREERX  BHEHE B EEit] Term  to the Group
City-Phase (Usage) Address Status Construction Period HER)! HEERE BARR BARE of Land piy- 1}
- B8 (Ag) ki bt ERSHETH (Fh%) (F5%) (Fh%) (®5%) THES EfbER
Qingdao (Commercial Street)  Qingdao Polar Ocean World, Completed 01/2005 - 07/2006 38,345 20,888 Nil 17457 40 years 100%
EAGE L) 60 Donghai East Road, B Z 4%
Qingdao, Shandong Province,
the PRC
1
LREEET
RERAG0R
ERWEETR
Chengdu - Phase 1 Phase 1 of Completed 09/2007 - 0772011 49,186 18,971 4292 25,923 40 years 100%
(Commercial Street) Chengdu Polar Ocean World, Bk 4E
- B8R Chengdu, Sichuan Province,
(B%H) the PRC
i
ERE
AR —
Chengdu - Phase 2 The clubhouse of Phase 2 of Completed 0312010 - 09/2011 34,198 13,170 il 21,028 40 years 100%
(Clubhouse) Chengdu Polar Ocean World, Bk (11,646) z (11,646) 4E
# - FakE Chengdu, Sichuan Province,
(&ff) the PRC
i
ERE
AAEL SR
HmEZd ek
Chengdu - Phase 2 (Hotel The office building of Phase 2 of Completed 0412013 - 052015 45,351 45,351 il Nil 40 years 100%
and Office Complex) Chengdu Polar Ocean World, Bk (11,477) (11,477) S Z 4E
# - EakE Chengdu, Sichuan Province,
(BER#AGAR) the PRC

TE
oI # &
RBEEFER - MR0E



MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

20175 EHRE BEBFLABERBRAF

TEEHEZETENE
Total Actual or
Planned GFA Total Actual ~ Total Actual
(underground orPlanned  or Planned
GFA, if GFA Held for ~ GFA Held for
applicable)’ Total Sale  Investment
(sq.m.) GFA Sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
ABRY  Cumulatively  BEREN  BEREN Interest
REYBmER (sq.m.) aER HER attributable
ActualorPlanned (B TEEEEX  RHCHE Ry e Term o the Group
City-Phase (Usage) Address Status Construction Period WER)' HEAEE BARR BARE of Land iy 1}
T - BA (BE) it & BRI (B5X) (F5%) (B5%) (F5%) THEH EibER
Yantai Yantai Fisherman’s Wharf, Completed 04/2008 - 06/2012 42,107 31,035 Nil 1,012 40 years 100%
(Commerdial Street) Binhai Road, B z YE
&A (5%H) Yantai, Shandong Province,
the PRC
e
WREEAT
BBk
BRBAER
Wuhan - Phase 1 Phase 1 of Wuhan Polar Ocean World, Completed 08/2011-03/2013 41,151 Nil Nil 41,151 40 years 100%
(Commercial Street) Dongxihu District, [z Z z YE
RE - SRR Wuhan, Hubei Province,
(Ex4) the PRC
e
ML RET
REHE
RERDEFHER—H
Wuhan - Phase 2 Phase 2 of Wuhan Polar Ocean World, For future 07/2018 - 1212019 97,384 N/A N/A N/A 40 years 100%
(Commercial Street) Dongxihu District, development (22,300) TBA TER TE8 YE
HE - FIRE Wuhan, Hubei Province, BRARER
(Ex4) the PRC
T
MR ET
REHE

REBEFHR 5
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FEEREZETENF
Total Actual or
Planned GFA Total Actual ~ Total Actual
(underground or Planned or Planned
GFA, if GFA Held for ~ GFA Held for
applicable)’ Total Sale  Investment
(sq.m.) GFA Sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
ABRY  Cumulatively  BEREN  BEREN Interest
REBEER (sq.m.) 4R agR attributable
Actual orPlanned  (WTREERX  EHEHE B Epit] Term  to the Group
City-Phase (Usage) Address Status Construction Period HER)' HEERE BARR BERE of Land piy- 1}
s - KR (BR) it e ERDHEIH (F5%) (FhX) (F5%) (F5%) THEH i 3
Wuhan - Phase 3 Phase 3 of Wuhan Polar Ocean World, For future 07/2018 - 1212019 153,158 N/A N/A N/A 40 years 100%
(Serviced Apartments) Dongyihu District, development (35,890) TEm TER TEA 4E
RE - 23K Wuhan, Hubei Province, BRARER
(RBAE) the PRC
G
MR EN
REHR
REBDEHER=H
Tianjin - Block B Block B, Tianjin Polar Ocean World, ~ Completed 06/2010- 1172013 33,151 1,586 Nil 23,252 40 years 100%
(Commercial Street) east side of Henan Road and Bk (12,783) z 4E
X -BE (B£H) south side of Binhe Road,
Binhai New District, Tianjin,
the PRC
Gl
REESHE
R R EIRE T
REmitEF AR
Tianjin - Block D Block D, Tianjin Polar Ocean World, ~ Completed 08/2010- 1172013 36,392 23,599 Nil 2,645 40 years 100%
(Commercial Street) east side of Henan Road and Bk (10,148) z 4E
KE-DE (k) south side of Binhe Road,
Binhai New District, Tianjin,
the PRC
il
REMEHE
R R AR B R Rl
REmEF tR0E
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FEEREZTEYH
Total Actual or
Planned GFA Total Actual ~ Total Actual
(underground or Planned or Planned
GFA, if GFA Held for ~ GFA Held for
applicable)’ Total Sale  Investment
(sq.m.) GFA Sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
ABRY  Cumulatively  BEREN  BEREN Interest
REBAER (sq.m.) 4R Eyt attributable
Actual orPlanned  (WTEEERX  EHEHE B3 | Bt Term  to the Group
City-Phase (Usage) Address Status Construction Period HER)'  EEERE BARR BERE of Land piy- 1}
i - KR (BR) it e ERGHETE (B5X) (FhX) (F5%) (F5%) THEH JEfiRR
Tianjin - Block E Block E, Tianjin Polar Ocean World, ~ Completed 09/2010 - (03/2014 - 59,006 16,985 8,911 29,626 40 years 100%
(Serviced Apartments) east side of Henan Road and Bk 12120158 (12,118) (8,634) 4E
xE-[E (RELE) south side of Binhe Road,
Binhai New District, Tianjin,
the PRC
G
REHESHE
R R EIRE TR
REmnaFtREE
Tianjin - Block A Block A, Tianjin Polar Ocean World, ~ For future 1112018 - 10/2021 120,749 N/A N/A N/A 40 years 100%
(Serviced Apartments and ~ east side of Henan Road and development (37,939) Gl R iR 4%
Commercial Street) south side of Binhe Road, BRARER
KE-AB Binhai New District, Tianjin,
(RBAERARE) the PRC
G
REHESHE
R R EIRE T
RERpEFtRAR
Dalian (Commercial Street)* Dalian Tiger Beach Fisherman’s Wharf, Completed - 126714 - - 12671* 40 years 100%
KB (%) Dalian, Liaoning Province, Bk 40E
the PRC
Gl
HELRE
NEZRERARE
Dalian (Haichang Xincheng) ~ Haichang Xincheng Commercial Space, Completed - 6,365 - - 6,365 70 years 100%
K& (BEMH) 137 Huale Street, Zhongshan District, B3R 105
Dalian, Liaoning Province,
the PRC
G
HELRE

PILRELE375
BRI
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MAJOR PROPERTIES HELD BY THE GROUP

AEBRHEZTEYE
Total Actual or
Planned GFA Total Actual ~ Total Actual
(underground or Planned or Planned
GFA, if GFA Held for ~ GFA Held for
applicable)’ Total Sale  Investment
(sq.m.) GFA Sold (sq.m.) (sq.m.)
ABRY  Cumulatively  BEREN  BEREN Interest
REBEER (sq.m.) 4R agR attributable
Actual orPlanned  (WTREERX  EHEHE B Epit] Term  to the Group

City-Phase (Usage) Address Status Construction Period HER)' HEERE BARR BERE of Land piy- 1}

i - K& (R) it e BRI (FA%) (TH%) (TH%) (T5X) HES g

Chongging - Phase 1 Chongaing Caribbean Water Park, ~ Completed 04/2008 - 12/2011 32,529 - 8,092 24,437 40 years 100%

(Commercial Street) Nan An District, Chongqing, Bk 4E
R -Z1BR the PRC
T
BRI AR
Chongging - Phase 2 Chongging Caribbean Water Park, ~ For future 11/2018 - 1012020 54,095 N/A N/A N/A 40 years 100%
BE - FIKR Nan An District, Chongqing, development (9,758) TEA TER TEA 4E
the PRC RRFRER
HE
ERMEHALR

Notes: FfdaE

1. Property ownership certificate for underground GFA is usually not 1. REPHEIHEEKENED - hTESL
available in accordance with the practice of PRC land administrative EENMEMEREEBETSEMN -
authorities.

2. This includes 4,470 sq.m. of underground GFA for which property 2. REIHMEBEEETOE@AMEDR
ownership certificate has been available according to the relevant BIE4,470F TR IR ST A B 3
property survey conducted by the land administrative authorities. TR -

3. The development of Block E is expected to be completed in two stages 3. EENRBEEESMENTRAEERT
with different construction completion dates. HHIERK °

4. The ancillary commercial properties in Dalian, namely Dalian 4. REREBERMEREBABERIL RLH

300

Fishermen’s Wharf, were not developed by us and were acquired by
us. As of 31 December 2014, the total GFA of the properties that had
been acquired by us was 12,671 sq.m. Therefore, the information
about its development is not relevant.

AEERE  MEEAfERE  RZ=%
—FE+=A=1+—H8  ~NEBRENZ
YIERREMBER12,671FHK - Al -
EIH AR A A BB R o
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